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DESIGN CONCEPT
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The design of this annual report mainly takes certain raw materials used
in beer brewing as the background with simple colours to highlight the
Group's vision of “brewing excellence” in terms of production quality,
supporting the premiumization development of the Group. By putting the
"Craftsmanship” bottled product, the newly-packaged “Snow Opera Mask”
canned product, together with the Heineken products in the middle of the
design, it showcases that both parties’ collaboration is unleashing its full
potential in their concerted effort to move towards premium.
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COMPANY PROFILE AND GROUP STRUCTURE
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China Resources

CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY
LIMITED

China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code:
00291), is a beer listed subsidiary company of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH"). The Group focuses on the
manufacturing, sales and distribution of beer products. China
Resources Snow Breweries Limited (“CRSB”) is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. In 2019, the Group has completed
the transaction and commenced the strategic partnership with the
Heineken Group.

As a member of China Resources Group, we are dedicated to
leading the business progress and building a better life together
with our consumers, shareholders, staff and business partners,
and make the Group a trusted and beloved beer enterprise.

(Holdings) Company Limited

100%*

100%*

AEARLT

Commotra Company Limited

FHAXARDT

Heineken Brouwerijen B.V.

China Resources Enterprise, Limited

| 60% |
|

40%

EHKE (BE) FIRAT

0.24% CRH (Beer) Limited
| 51.67%
ERE (i) FRAE
China Resources Beer
(Holdings) Company Limited
(291.HK)
100%
* HERA

Indirectly held

EHERRBEARLT

China Resources Snow

R=T—AF+=A=+—A
As at 31 December 2019

Breweries Limited
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MAJOR FIGURES IN 2019
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MAJOR EVENTS IN 2019

B KB

MAJOR STRATEGIES

A& E B Heineken R B EX TR S - #
PArEERBEERNEMAY BREDN
BE -

The Group has completed the transaction
with Heineken Group, which enabled the
Group to promote to a new high level on
its development of premium segments.

REBE BN L XK E
DA SN  ZEERRIFEETE -
RERK=ZFERNFEE KB -
B B

An internal strategy and business planning
meeting of the Group was held which
defined the Group’s new management
theme of “Quality Development for Success
in High-end Segment”, and pointed out
the focus of development through “new
idea and initiatives for new targets and
opportunities” in the next three years.

EXTREER

MAJOR CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS
AEERZHEEERARBRARITEES AR —PRENBEEEARESIERH T - FERLKNBOETIH -
The Group entered into a co-operation agreement with the Huaiyuan Government of Anhui Province for carrying
out relocation and phase one construction of the brewery in Bengbu with annual production capacity of 0.8mKL.

AEFERNTETRBRRISEERDGZ  RELANDARKI00R T ERIIE L 250 &t & T H&H
BB RERER -

The Group entered into a framework agreement with Shenzhen Bao‘an District for establishing headquarter
and building craft beer brewery with total investment of approximately RMB10 billion, aiming to drive the
development of the Greater Bay Area.

#8085 (32 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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// MAJOR EVENTS IN 2019

NERREATHEH <. )
NEW PRODUCTS AND MAJOR MARKETING ACTIVITIES \ 2
[ELFRBIEBED A ,REREER

RABEL] BBIME+HF+ME+

MEER IMAERE AR &

EBE7,0008 AR -

An event under the theme “Jiang Xin Lunar

New Year's Eve Dinner” was held to clearly

identify our brand proposition of “It's Jiang

Xin Time” and interact with about 70

million audience through four major social

media platforms: Wechat, TikTok, Weibo

and News Media.

EEEMAgEEIM2HA
2|55 BT e [ 5 /R HT 4% 8
I AEREBSE = #HHHZL
SMEM BERBEE(L B
WAL mum b ™5 - 5| B F
R EITEmaE =™
M.SPACE] 7 3t ittt & K & 28247 -
BIERW - B N mE e o

“SNOW MARRSGREEN BEER” and “Loéwen White Beer” were both launched. “SNOW MARRSGREEN BEER" is
the third core high-end beer product of the Group which targets young, trendy and high-end market and leads
new trends. A showcase called “M.SPACE” was held in The Place, Beijing aiming to convey our brand spirit of
modernity and creativity.

[EE R Esuperx| B EHMCER B HFE2) BB B -
VU601 M E - FREST ATk BB &0 o R 1 -
The Reality Show “Street Dance of China” Season 2,
title sponsored by “Brave the World superX” was
launched, with nearly six billion views, which continues
to fashion our challenging and cool brand.
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AWARDS AND RECOGNITION IN 2019

35N (THexEn) BE 58
Mar’ corporate Governance Asia May
2018 FEEM %
BEARBAR

Corporate Governance Asia
Recognition Awards 2018
e TMBEXERRE

Asia’s Icon on

Corporate Governance
2018 FERMERES
RBAE ﬁ
Corporate Director of the
Year Award 2018
e BZMEEES

Asian Corporate Director

BEABREEEERAELE
AL BREENE
Tsinghua SEM China Business
Research Center, National
Business Daily
20197 BB AR MR EEEETOP30
2019 Brand Value of China Listed
Liquor Companies TOP 30
o =M1

Ranked 3rd

BRQTEHNE - EER A EHE
National Business Daily, Chengdu
Economic Daily, Red Star News
PEEE SRR EEA
Golden Goblet Awards Ceremony
of China Liquor Industry
e HEVAHBEER - FHILR
BE & i |
Star product among China’s
alcoholic drinks — China Resources
Snow Breweries (Craftsmanship) |

MerComm, Inc.

Mercury Awards

o 2017F Fik - BEERE
HERAR - BR%
Annual Report 2017 — Overall
Presentation: Consumer Goods —
Honors Winner

o 2017F F I - HE R :
hEmRER - ERE
Annual Report 2017 — Cover Design:
Places/Products — Honors Winner

AR (zMET) sk
APr’ Yazhou Zhoukan
PEAELERBRT
BEATE
(2017 - 20185 &)
Mainland Chinese
Enterprises Listed in
Hong Kong (2017 -
2018)
s ZRATERMMBFE AL
The Largest Food and
Beverage Company Award

TLLEh

ERREEHEGS 6A CEEMERER) M

Hong Kong Investor Relations Jun Corporate Governance Asia

Association 2019FERHEHRAREAE

FHEBBREEMARAR Asian Excellence Recognition

HKIRA 5th Investor Relations Awards 2019

Awards  BERAEBELYE

s REREEMAELNR - KBK Best Investor Relations Company
s (IR Compey = [LaieR G2 « THREEERTEREERR)

s ZEREBEEME(DERS) Asia’s Best CEO (Investor Relations)
- RER ‘ o TDHEEEEMEEGREERE)
Best IR in Corporate Transaction Asia’s Best CFO (Investor Relations)
— Large Cap

s REREEMEASR

S (EI R E @ — A AR ) )
e BERAERRE - ALK Best Investor Relations Professional

Best Investor Meeting — Large Cap
o BREREEHENME - RAR
Best Investor Presentation Material
— Large Cap
o BEFR - ARRK
Best Annual Report — Large Cap
s RERELEMAEBRN - RERK
Best IR Team — Large Cap
s REREEWMR(BEHTE)
- KB R
Best IR by CEO — Large Cap
s BREREEBEEEVBE)
- KRR
Best IR by CFO — Large Cap
e BREREEMEES
- RERK
Best IRO — Large Cap

TR (miEeE) M
I Fortune China

RE5005E (%
Fortune China 500

o RFIFE274ML

— —p — Ranked 274th
s =
| ZEEETEHS
= = B Rl League of American
- . [+ — Communications Professionals
LLC (LACP)
O . . 20185 R
BEASERERBRHE LK 2018 Vision Awards Annual Report
Hoeel - 5 A E R Competition
Tsinghua SEM China Business o o " .
Research Center, National < HER - AR HRER
Bl QS8

Business Daily
20199 E L QB MR EERE

Chinese Listed Companies By
Brand Value 2019

Consumer Consumables — Food/
Beverage/Tobacco Category:
Platinum Award

o ZIRF 10038 — 4507
Ranked 45th in Top 100 Winners
Reports — Worldwide

o I AREFMS058 - 22
Ranked 22nd in Top 50 Winners
Reports — Asia-Pacific Region

o HIXF 8054
Top 80 Chinese Reports

s TABRKBRIERSE K
Most Creative Report in Asia-Pacific
Region

o /EFETOP100
Top 100

#8085 (32 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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Aug

(BIRESR) M
Institutional Investor
019FEEHNEARNERERHAE
2019 All-Asia Executive Team
survey
s RXBHEGEE—F

(LEBEBRITE)
Most Honored Company (first place)
(Consumer staples sector)

o BREREEMEIE-H
(BHBEHERITHE)
Best Investor Relations Program
(first place) (Consumer staples
sector)

s HZEGEABE—R
(BHBEHERITHE)
Best Corporate Governance (first
place) (Consumer staples sector)

o HERE HERER MY
EEREEEE—F
(BB HEHEBERITHE)
Best ESG SRI Metrics (first place)
(Consumer staples sector)

c BEERHITES B
(KT HBRITE)
Best CEO (first place)
(Consumer staples sector)

s HEARUBEE —A
(LEBEBRITE)
Best CFO (first place)
(Consumer staples sector)

s ZEREEMEABE -
(BEHERITHE)
Best Investor Relations Professional
(first place)
(Consumer staples sector)

s HZEREEBEABE-Z
(LEHERITHE)
Best Investor Relations Professional
(second place)
(Consumer staples sector)

MerComm, Inc.

EIBRARCEF R A 52

International Annual Report

Competition (ARC) Awards

o R HEEZUBHER : iF i
(REF:)
Beer/Wine/Spirits: Bronze Award
(Interior Design)

o BUERDIHAR  BEE
(EREH)
Manufacturing & Distributing
Category: Honors Award
(Traditional Annual Report)

9A
Sep

10AR
Oct

CE U R RR

AWARDS AND RECOGNITION IN 2019

(HBIREE) M

Institutional Investor
2019FEENEATEEER
2019 All-Asia Executive Team
s BEGENEER
Overall Best Corporate Governance
s RXEECE(MUTBHEMTHE)
Most Honored Company
(Consumer staples sector)

o FRIKME -HEERUBKE
Special Achievement — Best CFO

L
-t

S

IR Magazine

2019FIR MagazineZ 3} &

IR Magazine Global Awards 2019

e BREREEME - LFHER
Best in sector — consumer staples

(e ER)
The Mirror
FENERELELEFEER

The 8th Outstanding Corporate

Social Responsibility Award

o BHCEMEEMEE
Outstanding Corporate Social
Responsibility Award

@

Bl

MerComm, Inc.

BB Galaxy#2 18

International Galaxy Awards

o FH-ERAE HER
53 §H 1P 78 I 8 A%
Bronze Award for Annual Reports —
Print: Beer Manufacturing, Sales &
Distribution

o FIf - R R&G B REE
B8R %
Honors Award for Annual Reports
— Print: Food/Packaged Goods

128

Dec

—-F
i

IR Magazine
IR Magazine#€18 - 2019F A+
HE
IR Magazine Awards — Greater
China 2019
o REBBREFMWERNR(RELR)
Best overall investor relations (large cap)
e PEREREEMAERNR
Best in region: China
s REREEWRKRNE HER

Best in sector: Consumer

e BREREEMAEAERNE
(KRB 2%)
Best investor relations officer
(large cap)

(B —B) s
Economic Digest
2019F ERBAHEEKE
Hong Kong Outstanding
Enterprises Parade 2019

o BHEMGE ETHAE
Hong Kong Outstanding Enterprise Award
o EABERE

Excellence Award

(EXERE) M
CAPITAL WEEKLY
R EH K #2019
The Listed Enterprise Excellence
Awards 2019

o XERIAHE

Excellent Performance Award

— L 3R / Annual Report 2019
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AWARDS AND RECOGNITION IN 2019

EHERBEERQT

China Resources Snow Breweries Limited

[R5 08 ) 2 AR = W& 1T B A 58 B2 8 B
ERXETFBEXBEREI=F—N\F
ERERMES —FR]-

The “Research and Practice of Highly
Efficient Operation Technology for
Beer’s Packaging Line” was granted the
“Scientific and Technological Progress
Award (Second Prize) 2018” by China
Alcoholic Drinks Association.

HCPBEES)MGER  TRESHS
BE LETESEHBEHMSERNKE
AN ER & 5 2 IRBA0F - AEEHREH
TEEZEAERE T+ RmEEAE
A [BE X EsuperX| EmEAETRE
BEEEHIPEEERE] -

Mr. Hou Xiaohai, Chief Executive Officer
of the Group, was awarded the “Most
Influential People from the Top 10
Brands”, and the product (“Brave the
World superX”) was awarded the “Most
Influential Original Brands in China”,
in the 40th Anniversary Celebration
for Reform and Opening up and the
Reinstatement of Advertising Industry,
which was promoted by China Advertising
magazine and directed by China Advertising
Association, with joint support of Shanghai
Advertising Association.

AN SR Y 1| TR i 5 AR B R MR BT AR AR
RARREERTHPREERESR
MEHEBREAGPRE TIRRE
ErRESKBIET -

Liu Yousong and his team (from the can-
packaging department of our brewery
in Sichuan) were granted the title of
"Outstanding Team from State-Own
Enterprises (“SOEs”)” in the Award
Ceremony for Outstanding Teams and
Model Workers from SOEs held at the Great
Hall of the People in Beijing.

(EREERREGESNELCEEMZRILREEBRAMREEMIKERT
HEEHeRRNENELREERIFAEMB RN KR EETQIC-VE
R RE]-

The “Research and Application of Efficient Operation Technology for High-speed
Packaging Line of Canned Beer and Protection System on Product Diversification”
was granted the “Best QIC-V Award”, which was the top award in the
Fourth National Quality Innovation Competition organized by the China Quality
Association.

EFFTERAN=R—EFIASTIBEEELEFR T AL BERELE (Chinese
Society for Talent Development)E i M2 E BB RFXKELBE—HB]-
ARAIEFRAT EBFER ARNBERBAEETH (BHBEETRIFPX
PR RS A ERTHRE AT EIE2019F i Fl e ] -

The “Three Level Leaders” training program of CRSB was granted “1st Place
in Gold Award in the National Learning and Design Competition”
organized by Chinese Society for Talent Development. The project also won
the “Model Mechanism Award in the China Talent Management Event
2019", which was jointly organized by Beisen Research of Talent Management,
Business School of Renmin University of China and in strategic co-operation
with Harvard Business Review Chinese Edition.

1:& —F}Eﬂﬂﬁﬂrﬁ H—BEA dtqﬁmm i

HMERAMELSEBEEEWPPE FHHAATIEHK
A # /% [BrandZ 20195 BB E P B & I#1005& | BE 17
B RSB EETESE— o

WPP, a major global advertising and communications

group and Kantar, a consultancy company have jointly B

introduced “BrandZ: Top 100 Most Valuable Chinese

Brands 2019”. The Group topped the list in the o

category of beer industry. Q oy
S i

2B T 78 188 88 % A Chnbrand (R ) ME MR ETBV2Z H M EE
BEEAR] [C-CSIEFERMAMMINTALL-STARZHE M| K% -

CRSB won the honors of “China Total Brand Value Management Grand
Awards”, “China Customer Satisfaction Index Customers’ (C-CSI) Most
Satisfying Brand” and “The Brand of ALL-STAR” organized by Chnbrand.

HCFSTRMEESHRMN2019FRFTAEASETRULES L TR
I RET -  EEEEEERENROIFEREHETEERINIPE
REmEEHEETLRE]-

The “2019 Global Business Conference and China Finance Summit Winter Forum”
conducted by China Finance Summit took place in Beijing, where CRSB won the
honor of “Most Socially Responsible Award 2019” and “Gold Award in
Social Responsibility in Chinese Food Companies”.

#8085 (32 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited



ERHSERARERC(RHFHEETRITX
MREEAEHI2019F EIYUEB B | TR IR & -
CRSB won special award in the “Young,
Useful, Effective (YUE) Management
2019” organized by the Harvard Business
Review Chinese Edition.

EHRAREMEEERTERBERREERE
BB mEEE RN EEEEREEE
['HP Bl i b8 R K 28 NO.L1 (R8T 1T 26) 17 5 AN
[PEBE+AEEIREE—R] [ELE
EERKREPERBEFERRRBEHK
®]-

The World Brand Lab, a large global consulting
institute of brand valuation, introduced the
Chinese Brand Annual Award, where CRSB won
the title of “Chinese Brand Annual Award
No.1 in Beer Industry” and got the “First
Place in the Top 10 Most Influential Chinese
Beer Brands”, whilst the “Craftsmanship”
products won *“Best Brand Marketing
Award".

[ 0% 5 | 72 dn 58 78 R o B (2 R PR 5 Bk B
HEGEH THEMBEIERHATRE
REFESRZPERBESHRPL - FEh
RE(QER)XEERBRARB A& - F
B 2 175 & 5 & 1) CBC [ B [ 12 )G bk B &
[ZEXBgR(£%])]-

The “Craftsmanship” products were awarded
“Tian Lu Award Gold Prize (3 Stars
Award)” in the China International Beer
Challenge which was organized by China
International Beer Challenge Organizing
Committee, directed by China Alcoholic
Drinks Association and jointly hosted by
China National Research Institute of Food and
Fermentation Industries, International Joint
Research Center of Quality and Safety of
Alcoholic Beverages, and Huaya Sky (Beijing)
Cultural Development Co., Ltd.

R U RHELRE
AWARDS AND RECOGNITION IN 2019

[BRE X EsuperX CER B HHEDROIKEREHAEREXEHEBCIE
YA M SERERMEY B AEEARNRENRISY - HEH
ARRERBEEHTO] -

The marketing campaign of “Street Dance of China” Season 2 with its title
sponsor “Brave the World superX” won the “Kotlere New Marketing Model
Platform Award - Outstanding Marketing Case”, introduced by New
Marketing Magazine, a leading media of marketing, along with Kotler Marketing
Group, global consulting firm on marketing strategy.

BEIBER R EsuperxiTREHEIPEHE 2B RMTRENRKZ S IE
M.SPACE JE & M8 B 11 % Bl | IR E & S R B - B S IEREH R KR
(RINEH) S HEENFERMEHTERGR - RARNSE | H
[FERAINMEHTERNR - ERNSTEHFHE]-

CRSB won the “Gold Prize in the Annual Innovative Marketing Case
in Food and Beverage” and “Bronze Prize in the Annual Innovative
Marketing Case in Dining and Retail” awarded by V Marketing magazine,
thanks to the two marketing campaigns: “Connecting Street Dance with Brave
the World superX Marketing Guide” and “Redefine the Modern Trend of beer
with M.SPACE of Snow".

[S1EHE M T80 | & MRt SR ETBEKFIA” Design Award iR 5832 | -
THRERSIIBERESHTREIRERFEHZELAE] -
“"SNOW MARRSGREEN BEER” won the bronze prize in the "A" Design
Award” and was granted the “Top Innovative Marketing Impact
Award” at AD STARS in Busan, Korea.

[BWMBEME|EmRtREREEERRER
AAFBEENIEREFEBIFRTR] R
KFA’ Design Awardz& st £ 48 1: 2019 CBC
B R EE kR E— B RRR ()] -
The product design of “Léwen White Beer”
won the “iF Product Design Award” by iF
International Forum Design GmbH, “A’ Design
Award Gold Prize” and China International
Beer Challenge 2019 “Tian Lu Award Bronze
Prize (1 Star Award)".

—ZT— A% F3R / Annual Report 2019
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

HEZZ—NAF+=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

—E 3. BREARBERR
TURNOVER BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS
(AR E &7 RMB million) PER SHARE
(AR RMB)
2019 2019
33,190 0.40
g ALl
] & 4
|| | || |
31,867 03
29,732
AL T 1 KRG AN |
i 1 \ i 3 \
'I|“| l||“| l||||| |||| |
||' LN (S dl[§ | ||'- TN/ (L] Tl
2018 2017 2018 2017
—E-NF —E-N\F —E—+F
2019 2018 2017
ARBEBETR AREBETT AREBEBET
RMB million RMB million RMB million
B Turnover 33,190 31,867 29,732
RNATIRFEEME N Profit attributable to shareholders
of the Company 1,312 977 1,175
SREARBEAF  Basic and diluted earnings per share RMB0.40 RMBO0.30 RMBO0.36
FRER S Dividend per share
- H - interim RMBO.120 RMBO0.09 RMBO0.07
- R HA - final RMB0.045 RMBO0.03 RMBO0.07
RMBO0.165 RMBO0.12 RMBO.14

#8085 (32 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

RZZT—NF+=ZH=+—H As at 31 December 2019

ARTREREILRERS BREESRE : REAE
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO NET ASSETS PER SHARE:
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY BOOK VALUE =
(AR¥EET RMB million) (AEH RMB) %
g
2019 2019 §
19.670 6.06
el AL
JToN JN :
i il |
18,848 | 5.8
al I " 118,'4241'| [ Il" 5768 'l g
\ 0 | { \ A
2N i SN
I[1T: [ VAl Ti'| |[1T T/ ([T Ti'|
2018 2017 2018 2017

+=A=+—H :HE+ +ZR=+—H n
As at As at As at 2
31 December 31 December 31 December 5
2019 2018 2017 g
AREBER AREBBET AREBER g
RMB million RMB million RMB million z
RABIREEIEZ  Equity attributable to shareholders
of the Company 19,670 18,848 18,421
JEIE G R R A Non-controlling interests 57 62 64
B Total equity 19,727 18,910 18,485 @
BEBRE,/ (BF)FHE Consolidated net cash/(borrowings) 1,897 1,212 (1,030)
BELE Gearing ratio’ BH£Net Cash FI £ Net Cash 5.6% =
MEN L & Current ratio 0.49 0.46 0.49 z
BREEFE: Net assets per share: z
- RHEE - book value RMB6.06 RMB5.81 RMB5.68 >
B 2 Note: =
1. BELEEGEERFEEAESOLD - 1. Gearing ratio represents the ratio of consolidated net borrowings to total equity.

= — W F R / Annual Report 2019 13
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B 58 B % Rl M B B BE B i 4 A 4y B
ANALYSIS OF TURNOVER AND EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST AND TAXATION

HE_Z—-NF+ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

BoMZERBENTL

Turnover proportion by segment

2019 2018

. RE Eastern region . & Central region . & Southern region

BABZARFANERBERMBF G

Earnings before interest and taxation proportion by segment

2019 2018

. HE Eastern region . & Central region . FBE Southern region

#8085 (32 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited



B R BB AR w8 B BE I 2 A 4y by %
ANALYSIS OF TURNOVER AND EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST AND TAXATION

HEZ_Z—-NF+ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

—E-NE —E-NFE  #EmnS (R
2019 2018 Increased/
AREBEER ARERE T (Decreased)
BoMzEXE Turnover by segment RMB million RMB million %
RE Eastern region 17,278 16,065 7.6%
f &= Central region 8,490 7,860 8.0%
Bl Southern region 8,466 8,867 (4.5%)
34,234 32,792 4.4%

HiEHDHBR2RS Elimination of inter-segment
transactions (1,044) (925) 12.9%
B Total 33,190 31,867 4.2%
—E-NE —T-)\F #m,/ CR )
2019 2018 Increased
EPEM2 KR FER  Earnings before interest and ARBEBEETR ARBEEHEETL (Decreased)
HIERMZER taxation by segment RMB million RMB million %
RE Eastern region 1,007 199 406.0%
H Central region 598 396 51.0%
1 Southern region 714 1,003 (28.8%)
2,319 1,598 45.1%
NEBHER Net corporate expenses (156) (133) 17.3%
B Total 2,163 1,465 47.6%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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133,190,000 00071 f T N\EHE
4.2% ° ARBR_F —NFHBRREN

,némﬂ&*uﬁuQ&WEH\JE%\J "=
Z—NFEDR| EF343%N476%E NREE
1,312,000,0007t & A R #2,163,000,000
ﬁ o

REBEFER  FERLEERFEE  HE
FRTEE AEBBEERHEER
—N\F L F1.3%ZE #911,434,000F F+ » &
WBITENKFERL -

REBEFEN  X@midmheE B e
[ETESnow] EmEHBE—FPRA ML
WBENHhENEE FeiEEREHEE
B-E - \FIER8.8% * [FEE T
EERR T —N\FLFA2.8% ° AFF ' &K
EEETHEREBLCRABBEMSTR
MR ERAMETDERBE NP EHE
P& ey 8 & ak &K - LA R 385 R # R AR
REFR - #BZENERERAZ  —F—N4F
HNEMNBE_ZE—NFLEAI2%E AR
12,226,000,0007T °

AEBER_-F
TE TER

—NEXKEENFHL
HERDHERR =T —
NFLEFA64% - REBREBEFE AL
BHETERELCREABBRE 22—
FHENEIRERLZBEERANARE
826,000,000 (= ZE —NF:H AR
483,000,0007T) c M =& — \F — k&
ARZIZE-EEFENFERARE
117,000,000 T) F1 & & & ERE T % - &
HTEBITHERLZEBAMKEBE IHEH
FralBmEREm  —E—F— K&
BERE-_ZT—\FRHEFF -

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The consolidated turnover of the Group in 2019 was
RMB33,190,000,000. This represents an increase of 4.2%
compared with 2018. The Group’s consolidated profit attributable
to the Company’'s shareholders and earnings before interest
and taxation in 2019 increased by 34.3% and 47.6% to
RMB1,312,000,000 and RMB2,163,000,000 respectively, compared
with 2018.

During the year under review, China’s economy maintained growth
and the market consumption continued to upgrade. The Group's
overall beer sales volume outperformed the market, delivering a
1.3% growth compared with 2018, to approximately 11,434,000
kiloliters.

During the year under review, the Group implemented its brand
repositioning strategy and further boosted the product mix
upgrade of the “Z 7€ Snow” beer products, in addition to the
acquisition of Heineken China. As a result, the Group recorded an
increase of 8.8% in mid- to high-end beer sales volume compared
with 2018, which led to the increase in average selling price by
2.8% compared with 2018. Meanwhile, the Group saved certain
cost of sales from efficiency gain brought by its production
capacity optimization and organizational restructuring, offset the
increase in cost after the acquisition of Heineken China and the
rising cost of certain raw materials. Due to the above mentioned
factors, the gross profit in 2019 recorded a year-on-year increase
of 9.2% to RMB12,226,000,000.

In 2019, the Group's acquisition of Heineken China resulted in
an increase of 6.4% in overall selling and distribution expenses
compared with 2018. During the year under review, the Group
continued to implement its production capacity optimization
and organizational restructuring, the staff compensation and
resettlement expenses was approximately RMB826,000,000 in
2019 (2018: approximately RMB483,000,000). The one-off annuity
provision of its staff cost that the Group accrued for 2017 in 2018
(approximately RMB117,000,000) and the reduction in impairment
loss of fixed assets recognized, offset the increased costs driven
by the staff compensation and resettlement expenses along
with the acquisition of Heineken China, as a result, general and
administrative expenses for 2019 remained broadly stable over
2018.

#8085 (32 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited



AEBFZBELYEERES  BRolEENS
REGIN 5D }DJUEA—T NFEMAMEA
MERTISEERET&ZEGE M BB
EIMREnFER BEE_F—N\Fi
EEENIEOCEEIMPENLENER
KEsuperx| fiEm - E—FZHHEIE
EOREEER o A [SIEFREATAE
BIBBIFHERE+REAKE] K
ERCHT G BT o thAh 0 [BE K E superX]
MIENEE | SERBIP(CHERE  BEIR
AR R -t AZEEISIE Snowl kg
MEBERKEARBRTREHTRAE T -
EEBMNEEETE  E—FEMETFEL
mimEE RN YHERTaRRE
EA1E IR EHER MBS 2NE
EIEE -

—E-NFERRNETEERENLTE
BE D R A A R#700,000,0007T & AR
#£352,000,0007T + £ AEEFEH
BEBILESRME  ARERESR =57
EETIBOFHRE  REEFEASE
IEEETREHER RN —NFFK -

REBEFRA25MEE ™ BEE74
] M OF B - 4F EE B8 #920,500,000F Ft ©

SR LB - WEE NP EIR
ﬁ%x%amfy —NEFWUA=Z+hA®
(32 E| + Heineken 7 13 5T 7] 1 & FIAE 28 E%
FNMERABRERER - LEHEHES
W%Eﬁ%lhﬁ&¢lﬁmﬁﬁm%
BEN—FEESMEHMENESE - AE
EREEFENEETKNEIFHESGME
NERHMERHEETE -

PG w52y B
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group continued with its product portfolio diversification. In
addition to the introduction of Heineken beer products, the Group
launched two series of high-end beer products in 2019, “SNOW
MARRSGREEN BEER” and “Léwen White Beer”, respectively
in April and July, in conjunction with high-end beer product
“Craftsmanship” and mid- to high-end beer product “Brave the
World superX” that launched in 2018, further supporting the
growth of mid- to high-end beer sales volume. In particular,
“SNOW MARRSGREEN BEER” was successfully launched through
the strategy of “trendy product launch activity + spokesperson
promotion”. Furthermore, the Group continued to promote “Brave
the World superX” and “Craftsmanship” products through IP-
based promotion, to enhance the brand image, as well as elevate
the brand value and bring dynamics to create new feature of
the "= & Snow”. In terms of internet sales channels, it further
promoted WeChat online-fans mini-programme sales channel,
together with the strategic co-operation with JD.com, an
e-commerce platform, to provide specialized products and jointly
organize online activities.

The recognized impairment loss of fixed assets and inventory for
2019 were RMB700,000,000 and RMB352,000,000 respectively.
In particular, the Group continued to optimize its deployment
of production capacity by removing the inefficient production
capacity and increasing the average scale of the breweries. During
the year under review, 7 breweries ceased operations. By the
end of 2019, the Group operated 74 breweries in 25 provinces,
municipalities and autonomous regions in mainland China, with
an aggregate annual production capacity of approximately
20,500,000 kiloliters.

In terms of executing the premiumization strategies, the
acquisition of Heineken China was completed on 29 April 2019,
whilst the Heineken trademark licensing agreement and framework
agreement became effective on the same date. This long-
term strategic collaboration will provide an important strategic
opportunity for the Group to strengthen its presence in the
premium beer market in China. During the year under review, the
Group completed the integration of Heineken China and set up
nationwide sales for Heineken beer products.

= — W F R / Annual Report 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BT NFRETEL26%K42% °

NREBBUANRE S E8 %R B
BIERE - EEHGENL  SNEE 2
BEEE . HeEE HARASRER
W REBBIT RS S EE - A
E B4 B LB B HeinekenEE B B K B 8
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NS R EAABA - IO SRR 0
EEREREEE  BEF S REE
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B 7 [E]

EehmE
R-ZE—-—NAE+-_A=+—HB K&
ENGAREeRBETEFEEARE
2,408,000,0007C - AEER =T —NF+
ZA=T—H®HEEAARKS511,000,000
T WER—FREE -

AEBER-_ZE-NF+_A=1T—HER
“E-)N\F+A=+T—-BHBEFREMN
;H/ o

Since the outbreak of COVID-19 in China in early 2020, provincial
and municipal governments implemented various prevention and
emergency measures, such as a partial lockdown policy and
extending the holiday period of Chinese New Year, in order to
mitigate the threat of spreading the epidemic across the country.
During the outbreak of the epidemic, the Group gradually
resumed operation and production by allowing staff to work in
remote offices and implementing work shifts, in adherence to the
approval of the provincial and municipal governments, so as to
prepare for a swift return to normal operation and production
once the epidemic eases. Nevertheless, it is anticipated that the
above epidemic situation would have certain negative impact on
the production and sales of the Group. The Group’s unaudited
consolidated turnover and earnings before interest and taxation
for the two months ended 29 February 2020 decreased by
approximately 26% and 42% year-on-year respectively.

The Group upholds its strategic management philosophy of
“Quality Development for Success in High-end Segment”, and
will carry out various high-quality growth measures, such as
production capacity optimization, excel in brewing, operational
reform, use of intelligential information, and information sharing
and co-creation, whilst actively implementing measures for
developing high-end segment. With the long-term strategic co-
operation with the Heineken Group, the Group will strengthen the
competitiveness of its brands in high-end segment and explore
new sales channel for its high-end beer products. At the same
time, the Group will enhance its competitiveness in first tier
cities through measures such as building competent professional
teams specified for high-end segment, brand portfolio with 4
Chinese brands + 4 International brands, obtaining leading edge
for its business, expanding sales channels, implementing operation
mechanisms for major customers etc.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
CAPITAL AND FUNDING

As at 31 December 2019, the Group's consolidated cash and
bank deposits amounted to RMB2,408,000,000. The Group's
borrowings as at 31 December 2019 were RMB511,000,000 and
were repayable within 1 year.

The Group was in a net cash position as at 31 December 2019
and 31 December 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group’s principal assets, liabilities, revenue and payments
are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and US dollars.
As at 31 December 2019, 6.0% of the Group’s cash and bank
deposit balance was held in Hong Kong dollars, 84.7% in
Renminbi and 9.3% in US dollars; whereas 99.9% of the Group's
borrowings was denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The Group's
borrowings are principally on a floating rate basis.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s current liabilities and
current ratio were RMB19,856,000,000 and 0.49, respectively. The
current liabilities included receipts in advance on sales and contract
liabilities on promotion and marketing expenses, majority of these
amounts would be offset by trade receivables or be realized
through sale discounts in the future, with no significant net
cash outflow in short run. Taking into account the gearing ratio,
historical and expected future cash flows from operations and
unutilized available banking facilities of the Group, management
expected the Group has adequate resources to meet its liabilities
and commitment as and when they fall due and to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2019, assets with a carrying value of
RMB68,000,000 (31 December 2018: RMB67,000,000) were
pledged for notes payable.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at
31 December 2019.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had a staff size of around
30,000, amongst which more than 99% were employed in the
Mainland China, whilst the rest were mainly in Hong Kong.
Remuneration packages are assessed in accordance with the
nature of job duties, individual performance and market trends
with built-in merit components, paid in the form of cash bonuses.

By order of the Board
JIAN YI
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 20 March 2020
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GEOGRAPHICAL DISTRIBUTION OF THE GROUP’S BREWERIES

R-ZZF—AFE+=H=+—H As at 31 December 2019

] Provinces/Cities BRE&E Provinces/Cities 88 4=

No. of : No. of

breweries breweries
1. BEI Heilongjiang 3 13, AL Zhejiang 6
2. R Jilin 2 14. fRE Fujian 1
3. g Liaoning 9 5. BE®R Guangdong 4
4. X E Tianjin 1 16. M Hunan 3
5. A4k Hebei 2 7. &M Guizhou 3
6. i) Shanxi 2 18. gl Sichuan 9
7. = Shandong 3 19. 7 Tibet 1
8. T 2% Jiangsu 5 200 HER Gansu 1
9. ey Shanghai 1 21. NEH Inner Mongolia 2
10. ZH# Anhui 6 2. =B Ningxia 1
11. R Henan 3 23. prmA Shaanxi 1
12. i Hubei 3 24, EWR Guangxi 1
25.  BE Hainan 1

FERE

ANNUAL

PRODUCTION

CAPACITY

20'500'000 kl (¥}|_) TOTAL NUMBER OF
(REfEE L B A SR E R T B R T ) BREWERIES IN

OPERATION

(Excluding those breweries ceased operation and
determined by management to be closed)
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group highly values investor relations management, actively
engaging and communicating with shareholders and investors via
different channels. The Group strives to maintain quality corporate
governance and a high level of transparency, ensuring that the
capital market is well informed about its latest developments and
future plans in a timely manner. The Group listens to and considers
the valuable opinions and suggestions from its shareholders and
investors, in order to further enhance operating performance,
create more business development opportunities and provide
better returns for shareholders.

In 2019, the Group commenced the strategic partnership with
the Heineken Group. The Group remained in close contact with
institutional investors, analysts and potential investors through
a variety of channels. Apart from the activities surrounding
the results announcements, frequent one-on-one meetings and
conference calls were conducted. All of these helped the Group
stay connected with close to 1,600 fund managers and analysts
via more than 250 meetings.

The achievements of the Group in corporate governance and
investor relations were once again recognized by the industry.
In 2019, the Group earned various authoritative awards from
various reputable institutions. These included “Most Honored
Company (first place)” in the consumer staples sectors in Asia
from Institutional Investor; “Best overall investor relations (large
cap)” and “Best in region: China” in Greater China regions from
IR Magazine; “Asia’s Icon on Corporate Governance” and “Best
Investor Relations Company” from Corporate Governance Asia;
“Best IR Company”, “Best IR in Corporate Transaction” and “Best
IR Team” from the Hong Kong Investor Relations Association, etc.
Furthermore, the Company was again commended by MerComm,
Inc. for the high quality of its annual reports, and was awarded
in the “International Annual Report Competition (ARC) Awards”
and “International Galaxy Awards” competition, etc. Looking to
the future, the Group will maintain its momentum in enhancing
shareholder value and promoting the healthy development of the
Group.
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ARFH-F-AECF-NAFNFRRHTERTE
YEAR-END CLOSING PRICE AND MARKET CAPITALIZATION OF THE COMPANY FOR
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AH-F-AEFE_F-NFHNERBIREBRERE

EARNINGS AND DIVIDEND PER SHARE OF THE COMPANY FOR 2015-2019

2019

2018

2017

2016

2015’

0.40
0.165
0.30
0.12
0.36
0.14
0.223
0.08
10.08 (HK$12.30)
L | | 1 | | |
-2 0 2 4 6 8 10 12
(AR TTRVB)
. BRET (BEEAEEHREEIFZ R E - RERAFRIR S ARF
DEE/TREXE) Total of interim, final and special
Earnings per share (including the effect dividend per share
of asset revaluation and major disposal
of non-core assets/investment)
Notes:
AEEBR-TE—RAFNA—RALEEFEEE 1. The Group disposed of its non-beer businesses on 1 September 2015.
%7 -
BT -—R"FHREAETH - 2. Adjusted upon rights issue in 2016.
EREARBRZZ—XR"F+AT—BTKKEE 3. Since the Company completed the acquisition of 49% stake in CRSB on
FERHEHER%RE  — T "FHERE 11 October 2016, basic and diluted earnings per share for the year was
ARBERBFRREARNADEWHEATEFED calculated according to the Company’s shareholdings before and after the
% 4 tE 5] (U BB BT51% R U BB 18100%) 51 & - acquisition (51% before acquisition and 100% after the acquisition).
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

SHARE PERFORMANCE

Global stock market fluctuated in 2019. The Company’s closing
share price as of 31 December 2019 was HK$43.10 increased by
57.6% year-on-year, which performed better than the Hang Seng
Index for the year. In 2019, the Company’s market capitalization
increased by more than HK$50 billion to HK$139.824 billion at
the end of 2019.

DIVIDEND PAYOUT RATIO

The Group is committed to creating and enhancing the value of
the Company, as well as achieving long-term sustainable growth
and profitability in recognition of the unwavering support of
its shareholders. According to the dividend policy, the annual
dividend to be distributed by the Company to the shareholders
shall be no less than 20% of the Group’s profit attributable to
shareholders in any financial year under normal circumstances.
In proposing any dividend payout, the board of directors shall
also take into account the Group’s actual and expected financial
performance, shareholders’ interest, general business conditions
and strategies, the Group’s expected working capital requirements
and future expansion plans, possible effects on the Group’s
creditworthiness, general economic conditions, business cycle of
the Group’s businesses and other internal or external factors that
may have an impact on the business or financial performance
and position of the Company, and other factors that the board
of directors deems appropriate.

The total dividend of the Company reached RMBO0.165 per share,
with a dividend payout ratio of 41% in 2019. Moving forward,
the Company will make every effort to maintain a respectable
dividend payout level while preserving its healthy financial position
to foster the sustainable growth of its business.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

HITES
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

BHhE Beam+ =%
Mr. Jian Yi Aged 43

R-FB-N\FLABZERARARTER - WR_FT—/\FHAEZ{T
REBAZEARAPANEZENERUTE ANR_F-N\F+-AEZE
RERKEMB)BRAFTNES  AR/ARRERERR - MR SEH
hEERAAERKFFMFEB)BERARNESR  EHHREHBR
HER)BERARES  UARIIARTENEBRENBRAFNEESRK
(EEMRNEBESFXZMEN) BEEGETERENZERAR QA (K
BRONEEBAERSGMARIBDEIR LT SRBEHREDREE(EEH)
ERARAKE BAER-_SZTLENMAEEEE A ERHBRH
MERTIESZR RECXEENERNELEBHE T - HEERE
ERARBEREL  XBBEIRKBEREE R -

Mr. Jian has been appointed as Executive Director of the Company in July
2018. He was appointed as Director and Chief Executive Officer of China
Resources Enterprise, Limited in May 2018, and also a Director of CRH (Beer)
Limited in November 2018, both of which are controlling shareholders of
the Company. He is Chairman of China Resources Ng Fung Limited and
Pacific Coffee (Holdings) Limited, Director of China Resources C'estbon
Kirin Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited, as well as Vice Chairman of
Shanxi Xinghuacun Fen Wine Factory Co., Ltd. (whose shares are listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange). He served as Senior Vice President of China
Resources Power Holdings Company Limited (whose shares are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) and General
Manager of China Resources Coal (Group) Co., Ltd. Mr. Jian joined China
Resources Group in 2007. He previously worked in China Europe International
Business School (CEIBS), responsible for corporate leadership development
and management education. Mr. Jian holds a Bachelor of Laws, a Master of
Laws and a minor degree in Economics from Peking University.
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BREBRE BER %
Mr. Hou Xiaohai Aged 51

RZB-ARFUARZERARRARATEEFREREATE - TR_F—N
FHABRZERERHANXARAANES YR _FT-NFLAREZER
EFHEEREARAANES  ARARIEREER - BRR_T—KRF
CTARZERERSEEE(TE)ERARAKE  RR-2FFT—F1+=
AE_SZLHF+ _ANHETZRAANHERRAERMISRAE - &
RECE-N\FNARZERUARENAERRNDBERARNEERBBEE
BEE@MZE  ZAFARLBERXZMLEN BHAR_TFAF-AZE
E-RNF_ARFEEESEQBEFBRBERRTDEMND ARAKLE KRR
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has been appointed as Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company in April 2016. He was appointed as Director of China Resources
Enterprise, Limited in May 2018, and also a Director of CRH (Beer) Limited
in May 2019, both of which are controlling shareholders of the Company.
He was appointed as general manager of China Resources Snow Breweries
(China) Co., Ltd. in March 2016 and was the Director of its sales and
marketing departments from December 2001 to December 2007. He has
been appointed as a Director and a member of strategy committee of Shanxi
Xinghuacun Fen Wine Factory Co., Ltd., which is a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange, in September 2018. He was appointed as general
manager and assistant general manager (also a general manager of its
distribution headquarter) of the branch of China Resources Snow Breweries
(China) Co., Ltd. in Guizhou Province and a general manager of its branch
in Sichuan Province from January 2009 to February 2016. Mr. Hou has a
Bachelor of Statistics Degree from the People’s University of China. He has
previously worked in Shougang Corporation, Gallup Poll and Pepsico. Mr. Hou
joined China Resources Group in 2001.
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Mr. Lai Po Sing, Tomakin
Aged 53
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has been appointed as an Executive Director, the Chief Financial Officer and the
Company Secretary of the Company in June 2016. He was appointed as the Finance
Director of the Company in June 2014. He was previously the Audit Director of
the Company. He joined the Company in September 2008. He is currently the Vice
President, the Chief Financial Officer and the Company Secretary of China Resources
Enterprise, Limited. He is also the Non-executive Director of Scales Corporation Limited
which is a company listed on the New Zealand Stock Exchange, and the Non-executive
Director of New Zealand King Salmon Investments Limited which is a company listed on
the New Zealand Stock Exchange and the Australian Securities Exchange, respectively.
Prior to joining the Group, he had worked for international accounting firms in Hong
Kong, and also acted as the financial controller and company secretary of Zhong
An Real Estate Limited, China Oriental Group Company Limited and Hon Po Group
(Lobster King) Limited (now known as China Energy Development Holdings Limited),
which are listed companies on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Mr. Lai has extensive experience in internal and external auditing, finance and
accounting, merger & acquisition, regulatory and compliance and company secretarial
matters. Mr. Lai holds a Bachelor's degree in Business Administration from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong and a Master of Business Administration degree from the
University of Manchester, UK. He is a Fellow Certified Public Accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England & Wales. He is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators in the UK and of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries.
He is a Certified Internal Auditor and holds a Certificate in Risk Management Assurance
conferred by the Institute of Internal Auditors. He is also a Certified Information
Systems Auditor of ISACA.
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Mr. Lai Ni Hium, Frank
Aged 58
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has been re-designated from an Executive Director to a Non-executive
Director of the Company since June 2016. He was an Executive Director and
the Chief Financial Officer of the Company between June 2009 and May
2016, and the Company Secretary between August 2009 and May 2016.
Mr. Lai was previously the Executive Director, Non-executive Director, Chief
Financial Officer and Company Secretary of China Resources Microelectronics
Limited. Prior to that, he served as the Chief Financial Officer of Eagle Brand
Holdings Ltd. (now known as Nam Cheong Limited), which is a company
listed on the Singapore Exchange and before then, he served as the Executive
Director and Chief Executive Officer of Logic International Holdings Ltd. (now
known as China Resources Gas Group Limited). He was appointed as Executive
Director and Deputy Chief Executive Officer of Dah Chong Hong Holdings
Limited, which is a CITIC Limited company, in June 2016 and became its Chief
Executive Officer in March 2017. Mr. Lai obtained a Bachelor of Commerce
degree from the University of Western Australia and a Graduate Diploma
in Business and Administration from the Curtin University of Technology of
Western Australia. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a fellow member of CPA Australia.
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Rudolf Gijsbert Servaas van
den Brink &4 B4 m+ 5%
Mr. Rudolf Gijsbert Servaas
van den Brink Aged 46
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has been appointed as a Non-executive Director in April 2019. He is a
Director on the board of United Breweries Limited, a company listed on
the BSE Limited (formerly Bombay Stock Exchange Limited) and National
Stock Exchange of India Limited. Mr. van den Brink is also a Director on the
boards of CRH (Beer) Limited, the controlling shareholder of the Company,
and China Resources Snow Breweries Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company. Mr. van den Brink is nominated to succeed Mr. Jean-Francois
van Boxmeer as Chairman of the Executive Board and CEO of Heineken N.V.
from 1 June 2020. He has been appointed as President of Heineken APAC
since October 2018 and is a member of the Executive Team of Heineken
N.V.. Mr. van den Brink served as the Managing Director of Heineken Mexico
(Cuauhtémoc Moctezuma) in Monterrey, Mexico from August 2015 to
September 2018 and was the Managing Director for Heineken USA in New
York, USA from October 2009 to July 2015. From June 1999 to September
2009, he successively served as a Senior Brand Manager (Pepsi & 7UP) and
Trade Marketing Manager for Vrumona (part of the Heineken Group) in
Bunnik, the Netherlands, the International Channel Development Manager for
Heineken Global Commerce, Amsterdam, and the Commercial Director for
Bralima S.A.R.L. (part of the Heineken Group) in the Democratic Republic of
Congo. Mr. van den Brink holds a Master of Arts degree in Philosophy and
a Master of Science degree in Business Administration from University of
Groningen, the Netherlands, and also completed the Advanced Management
Program at Wharton, University of Pennsylvania, USA in 2009.
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has been appointed as Non-executive Director of the Company since July
2019. Mr. Tuen-Muk currently serves as the Assistant General Manager of
the Finance Department of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited,
in areas including corporate finance, treasury management, integrated
management and management accounting. He previously worked in the
Financial Management Centre of China Resources Enterprise, Limited. He
mARBERE REMTAR has also worked in commercial banks as well as Chinese and multi-national
Mr. Tuen-Muk Lai Shu corporations, and has over 20 years of experience in corporate finance and
Aged 46 treasury management. Mr. Tuen-Muk obtained a Bachelor of Finance degree
from the University of Hong Kong in 1997 and a Masters of Finance degree
from the City University of Hong Kong in 2004. He is also a Chartered
Financial Analyst. Mr. Tuen-Muk joined China Resources Group in 2009.
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has been a Director of the Company since 1988. He was a Director and Chairman of
Sino Resources and Energy Holdings Limited, Sino Petrochem Development Limited,
Sino Mining Investments Limited and a Director of China & Overseas Resources Limited.
Mr. Houang obtained his Bachelor of Business Studies degree from the Polytechnic of
North Staffordshire, United Kingdom.

BERELRE B t75
Mr. Houang Tai Ninh
Aged 66
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Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric
FHKICPA, GBS, OBE, JP, aged 66
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Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses
GBM, GBS, OBE, JP, aged 70
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has been a Director of the Company since March 2003. He is Honorary
Chairman of SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited and member of the Thirteenth
National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference.
Dr. Li was the Senior Partner of Li, Tang, Chen & Co., Certified Public
Accountants (Practising) and former member of the Legislative Council of
the Hong Kong SAR. He holds directorships in a number of listed companies
including Sun Hung Kai Properties Limited, Hang Seng Bank Limited, SmarTone
Telecommunications Holdings Limited, Transport International Holdings
Limited and Wong's International Holdings Limited. Dr. Li was a Director of
RoadShow Holdings Limited.
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has been a Director of the Company since November 2005. Dr. Cheng is a
practicing solicitor and a consultant of Messrs. P.C. Woo & Co. after serving
as its senior partner from 1994 to 2015. Dr. Cheng was a member of the
Legislative Council of Hong Kong. He is the founder chairman of the Hong
Kong Institute of Directors of which he is now the Honorary President and
Chairman Emeritus. He is now also serving as chairman of the Insurance
Authority. Dr. Cheng currently holds directorships in K. Wah International
Holdings Limited, China Mobile Limited, Towngas China Company Limited,
Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited, Guangdong Investment Limited, Tian
An China Investments Company Limited and The Hong Kong and China Gas
Company Limited, all being listed companies in Hong Kong. He was a Non-
executive Director of Kader Holdings Company Limited and an Independent
Non-executive Director of ARA Asset Management Limited, a company whose
shares were formerly listed on the Singapore Exchange.
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Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan
GBS, JP, aged 55
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Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon
GBS, CBE, JP, aged 74
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has been a Director of the Company since November 2006. He is the
Executive Director and President of Asia Financial Holdings Limited (being a
listed company in Hong Kong) and Asia Insurance Company Limited. He acts
as an Advisor of Bangkok Bank (China) Company Limited. Apart from the
roles in the business community, Mr. Chan serves as a Hong Kong Deputy
to The National People’'s Congress of the People’s Republic of China and the
Convenor of the Non-official Members of the Executive Council of the Hong
Kong SAR. He is a former member of the Legislative Council of the Hong
Kong SAR. Mr. Chan is the Chairman of Hong Kong Palace Museum Limited,
the Hong Kong-Thailand Business Council and the Committee on Reduction
of Salt and Sugar in Food. He also serves as the Chairperson of The Hong
Kong Council of Social Service. In addition, Mr. Chan holds directorship in
Chen Hsong Holdings Limited, Yau Lee Holdings Limited and Cathay Pacific
Airways Limited (all being listed companies in Hong Kong) and Bumrungrad
Hospital Public Company Limited (being a listed company in Thailand). Mr.
Chan was a Director of City e-solutions Limited.
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has been a Director of the Company since November 2006. He had been
a career civil servant for over 36 years before retiring from the civil service
in 2002. Mr. Siu rose to the rank of Secretary, Government Secretariat in
1993 and served a number of high ranking government positions, namely
the Secretary for Economic Services, Secretary for Transport, Head of Central
Policy Unit and eventually retired from his last posting as Secretary for
Planning, Environment & Lands. Mr. Siu was an Independent Non-executive
Director of Television Broadcasts Limited and Transport International Holdings
Limited.

= — W F R / Annual Report 2019

35



36

4 56 ML g 4 L

CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT
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MANAGEMENT PHILOSOPHY

The Board is committed to achieving excellence in corporate
governance and believes that good corporate governance leads to
the long-term success of the Group’s business. The Group values
its Code of Conduct, company policies and regulations, which
serves as the basis for our corporate governance. Compliance with
the national policies as well as the laws and regulations should
be the focus and goal in the business operation of the Group,
to protect the Company’s interests. The Group will continuously
review its governance practices and keep on improving in
accordance with the latest regulatory requirements.

The Board believes that risk management is an integral part
of corporate governance. Effective and efficient corporate risk
management will facilitate the Group’s business development and
operation by setting the appropriate risk appetite, maintaining
acceptable risk level and more importantly, proactively responding
to risks. It therefore helps protect shareholder value and safeguard
the Group’s reputation. Through putting in place proper risk
management process over the Group’s business and carrying out
regular reviews and updates, the Group strives to reduce the
likelihood and the impact of risks before they occur, and deal
with problems effectively when they arise. While the Group’s
risk management is the responsibility of every management team
member and is embedded in the business planning and daily
operation of the Group’s business, the Group’s risk management
process is based on a decentralized model with a centralized
monitoring system. The Group’s strategy is to maintain a
streamlined risk management process to identify, analyze and
mitigate various risks in an efficient and effective manner.

RISK STRATEGY AND APPETITE

The Group adheres to a robust and prudent operation strategy.
The Group believes that achieving strategic and business objectives
comes with moderate risks. The risks involved must be consistent
with the Group's strategies and capabilities, be fully identified and
effectively managed, and will not violate the Group’s core values
and social responsibilities. The Group must also avoid incidents
such as serious violations of national regulations, major quality
or safety accidents, adverse social impacts, any damage to the
Group and brand reputation, and major financial losses or business
interruptions. In this regard, the Group will continue to pursue a
balanced development of efficiency, quality and scale, emphasizing
conformity between business development and risk-taking.
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CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT

Based on our risk tolerances and identified significant risks,
the Group’s management has adopted different strategies to
manage risks including risk reduction, transfer and avoidance.
In accordance with the strategies adopted, the effective risk
management measures will be formulated to analyze the key
causes of risk, establish appropriate risk monitoring indicators if
necessary, conduct continuous monitoring, and ensure the timely
detection of major risk events and adoption of effective risk
mitigation measures.

RISK GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Group’s risk management structure is based on the
“three lines of defense” model, which clarifies the roles and
responsibilities of management and business units and functional
departments on risk management. The first line of defense
consists of business units and functional departments at all levels,
responsible for daily risk management, including participation
in risk assessment of the Group, development of risk mitigation
measures and monitoring procedures; the second line of defense
consists of risk management functions, responsible for organizing,
promoting and coordinating the risk management, and monitoring
the Group’s major and potential risks; the third line of defense
consists of the Group’s internal audit function, responsible for
risk management supervision and inspection, internal assurance
activities, assessment of internal risk management and monitoring.
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ULTIMATE RESPONSIBILITY

Exg

Board of Directors

THE 37° LINE OF DEFENSE
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Internal Audit Function and Audit Committee

B AR
THE 2"° LINE OF DEFENSE
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Risk Management Function
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THE 15T LINE OF DEFENSE
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Execution Level
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Business Units and Functional Departments at All Levels
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CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Risk Monitoring: The Board of Directors continuously monitors
risk management and internal control systems and reviews the
effectiveness of internal control systems on a semi-annual basis
via the Audit Committee.

Reporting on regular and ad hoc basis: The management of
the Group reviews audit reports, internal controls and risk
management issues, and continuously assesses and updates major
risks faced by the Group and respective risk mitigation measures.
The Board of Directors oversees the management’'s monitoring
activities via Internal Audit Function and the Audit Committee,
and the effectiveness of the implemented monitoring measures.

BUSINESS UNIT
Step 1: Risk Identification

The Group's risk assessment is conducted annually through a
top-down and bottom-up risk assessment process. By engaging
the relevant procedures, the Group’s risk management function
initiates the risk assessments at all levels of business units and
functional departments, identifies and estimates risks both at the
Group and business unit levels by evaluating corporate strategies,
sales, marketing, operations, productions and human resources,
and incorporate risk management into our business planning.
At the end of each year, the Group’s business unit undertakes
a review of potential risks which falls within its business and
operation area by the means of expert interviews, management
team questionnaires, and analysis on the impact of changes of the
operating environment, with a view to performing risk positioning,
analysis and evaluation of their probability and impact of risks.
Identified risks are reported together with the explanation of its
nature and proposed risk management strategies to the Group
during the business plan review session at the beginning of each
year. In addition to the annual exercise, our regular reporting
system of the Group’s business unit also facilitates ongoing risk
identification and the reporting of risks.

Step 2: Risk Analysis, Evaluation and Mitigation

After identifying the risk, the designated risk owner is responsible
for analyzing the likelihood and potential impact of the risk event.
Risks of higher likelihood and potential impact will be given
priority. The risk owner then designs and implements appropriate
procedures and controls to mitigate the risk. In the design of
the action plan, the implementation cost will be considered at
the same time, and in the implementation process, the Group
emphasizes the balance between risk and benefit to ensure the
long-term stable development of the business.
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Step 3: Risk Monitoring and Performance Evaluation

After risk identification, analysis, evaluation and mitigation, risk
owners will establish risk monitoring indicators, where appropriate,
based on quantifiable and practicable principles, to regularly
monitor and give warnings of potential risks, and take effective
mitigation measures in a timely manner. At the same time,
evaluation reports are submitted to the Group by the business
units through the regular reporting mechanism. To prevent the
same risks from occurring again, preventive actions and procedures
to improve operational efficiency are also incorporated into the
risk management and internal control systems. In addition, our
Internal Audit Function undertakes independent reviews on risk
management and internal control systems, and our management
is responsible for ensuring appropriate actions which are taken
to rectify any control deficiencies highlighted in the audit reports
within a reasonable period of time.

PRINCIPAL RISKS

The Group constantly faces a number of principal risks and
uncertainties in a highly competitive business environment and
the risks must be properly managed to avoid significant impacts
on the Group’s business. Thorough risk assessment and mitigation
measures help ensure these risks are well managed and governed
effectively. Due to the outbreak of COVID-19 in late January 2020,
the Chinese government adopted various disease control measures
which have impacted the sales, production and operations of the
beer business. The Group will closely monitor updates related
to coronavirus, local government’s epidemic control policies,
changes in the market demand, and take appropriate measures to
minimize the impact of coronavirus on the overall operations and
sales of the Group. For more details on the COVID-19's impact
on the Group's operations, please refer to the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 18 to 21 of this
Annual Report.
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During the business planning process in 2019, the Group focused
on addressing the following principal risks:

MARKET COMPETITION RISK

Changes in the Chinese beer market, advancement of industrial
structure, and the development of emerging products and sales
channels have led to fierce market competition.

The Group continuously adjusts its competition strategic plan
based on market changes, and strives to enhance our brand image,
price competitiveness, product quality and distribution network
by optimizing product diversification, monitoring competitors’
product mix strategies, developing new sales strategies and
channels.

PUBLIC SENTIMENT AND REPUTATION RISK

The prevalence of mobile communication and the internet, in
addition to the rapid development of new media, increase the
contact base and push the rapid diffusion of public sentiment
and reputation risks, which could lead to negative impact on the
Group’s reputation if appropriate crisis response strategies could
not be facilitated effectively.

The Group is committed to maintaining a good market image and
reputation. The Group takes the initiative to monitor the events
that may potentially put our reputation at risk, and strictly prohibit
any business activities that will damage our reputation or cause
material adverse effects. In order to prevent and reduce the impact
of public sentiment on the Group, the Group constantly improves
the system and structure of public opinion and reputation
risk management, establishes a sense of public sentiment and
reputation risks, forms a good value of public sentiment and
reputation risk management, and carefully handles the crisis that
damages the reputation and image of the Group to minimize the
negative impact on the Group.

RISK OF INCREASING PRODUCTION COST

The supply of the production materials required by the Group is
affected by climate, international trade development and national
policies. Factors such as increasing procurement costs pose a
greater pressure on production costs to the Group.

The Group is actively exploring opportunities to control
procurement costs at a reasonable level, including adopting
different procurement strategies and stabilizing supply channels
with a view to ensuring the adequate supply and quality of the
products.
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RISK OF REFINEMENT ON HUMAN RESOURCES

In response to the changing market, the Group has initiated
production capacity modification plan to achieve greater efficiency,
in which organizational and workforce restructuring could cause
labour disputes or negative publicity, damaging the Group's
production, reputation and brand image.

To minimize such impact, the Group establishes contingency plan,
proactively communicates and reaches agreement with affected
employees in compliance with laws and regulations.

SALES AND MARKETING COSTS CONTROL RISK

The Group formulates corresponding sales and marketing
strategies according to the market conditions. Poor execution of
sales and marketing activities may reduce the effectiveness of sales
and marketing campaign, which may have a negative impact on
the sales performance of the Group.

The Group continues to enhance the management and control of
selling expenses and keeps improving the effectiveness of sales
and marketing campaign. The Group regularly carries out training
to strengthen the compliance awareness of personnel and ensure
the operation in compliance with law and regulations.

HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT RISK

Inappropriate management or malfunctions of production facilities
may lead to excessive pollution and thus, violate the national
or local government regulations. Other factors such as natural
disasters and uncertain events could cause production safety
issues, which may result in personal injury and property damage.

The Group is committed to protecting the environment and
attaches great importance to production safety. To minimize
health, safety and environment risks, the Group has taken
various measures including adhering to clear health, safety and
environment guidelines and initiating staff training and cultural
promotion, strengthening organization and system construction,
continuous monitoring and initiating facilities safety checks and
energy conservation and emission reduction measures.

—ZT—NF F3R / Annual Report 2019

41



42

1 26 ¥ 1 H AT

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

AEBBRTENREXBER  HRIE
LBEXERBI TRFEBEXRGE

BINES  BRETLEHEEME B

ABHmRELERIFOHE o

%é%ﬁ@ﬁ&%ﬁ%%%%% N

%@EW&EE RAERIT - BIRER I -
Aﬂﬁﬁ‘ﬁ%&m&%%%%ﬂﬁ%

BERLEHEELER  REXB/KRE
BNEEMEAMNE  AEBEBIEMR
5 HEeRERRE  AARMMEZAR
SEAEMEBEITENRRLRERER LA
BREBEEZER  BERRELCHTZE
Ei RRERTIBELZZRRETHAER

CERRAEEHRFEERN AR -

AEHE

AEE-HEHNIHEDPEELEERERS
£ ERIKE - REHBERRER
FEHEREAIMHE R-2F-NF &K
SEENMEAEAR D ERAANNE
ML EHHEBRIEE HEBREEE

M BABSELRERTZAZE
BES - HREBIRAMHE - REBEFE

N AEEERRAEEREEESE -
RS EERZONDEEET RFR
HEeaEEER-

The Group has not only been strongly committed to promoting
business development and seeking to enhance operational
performance, but also adhering to the philosophy of “Brewing
A Better Life” and actively exercising our corporate social
responsibility, to bring more and better changes to the public.

With its business strengths and extensive business network, the
Group is committed to contributing to society in the areas of
community care, environmental protection, energy conservation
and emission reductions, human resources, product and service
quality upgrade as well as supply chain management, etc. with
the drive to become a trusted and beloved beer enterprise.
The Group has separately published its environmental, social
and governance report to inform the public of the performance
and various measures in relevant aspects, and also voluntarily
disclosed additional information, such as the impact of climate
change, medium targets of consolidated energy consumption of
production and occupational safety and health, to demonstrate
our commitments to sustainable development.

COMMUNITY CARE

The Group has always been committed to promoting a caring
society and fostering charitable undertakings, proactively focused
on the community in the aspects of disaster and poverty relief,
educational advancement and environmental protection. In 2019,
the Group has implemented its internal rules and regulations for
charitable and social welfare activities to focus on driving the
development of budgeting management, process management
and assessment on projects, and encouraged internal units to carry
out a variety of activities to facilitate the mutual improvement
of communities. The regulations on the management of social
responsibility was first released in the year under review,
specifically including community as a core stakeholder in the
management of social responsibility.
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During the year under review, the Group has rolled out charitable
activities in various locations, including poverty relief project in
Longli County and Qiandongnan Prefecture in Guizhou, Shandong
Province’s donation to Fangjiatuan Village in Yantai, Gansu-
Qinghai-Tibet Region’s donation of public facilities to the China
Resources Hope Town in Haiyuan, the specified project on helping
the construction of Tongmeng cultural square in China Resources
Hope Town in Haiyuan, assistance from Huaibei brewery in Anhui
to mobility challenged elderlies and disabled persons among
impoverished population in Linhuan Town, targeted poverty
alleviation projects including in Sanhe Village, Leichi Town,
Wangjiang County of Anhui Province; Tiantai Village, Qian Town,
Yuexi County of Anhui Province; Luoyuan Village, Paishi Town of
Hubei Province; poverty alleviation relocated area in Mali Town of
the Tibet Autonomous Region and Huagiao Village, Xiasi Town,
Kaili City of Guizhou Province, and the five-year project of specified
charitable donations by Xiaoshan brewery of Zhejiang regional
company to Xiaoshan district and Xinjie Town of Zhejiang Province.

ENVIRONMENT, HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group is committed to protecting the environment. There is
a sound organizational system to implement the responsibilities of
environmental protection and energy conservation and emission
reductions. The Group has also attached great importance to the
management and control of environmental, health and safety
("EHS"). A top to bottom approach is adopted, implementing and
assessing policies and guidelines for the impact of operations to
the environment, and continuously enhancing the environmental
protection and management for energy conservation and emission
reduction.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION, AND ENERGY
CONSERVATION AND EMISSION REDUCTIONS

The Group has strictly adhered to the national or local pollutant
discharge standards and implemented internal control benchmarks
that are stricter than national or local pollutant standards in
order to steadily meet the emission target and proactively reduce
pollutant emission. The Group has established a management
organization and responsibility system for energy conservation
and protection of surrounding eco-environment at three tiers:
the headquarters, regional companies and local breweries. Every
year, the headquarters issue and distribute the target for energy
conservation and eco-environment protection of surrounding areas
to the regional companies, factories and even production unit, and
let them sign the EHS letter of accountability, and implement the
management responsibility of energy conservation and protection
of surrounding eco-environment. During the year under review,
the Group did not find any major incident or violation about
environmental protection.
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The Group has echoed the national reform of supply front to
promote the optimization of production capacity, proactively
close down plants of low capacity utilization and high energy
consumption. The Group has also engaged in ongoing
optimization of mix of energy consumption by phasing out
coal-fired boilers and sourcing clean energy such as steam or
natural gas from external suppliers to increase the proportion
of clean energy consumption. To reduce the major impact on
the environment and natural resources, the Group focused on
reinforcing the management and control of pollutant discharge,
and clearly specified the frequency of and the requirement for daily
monitoring and tests at the breweries. The regional companies and
the headquarters also performed monthly statistics and analysis
of pollutant concentration, total amount, as well as the indicators
on program control and source control.
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In 2019, the Group has implemented a series of policies for
effective and efficient uses of resources, included continuously
optimizing the energy consumption structure, increasing the
proportion of clean energy consumption and phasing out coal-
fired boilers replaced by clean energy. The percentage of the
Group using externally sourced steam and natural gas reached
97%, while coal consumption decreased by over 70% year-on-
year. Relatively to 2018, emission of Sulphur Dioxide (SO,) and
Nitrogen Oxide (NOx) decreased by about 10% and over 20%,
respectively. Wastes generated from the beer production process,
such as distiller's grains and waste yeast, have a recycling rate
of 100%. In the area of sewage discharge, the sewage effluent
from five breweries under the Group have changed from being
discharged to natural bodies of water to being discharged to
centralized municipal sewage facilities, thus reducing pollution to
natural bodies of water. In the year under review, the Group’s
chemical oxygen demand (discharged to natural bodies of water)
reduced by more than 60% year-on-year, and ammonia nitrogen
emission (natural bodies of water) reduced by more than 50%
year-on-year.

In addition, the Group has eliminated outdated capacity,
continuously implemented production capacity optimization, and
improved energy efficiency for the effective use of resources. In
2019, consolidated energy consumption per unit decreased by
approximately 10% year-on-year. During the year under review,
the regional companies and the breweries have invested RMB24.15
million to establish and approve a total of 27 projects relating to
environmental protection and energy conservation and emission
reduction.
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The Group has kept a relentless focus on the impact to the
ecological environments of the surrounding areas from its nearby
breweries and constructions, considered quality of water sources
as an important factor for determining the choice of sites for
new plants, and continued to promote improvements in water
and energy saving. Total water consumption decreased by
approximately 5% vyear-on-year in 2019. Moreover, the Group
has sought to reduce emission of Carbon Dioxide (CO,). In 2019,
emission of CO, decreased by over 10% year-on-year.

PROMOTING ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Each subsidiary of the Group has been actively engaged in
organizing nationwide publicity and education campaigns for
green initiatives, such as “World Environment Day”, “National
Energy Conservation Week” and “National Low-Carbon Day”.
During the year under review, multiple subsidiary plants of the
Group have won several awards in environmental protection
aspects, with six subsidiaries were granted Hong Kong Green
Awards by the Hong Kong Green Council; China Resources Snow
Breweries (Henan) Co., Ltd. was awarded Green Management
Award Gold Prize; China Resources Snow Breweries (Qiannan) Co.,
Ltd. was awarded Green Management Award Bronze Prize; China
Resources Snow Breweries (Liaoning) Co., Ltd. was awarded Green
Management Award Merit Prize; China Resources Snow Breweries
(China) Co., Ltd. Yantai Branch was awarded Environmental, Health
and Safety Award Gold Prize; China Resources Snow Breweries
(Wuhan) Co., Ltd. was awarded Environmental, Health and Safety
Award Gold Prize, China Resources Snow Breweries (Xingan)
Co., Ltd. was awarded Environmental, Health and Safety Award
Bronze Prize. Additionally, Wuhan plant was awarded "Water-
conserving Industrial Enterprise of Hubei” by the Department of
Economy and Information Technology and the Department of
Water Resources Management of Hubei Province; Anging plant
was awarded “Water-conserving Industrial Enterprise of Anhui”
by the Department of Water Resources Management of Anhui
Province; Fuyang and Huaibei plants were awarded “Water-
conserving Industrial Enterprise of Anhui” by the Department of
Housing and Urban-Rural Development of Anhui Province; and
Liu’An plant was awarded as “Excellent Environmental Protection
Performance Enterprise”.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group has strictly adopted the national and local laws and
regulations on labour and remuneration management, and has
continuously enhanced the talent development program so as to
strengthen the staff’s skill sets and efficiency. During the year
under review, the Group has further implemented organizational
restructuring which enhanced the average staff efficiency, and
launched career development projects, which helped in optimizing
remuneration system and improving career development
mechanisms for employees.

EMPLOYMENT POLICIES AND REMUNERATION

During the year under review, the Group consistently adopted the
policies related to anti-child labour and forced labour and abided
by the relevant laws and regulations that have significant impact
on the Company. During the recruitment process, the Group
strictly complied with the requirements of the “Labour Law of
the People’s Republic of China” and the “Labour Contract Law
of the People’s Republic of China”, and explicitly prohibited the
hiring of persons below 18 years old. To regulate and modify the
employment system, the Group controlled the compliance and
quality of employment from the hiring stage. In addition, the
information system on recruitment of the Group was launched
and hiring of minor workers was restricted in the recruitment
and hiring conditions, thus ensuring that minor workers were
not hired. To ensure the execution of the requirements of the
afore-mentioned regulations, the Group held annual employment
inspections in the three levels comprising the headquarters,
regional companies and business units, and promoted the areas of
improvement. Aside from these, the Group also strictly executed
the “Management Regulation on Reporting of Employment
Disputes” to allow prompt reporting of employment disputes and
follow-up measures on improvement. At the same time, typical
cases were recorded in the employment case archive for sharing
and usage.

To guarantee and enhance the employees’ post-retirement
compensation and improve employees’ proactiveness, the Group
has established the long-term talent incentive mechanism under
the guidance of its parent company, China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited, thereby strengthening corporate cohesiveness
and fostering healthy sustainable development. The Group has
also established an annuity system in accordance with the relevant
laws and regulations of the state.
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TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

In 2019, the Group’s average staff training hours reached 18.7
hours. The coverage rate of fulltime staff training continued to
maintain at 100%. To support the Group’s strategic transformation
and quality business development, multi-level training programs
were organized for promotion of strategic execution and
implementation, including the “Three Level Leaders” consolidated
training for general managers of regional companies, operations
centers and sales regions; the “Three Drive Wheels” talent
development training program for middle and high level sales
management, sales and finance management as well as operational
management personnel. Targeting managerial professionals in
key positions, the Group provided trainings, product innovation
workshops and brand training camps for middle and high level
staff in marketing department and regional companies to advance
their business skills and capabilities. Aside from this, the Group
also provided online and offline training for frontline staff as well
as core management training for team leaders in breweries so as
to continuously enrich staff learning resources and methods. The
“Three Level Leaders” training program won the “1st Place in Gold
Award in the National Learning and Design Competition” organized
by the Chinese Society for Talent Development, and the series of
“CRSB Business Development Philosophy” online micro-course won
the first prize in the CRH Online Micro-Course Competition. The
Group adheres to the talent development philosophy of “learning
from and applying to the business practices”, consistently improves
the employees’ abilities on business practices and management, to
better help to realize the Group's strategy of “Quality Development
for Success in High-end Segment”.
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OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH

The Group’s safety production management is deeply rooted in
its management philosophy to production operations featuring a
people-oriented approach and development in a safe manner. The
Group has strictly observed the national laws and administrative
regulations on safe production and occupational health. In 2019, to
further enhance the accountability of respective responsibilities on
EHS and the establishment of a sound EHS accountability system,
staff at all levels were required to sign a letter of accountability on
EHS. Moreover, all staff members took part in safety observation
activities related to identification of hazard sources and factors as
well as dangerous behavior in order to remind them how to follow
procedural control and to regulate their safety practices. By carrying
out unannounced inspections, cross-checking and reviewing video
surveillance and inspections, the Group has managed to investigate
and rectify potential safety hazards, promoting the implementation
of various safety production undertakings. During the year under
review, the Group conducted investigations and inspections
for safety management of liquid ammonia, forklift, hazardous
chemical substances, transportation logistics, related parties and
construction projects at some of its breweries for upgrade of
management standard.

In 2019, The Group has further improved the working environment
by continuously improving, optimizing and upgrading its work
on the management system for safety production, the protection
facilities against occupational hazards. During the year under
review, the Group set up a specified fund of approximately RMB63
million for production safety to improve the overall standards of
safety production management and technical equipment. The
Group is dedicated to protecting the health of its staff members
and implemented an accountability system for human resources
units and improved the system for the monitoring, prevention and
control of occupational hazards. Some of the Group’s breweries
have received the occupational health and safety management
system certification (OHSAS18001). In addition to reporting and
regularly monitoring dangerous hazards such as noise and dust in
the working environment, various technical initiatives have been
taken to improve the working environment and create a healthy
workplace for staff. Moreover, a wide range of publicity and
education programs on occupational health have been launched,
aiming at enhancing staff’s sense of law and social responsibility
as well as raising their awareness of self-protection. When new
staff signs a labour contract, the Group will fulfill all its duties by
informing them of the potential hazards of occupational diseases
and purchase work-related injury insurance for them in accordance
with the law. For staff members who are engaged in operations that
could cause occupational diseases, occupational health examinations
will be conducted before, during and after their employment.
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The Group has also emphasized on safety education. In 2019,
CSRB's staff received a total of 460,000 training hours on safety
education. More than 540 emergency drills with over 14,000
participants were conducted. The Group has enhanced its rescue
capability through daily exercises, trainings, technical competitions,
experience exchanges and simulated exercises. A “one-file-per-
employee” occupational health record has also been set up. During
the year under review, CRSB attained 100% in the coverage of
training sessions on safety education, health examinations for the
prevention and treatment of occupational diseases, notifications
of occupational hazards in the workplace and the setting of
warning signs. Moreover, the Group continued the training,
appraisal and certification of key personnel. Business executives
and safety management staff at different levels at CRSB have all
obtained qualification certificates in safety management. At the
end of 2019, approximately 120 employees were certified as PRC
registered safety engineers, and all staff who engaged in special
operations possessed valid qualification certificates.

STAFF CARE

The Group strives to create a caring work environment. The Group
has established the “Snow Relief Fund” since 2006 that has been
helping staff and families with personal and health challenges
through internal donations. In 2019, the Group has provided
assistance to more than 20 employees in need. During the year
under review, the Group’s senior management continued the visit
to frontline staff to understand their needs, strengthen team
building and reinforce staff care management. In addition, the
Group carried out a “Summer Cooling Gift” campaign during the
peak production period in summer, where heat stroke prevention
products were distributed to frontline workers. The Group’s senior
management also cared for production and sales frontline staff
and visited those in difficulties during festive holidays. Meanwhile,
all regional companies continued to organize health checkups
and trainings for staff as well as outdoor physical activities and
club events, to promote work-life balance, raise awareness on
occupational diseases and improve both physical and mental health
of all staff.
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FOOD SAFETY AND PRODUCT QUALITY

The Group upholds the high quality and stringent requirements,
with the aim of “be an outstanding enterprise to brew the best
beer in the world”, the Group has formulated its policy on product
quality that emphasizes “quality first, consumers as top priority, be
innovative and excellent together with fulfill social responsibilities”,
adopted “continuing to satisfy consumer needs, create value
and reward the community, shareholders and employees” as our
belief, to constantly enhance product quality and fulfill the mid-
to-premium grade at “Beer” national standard.

The Group has stayed focused on strengthening its quality
management system and standardization development, planning
and having trial runs for multi-system collaboration. In 2019,
the Group’s production units have made further progress in the
management system certification including Quality Management
System (ISO9001), Environmental Management Systems

(ISO14000), Occupational Health and Safety Management System
(1ISO18001), Food Safety Management System (ISO22000) and
HACCP (Hazardous Analysis and Critical Control Point). Also, the
Group organized expert team to improve 96 standards, to foster
development with “compliance” and lead production of each of
its plants with high standards to ensure product quality.
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The Group has attached great importance to quality risk
management based on whole industry chain and strictly controlled
the quality of ingredients used in beer production at source to
ensure the quality of beer products. In 2019, the headquarters,
regional companies and breweries worked in coordination to assess
the quality system and quality assurance, conducted assessments
of more than 650 suppliers, which established a “uniform national
mechanism” to supplier quality management. Furthermore, the
Group has employed the nationally recognized third parties as
inspection to perform food safety testing on the samples of raw
materials and ancillary materials used in beer production. A total
of 120 samples from over 100 suppliers were tested.

During the year under review, the Group has driven for continuous
improvements and satisfying consumer demands by overseeing
and analyzing production quality, quality conformity and consumer
quality. The Group’s products was also in the leading position in
the industry as compared with the quality of the peers products.
In 2019, both the Group’s ex-factory quality conformity rate and
the conformity rate for National Safety Supervision and Inspection
random inspection reached 100%. For the purpose of obtaining
more comprehensive and objective information on consumer
quality experience, and extending the scope of the consumer
quality assessment, the Group has proactively conducted the
consumer tasting events. During the year under review, the event
called “I am a quality officer — CRSB consumer tasting event” was
held in the universities in Wuhan and Dalian. The event aimed at
attracting university students as the representative of young group
to take part in the tasting events, and assess the products from the
consumer perspectives, in order to promote quality improvement
and product innovation.
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In the meantime, the
Group has been committed
to improving technological
innovation capacity and
working hard on new
product and special
product development, so
as to satisfy the diverse
demands of the new
generation of consumers.
In 2019, the Group have
launched several new
products, such as “SNOW
MARRSGREEN BEER” and
“Lowen White Beer”,
which earned positive consumer feedbacks. During the year
under review, the Group’s project “research and application of
efficient operation technology for high-speed packaging line of
canned beer and protection system on product diversification”
won the Best QIC-V Award (the top grade) in the Fourth National
Quality Innovation Competition organized by the China Quality
Association, and was certified as international leading standard
by Technical Committee of China Alcoholic Drinks Association.
The project “research and practice of highly efficient operation
technology for beer’s packaging line” was awarded Scientific and
Technological Progress Award (Second Prize) in 2018 by China
Alcoholic Drinks Association.

MARRS
GREEH
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SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

In 2019, the Group has had stringent internal guidelines in place
for its supply chain management. The process for co-operation with
suppliers has been assessed monthly regarding seven indicators:
quality, timeliness, accuracy, declined orders, returned goods,
violation behaviors and flawed products to ensure quality services
and product quality. During the year under review, the Group
reviewed more than 300 raw and auxiliary ingredients, packaging
and non-productive material suppliers in 2019 based on integrated
assessments, and the passing rate reached approximately 99.7%.
The Group has continued to renew its internal supplier list and
implement dynamic management to formulate “Supplier list 2020”
and “Supplier list for non-productive materials 2020". During the
year under review, around 2% of suppliers were phased out, while
the successful rate for new supplier introduction was around 6%.

The Group has strictly based on the “Regulations for Suppliers
Management” to formulate “Criteria for Selecting Potential
Suppliers” and “On-site Inspection Criteria for Selecting Suppliers”
as the basic requirement to shortlist suppliers. The process of
shortlisting potential suppliers is carried out by the supplier
management working group and consulted by the supplier
management committee that is composed of staff assigned
by legal, finance, technical and procurement departments. The
suppliers will be approved by the procurement committee and
requested to sign an Integrity Agreement “Sunshine declaration”.
In order to obtain quality sourcing, eliminate outdated suppliers,
promote management and upgrade installation, the Group
implemented differentiated revisions by various materials categories
in 2019 based on the status of supply resources, and enhanced the
certification standards on site inspection of suppliers for 22 items.

CUSTOMER SATISFACTION AND CONSUMER DATA
PROTECTION

In 2019, the Group has continued to improve customer service
system and has established a rapid market complaint response
system. The Group has followed up with the feedbacks of unified
nationwide customer service hotlines, regulated the compensations
for quality complaints and modified the management requirements,
and improved feedbacks of unpleasant experience from customers
and the corresponding handling process, while upgrading customer
service and engaging in corporate social responsibilities. To eliminate
contaminated beer, reduce customer complaints and improve
product quality, the Group has introduced the project of elimination
of quality defects and reduction of quality-related complaints
during the year under review, so as to designate key control points
throughout the production chain, strengthen control over key
production process, eliminate contamination in beer production
and enhance customer satisfaction, based on the principles of
controlling at source, eliminating during production, managing risks
at controllable level and growing steadily.
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The Group's work on information confidentiality is managed
through the principle of both centralized and decentralized initiatives
with organizational management at multiple levels. Customer
information is managed at multiple levels through encoding and
setting of access authority. Confidential information system is run
in the Group's internal web, and the Internet is protected and
managed by firewall and invasion alert systems. Employees involving
in the work of relevant confidential information are required to
sign confidentiality agreements and abide by laws on confidential
information and “Guidelines on Confidential Work Management”
and uphold their duties of safeguard information security.

GOVERNANCE OF INTEGRITY

Maintaining integrity has always been an important mission
of the Group. The Group puts in a lot of effort in abiding by
and in executing the laws and regulations of the state against
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering, which include
the “Constitution”, “Supervision Law”, “Criminal Law” and
“Criminal Procedure Law” of the People’s Republic of China. We
also implemented the provisions pertaining to commercial bribery,
extortion and fraud under the “Anti-Unfair Competition Law"” and
the provisions pertaining to money laundering under the "Anti-
Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China”. During
the year under review, the Group did not have any litigation case
or major breach that involve corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud
or money laundering.

During the year under review, the Group observed stringent
compliance with and implementation of the pertinent regulations
of its parent company, China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited, such as the “Guidance for the Handling of Complaint
Letters and Visits and Discipline Execution and Examination”,
“CRH Provisional Regulations for Staff Violation of Disciplines and
Regulations” and “Ten Directives of China Resources”, among
others, while implementing the “Rules against Staff Violation
of Disciplines and Regulations”, with a view to preventing and
containing corruption at the source.
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The Group organized various cautionary integrity education
seminars for those staff occupying key positions in the major
aspects like sales, finance, procurement tendering, construction
projects, as well as logistics and transportation. The Group
strictly forbid any acts such as manipulating one’s powers for
personal benefit, special treatment in exchange for special or
sexual favours, bribery and corruption, nepotism, seeking personal
benefit and receiving gifts and money. Meanwhile, the employees
of the Group strictly comply with business ethics and stringent
confidentiality of commercial secrets, protect information security
and improve awareness of self-restraint and integrity at work.

TOGETHER WE FIGHT AGAINST THE
CORONAVIRUS OUTBREAK

In view of the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), the Group
has set up an emergency response team that swiftly responded
to the prevention and control of the virus. All units of the Group
have clearly defined roles and responsibilities on prevention and
control work, an effective leadership system, a prevention and
control system as well as supervision and management system,
in order to carry out its anti-epidemic duties and ensure the
all-round preventive and control measures achieve the best
results. The Group convenes regular work scheduling meetings
to coordinate its emergency work on virus control and oversee
the implementation work of all units on various measures under
relevant requirements.

Under strict implementation measures on prevention and control,
the Group has arranged for the gradual resumption of work.
Regional companies, teams and factories have carried out all-
round anti-epidemic prevention and control measures, as well
as arranged for the systematic resumption of work by following
government policies and guaranteed the safety and health
of staff. The work resumption progress was smooth with no
abnormal cases. With a view to maintaining the steady supply
of its products, the Group’s marketing team has resumed work
gradually and has reconnected with customers. Meanwhile, CRSB
has reminded distributors in “A Letter to Distribution Partners
from CRSB” to be extra vigilante in their personal protection
against the virus and reduce risk of infection. Furthermore, it
encourages distributors to work together to fight against the virus
and overcome the crisis.
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In order to prevent the widespread of virus and minimize the
exposure of its employees to the virus, the Group has set up
the standardized virus control mechanism, aiming to prevent
infection from external parties and avoid any internal spread. The
regional companies of the Group have provided flexible working
hours and alternating shifts, along with allowing those who work
in routine operations to work in remote offices, depending on
the requirements of national and local policies alongside actual
circumstances. To enhance the security in the workplace for
employees back at work, and strengthen their health and safety,
CRSB has created a series of micro-lectures on “anti-coronavirus
measures”, guidelines for virus control, health tips, produced
an online learning platform on virus control and an online
guestion-and-answer system, for the delivery
) of comprehensive virus control messaging to
@' all staff members. The Group has created a
checklist of anti-epidemic materials, such as
scarce materials including surgical masks and
sterilizing liquid, while also mobilizing resources
from all sides to search and purchase essential
materials for protecting those back at work.
Moreover, the Group conducted thorough
inspections on employees’ health and travel
destinations, in order to look at the health
condition of employees who came back from
or went near quarantine zones after Chinese
New Year. The Group arranged for staff to
sanitize working areas every day, to ensure the
workplace, production plants and the public
areas were thoroughly cleaned and sanitized.

The Group also actively responded to this sudden virus outbreak by
donating RMB15 million to related charities in Wuhan City, Hubei
province on 1 February 2020 for the procurement of emergency
medical supplies such as masks, disinfectants, medical goggles and
ventilators, to provide better protection for medical staff while
they are performing medical treatment.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ARt EERTEETE: MAJOR HIGHLIGHTS OF THE COMPANY'’S

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE:
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1.

A balanced portfolio of Board members by age and length of
Board services. Besides, the directors draw a vast experience
and diversified knowledge across different disciplines,
including the areas of trading and commerce, accounting
and finance, legal, banking and civil services.

FiR
AGE ESERTFL
417508 - 3 /. Length of Board services
Age 41-50: 3 A 104E AP © 5
512605% © 4 | Less than 10 years: 5
Age 51-60: 4 sl
6OREIA L : 4 il 10EHAL 1 6
Age 60 above: 4 | 10 years or above: 6

EELZEeRERNBERNESEEME 2. Board committees are a vital part of the Board effectiveness.
ZHn  REZET  FMEES To facilitate more professional advices of various areas in
NEZZESNKE REHABL the committees, the members of Nomination Committee,
FHITEE FZEFEFHHT Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee are mainly
FRBILENTESEMT REZE constituted by Independent Non-executive Directors and
ELEEZTRBEBHEEER - each committee is chaired by a different Independent Non-
executive Director.
T2 -NF O KEHBIULIEWMTE 3. In 2019, a majority of the Independent Non-executive

FEBORTEF EEHERR
TREESEAQR —EL MR
EEEERE - A REENFEG
AL RAT TR ENEEBE

Directors, together with certain Executive Directors and
management, have been arranged a site visit to a brewery
in Wuhan, Hubei and a brewery consolidated from Heineken
China in JiaShan, Zhejiang.
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4.  With effect from 29 April 2019, Mr. Rudolf Gijsbert Servaas
van den Brink has been appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company. He has worked for the Heineken
Group, the long-term strategic partner of the Group, for
many years. He is nominated to succeed Mr. Jean-Francois
van Boxmeer as Chairman of the Executive Board and CEO
of Heineken N.V. from 1 June 2020. He is President of
Heineken APAC and a member of the Executive Team of
Heineken N.V.. His rich global industry experience can offer
more professional advice to the Board.

It is the firm belief of the Company that a good and solid
corporate governance framework is essential to the successful
growth of the Company and the enhancement of shareholder
value. The Company is committed to attaining and maintaining
high standards of corporate governance and adopts principles of
corporate governance emphasising a quality Board, accountability
to all stakeholders, open communication and fair disclosure.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

On 8 April 2005, the Company adopted the Corporate
Governance Practice Manual (“CG Manual”). The CG Manual,
which was revised on 31 March 2009, 18 November 2010,
21 March 2012, 7 December 2015, 18 March 2016 and 21
November 2018, incorporates almost all the Code Provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (”Stock Exchange”)
(“Listing Rules”) and includes the implementation details for the
Code Provisions and, where appropriate, the Recommended Best
Practices. The CG Manual can be downloaded from the Company’s
website and copies are available on request to the Company
Secretary.

The Company has complied with the Code Provisions set out in
the CG Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2019, save
and except the following:

In respect of Code Provisions A.2.1 to A.2.6 and A.2.8 to A.2.9
of the CG Code, since the resignation of Mr. Chen Lang as the
Chairman with effect from 11 July 2019, the position of the
Chairman has been vacant and has not been filled up as at the
date of this report. The Board of the Company as a whole and
its members have discharged the duties under the aforementioned
Code Provisions of the CG code as appropriate. The Board and the
Nomination Committee of the Company will continuously review
and discuss the adjustment to the composition of the Board.
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Pursuant to Code Provision A.2.7, the Chairman should at least
annually hold meetings with Independent Non-executive Directors
without other Directors present. In 2019, the Chairman did not
hold meetings with the Independent Non-executive Directors
without other Directors present, which deviates from the Code
Provision A.2.7 from 1 January 2019 to 10 July 2019. Following
the resignation of Mr. Chen Lang as the Chairman with effect
from 11 July 2019, the deviation from Code Provision A.2.7 has
ceased. For the period from 1 January 2019 to 10 July 2019, the
Board is of the view that, the Independent Non-executive Directors
can express their opinions to other Directors more directly and
effectively at the Board meetings, hence it is of the view the
deviation from the Code Provision does not have material impact
on the operation of the Board.

In respect of Code Provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, all the Non-
executive Directors of the Company are not appointed for a fixed
term. The Board does not believe in any arbitrary term of office.
The current arrangement will give the Company sufficient flexibility
to organize the composition of the Board to serve the needs of
the Group. Further, the Articles of Association of the Company
requires that one third of the directors (including Executive and
Non-executive Directors) shall retire each year and every director
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years. The directors to retire each year shall be those appointed
by the Board during the year and those who have been longest
in office since their election or re-election. A retiring director is
eligible for re-election.

In respect of Code Provision C.1.2 of the CG Code, the Company
has not provided all members of the Board with monthly updates
to enable the Board as a whole and each director to discharge
their duties. However, the Company has based on business
situation, provided to the Board from time to time, updated
business information to enable the Board as a whole and each
director to discharge their duties.
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In respect of Code Provision D.1.4 of the CG Code, the Company
did not have formal letters of appointment for directors. However,
all directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years in accordance with the Articles of Association
of the Company. In addition, all directors are required to refer to
the guidelines set out in “A Guide on Directors’ Duties” issued
by the Companies Registry and “Guidelines for Directors”, and,
if applicable, "Guide for Independent Non-Executive Directors”
published by the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in performing
their duties and responsibilities as directors of the Company.
Besides, the directors are required to comply with the requirements
under the Listing Rules, the responsibilities under statute and
common law, legal and other regulatory requirements.

In respect of Code Provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, Mr. Chen Lang,
the then Chairman could not attend the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 24 May 2019 (the "AGM") due to business
appointments. Mr. Jian Yi, an Executive Director of the Company
who took the chair of the AGM, together with other members of
the Board who attended the AGM, were of sufficient calibre for
answering questions at the AGM and had answered questions at
the AGM competently.

In addition to meet the requirements of the Listing Rules, the
inclusion of the Corporate Governance Report in this Annual
Report is intended to keep our shareholders abreast of the
corporate governance practices of the Company and their
development throughout the reporting year and to invite our
shareholders’ views thereon.

THE BOARD

The Board represents shareholders in managing the Company’s
affairs. The directors recognise their responsibilities to enhance
shareholder value and to conduct themselves in accordance with
their duty of care and integrity.

The major issues which are brought before the Board for their
decisions include:

1. direction of the operational strategies of the Group;

2. setting the policies relating to key business and financial
objectives of the Company;

3. monitoring the performance of the management;
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4. approval of material acquisitions, investments, divestments,
disposal of assets or any significant capital expenditure of
the Group;

5. ensuring a prudent and effective risk management and
internal control systems;

6. review of the financial performance and results of the
Company; and

7. recommendation on final dividend and the declaration of any
interim or special dividends to shareholders of the Company.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties set out in paragraph D.3.1 of the CG Code, and in this
regard the duties of the Board shall include:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and the senior
management;

3. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors of the Company; and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report in accordance
with Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the Board considered the following
corporate governance matters:

o approval of the Corporate Governance Report of the
Company; and

o review of the results of the internal audit work on the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems.
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The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements of each financial period which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and
cash flows for that period. The financial statements are prepared
and presented to enable a clear and balanced assessment of the
financial position of the Group. Regular management reports on
the financial position and prospects of the Group are reviewed by
the Executive Committee to enable the Board to make an informed
assessment of the performance of the Company. The directors
are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019, and up to the
date of this Report, there was the following changes to the
membership of the Board:

With effect from 29 April 2019, Mr. Rudolf Gijsbert Servaas van
den Brink has been appointed as a Non-executive Director of the
Company.

With effect from 11 July 2019,

(1) Mr. Chen Lang has tendered his resignation as Executive
Director, Chairman of the Board, Chairman of Finance
Committee and a member of Executive Committee and
Share Option General Committee of the Company;

(2)  Mr. Jian Yi has been appointed as Chairman of the Finance
Committee and a member of the Executive Committee and
the Share Option General Committee of the Company;

(3) Mr. Chen Rong has tendered his resignation as Non-
executive Director of the Company; and

(4)  Mr. Tuen-Muk Lai Shu has been appointed as Non-executive
Director of the Company.

As at the date of this Report, the Board comprises 11 directors,
including three Executive Directors, three Non-executive Directors
and five Independent Non-executive Directors. The biographical
details of the directors are set out on pages 28 to 35 of this
Annual Report and can also be found on the Company‘s website.
The relationships (including financial, business, family or other
material or relevant relationships) if any, among members of the
Board are disclosed. There is no such relationship as between the
then Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.
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Pursuant to the requirements of Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
the Company has received written confirmation from each of the
independent Non-executive Directors confirming his independence
from the Company, and considers all of the Independent Non-
executive Directors to be independent.

The experience and views of our Independent Non-executive
Directors are held in high regard and contribute to the effective
direction of the Group. Throughout the year of 2019, the
Company complied with the requirements under the Listing Rules
by maintaining the proportion of its Independent Non-executive
Directors to at least one third of the total members of the Board.

The Company has put in place a tailored induction programme for its
newly appointed directors. Continuing development and information
are provided to the directors to keep them abreast of the latest
developments involving the Group’s business and operations.

The structure, size and composition of the Board are reviewed
from time to time to ensure that the Board has a balanced
composition of skills and expertise appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Company. Appointments
are first considered by the Nomination Committee. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee are then put to
the full Board for decision.

All directors (including Executive and Non-executive Directors) are
not appointed for a fixed term. The Board does not believe in any
arbitrary term of office and would like to retain sufficient flexibility
to organise the composition of the Board to serve the needs of
the Group. All directors are subject to re-election by shareholders
of the Company at the annual general meeting following their
appointment and at least once every three years on a rotation
basis. The Articles of Association of the Company require that
one-third of the directors (including Executive and Non-executive
Directors) shall retire each year. The directors who are required
to retire each year shall be those appointed by the Board during
the year and those who have been longest in office since their
election or re-election. A retiring director is eligible for re-election.

During the period from 1 January 2019 to 10 July 2019, the
positions of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer were
held separately and their roles were exercised by different
individuals. The role of Chairman was held by Mr. Chen Lang and
Mr. Hou Xiaohai held the position of Chief Executive Officer for
the aforesaid period. The segregation of duties of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer ensures a clear distinction in
the Chairman’s responsibility to manage the Board and the
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Chief Executive Officer’s responsibility to manage the Company’s
business. The respective responsibilities of the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer are more fully set out in the CG Manual.

Since Mr. Chen Lang’s resignation as the Chairman with effect
from 11 July 2019, the position of the Chairman has been vacant
and has not been filled up as at the date of this Annual Report.
The Board of the Company as a whole and its members have
discharged the duties under the aforementioned Code Provisions
of the CG code as appropriate. The Board and the Nomination
Committee of the Company will continuously review and discuss
the adjustment to the composition of the Board.

Mr. Chen Lang, the then Chairman could not attend the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 24 May 2019 (the
“AGM") due to business appointments. Mr. Jian Yi, an Executive
Director of the Company who took the chair of the AGM, together
with other members of the Board who attended the AGM, were
of sufficient calibre for answering questions at the AGM and had
answered questions at the AGM competently.

The Chief Executive Officer and either the chairman or at least
one member of the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee
and Nomination Committee attended the annual general meeting
to ensure effective communication with the shareholders of the
Company. Separate resolution was proposed at the annual general
meeting on each substantially separate issue, including re-election
of each retiring director and was put to vote at the meeting by way
of poll. Detailed procedures for conducting a poll were explained
at the meeting.

The Board meets regularly and at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. Between these regular meetings,
the Board meets to discuss and consider major issues (whether
or not required by the Listing Rules) and also on other occasions
when Board decisions are required. With respect to regular
meetings of the Board, directors usually receive at least 14 days
prior written notice of the meeting and an agenda with supporting
Board papers no less than 3 days prior to the meeting. With
respect to other meetings called, directors are given as much
notice as is reasonable and practicable in the circumstances.
The directors have full access to information on the Group and
independent professional advice whenever deemed necessary by
the directors.
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EFER <_ —NEHEM4XNEE - &  During the year of 2019, 4 meetings were held by the Board.
EERZ ﬂ@ﬂjfﬁx??ﬁ’“ “#Z® The attendance of the directors at general meeting(s), Board
é\% %*Z Eee HMEESE meeting(s), Audit Committee meeting(s), Compensation
EMRARESCENFRBENTR: Committee meeting(s) and Nomination Committee meeting(s) held
in 2019 is set out in the table below:
RRBFAE Y- FMZEEE REZEE
Annual General Board EHRZBE  Compensation  Nomination

Meeting (BHHEXRY Audit Committee  Committee Committee
(EEEERY  Meeting(s) (FHEERY (FHLRERY (FBHERY

Meeting attended/ Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Meeting(s)
attended/ 21T R & held) attended/ attended/ attended/
F17 R Bheld) R BT RHheld) BTRHBheld) &HTRKHheld)
#{TEE Executive Directors
BREA S AN Mr. Chen Lang” 0/1 12
554 Mr. Jian Yi 17 4/4
GEBRE Mr. Hou Xiaohai 0/1 2/4
REBEAE Mr. Lai Po Sing, Tomakin 17 4/4 112
E#HTEZE Non-executive Directors
B EED Mr. Chen Rong® 0/1 22
@it Mr. Lai Ni Hium, Frank 171 3/4
Mr. Rudolf Gijsbert Servaas
van den Brink® 1N 3/3
mARBELE Mr. Tuen-Muk Lai Shu® TER/NA 22
BIEHTEE Independent Non-executive Directors
EREEE Mr. Houang Tai Ninh 17 4/4 212 3/3 212
FREBL Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric n 4/4 22 33 22
BREEL Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses 0/1 4/4 212 33
BEBRAE Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan 11 3/4 212 112
BEMEEE Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon 171 4/4 33 22
“E-AEENRAERE
Total number of meetings held in 2019 1 4 2 36 26
B 5
Notes:
R: 7 H1 & &% Regular Meeting

M RBALER-—T-NAFLA+T - HABRERARANRTES EFEIHR VB ZRELIR HTZECRBRELBEZREEN

=)

Mr. Chen Lang resigned as Executive Director, Chairman of the Board, Chairman of Finance Committee and a member of Executive
Committee and Share Option General Committee of the Company with effect from 11 July 2019.

(2) RREER-ZF-NFLAT BABRERLRRFERTES -

Mr. Chen Rong resigned as Non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 11 July 2019.

(3) Rudolf Gijsbert Servaas van den Brink t £ R =2 —NEWNA -+ W HEZTARQRFHNITES °

Mr. Rudolf Gijsbert Servaas van den Brink has been appointed as a Non-executive Director with effect from 29 April 2019.

(4) WMABEEER-_Z-NEFLAT REZERARFIENTES -

Mr. Tuen-Muk Lai Shu has been appointed as Non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 11 July 2019.

(5) FWEZEGRZE AP —AUERTAET ERMANSTERZETLA RS -
Among the Compensation Committee resolutions, one was passed by way of physical meeting and two were passed by way of written
resolutions.

(6) REZEGREZ  MABHAEETET -
Among the Nomination Committee resolutions, two resolutions were both passed by way of physical meeting.
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4 30
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Pursuant to Code A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

The Company has put in place an on-going training and
professional development program for directors.

Each newly appointed director would receive an induction package
covering the statutory and regulatory obligations of a director of
a listed company and the Company’s business and governance
policies. The Company also provides briefings and other training
to develop and refresh the directors’ knowledge and skill.

All directors have participated in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The Company has sent reading materials to directors on regulatory
updates or information relevant to the Company or its business.

In 2019, a majority of the Independent Non-executive Directors,
together with certain Executive Directors and management, have
been arranged a site visit to a brewery in Wuhan, Hubei and a
brewery consolidated from Heineken China in JiaShan, Shanghai.

—ZT—NF F3R / Annual Report 2019

67

dNOYD IHL LNOYY & %>

SY4IATOHIYVHS 4NO OL ¥

>
M
LS
)
Ia)
)
=
o
o
Fd
>
=1
m
[}
o
<
m
=
z
>
=
=}
m

SINIWILVLS TVIDONVNIL 5 8 %k [



ARBEEEZEEENFANESIEE  The Company has received from all directors records of their
EEHREZY ZLK BB EHR  continuous professional development trainings during the year.
T Details of which are set out in below table:

RESERRZER

Type of Continuous Professional Development
BERI - -HEWRAE
R/BEERHWE

EARFHE R/ REFHARIRHEER

BERSRERA ZENEEENSEN

Receiving training, Reading regulatory updates
attending and/or giving  or information relevant
talks at seminar and/or to the Company or its

conference and/or forums business

#,T 2 E Executive Directors
bR BA 5L 4 Mr. Chen Lang® v
BHEE Mr. Jian Yi v v
EEZEEE Mr. Hou Xiaohai v v
REBLE Mr. Lai Po Sing, Tomakin v v
¥k #1TEE Non-executive Directors
PR E Mr. Chen Rong? v
LR E Mr. Lai Ni Hium, Frank v v

Mr. Rudolf Gijsbert Servaas

van den Brink v v
mARBERE Mr. Tuen-Muk Lai Shu v
B EHITES Independent Non-executive Directors
BERERE Mr. Houang Tai Ninh v
TREHET Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric v v
BREEL Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses v v
REBxE Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan v v
BEmELE Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon v v

B 5
Notes:

(M RARER-_Z-NFLAT - HHEEAARRARTES EF2IF UWKZESIR HTZESRBRELRBZE
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Mr. Chen Lang resigned as Executive Director, Chairman of the Board, Chairman of Finance Committee and a member of Executive
Committee and Share Option General Committee of the Company with effect from 11 July 2019.

) REEER-_ZF-NFLAT BRERLARRAFHRTES -

Mr. Chen Rong resigned as Non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 11 July 2019.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

While the Board retains at all times full responsibility for guiding
and monitoring the Company, certain responsibilities of the Board
are delegated as follows:

(@) Committees — various committees have been established
by the Board to administer certain specified functions
of the Company's affairs. The main committees include:
the Executive Committee, the Finance Committee, the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Compensation Committee. The terms of reference of the
Executive Committee, the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Compensation Committee which set out,
among other things, the duties, functions and composition
of these committees are set out in the CG Manual and
available on the Company’s website; and

(b)  Chief Executive Officer — the day-to-day management of
the Company'’s business is delegated to the Chief Executive
Officer who is accountable to the Board.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Chairman: Mr. Houang Tai Ninh (Independent Non-executive
Director)

Members: Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric, Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan,
Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon (all are Independent
Non-executive Directors) and Mr. Lai Po Sing, Tomakin
(Executive Director)

The duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the
performance, structure, size and composition of the Board and
to make recommendation after such review and to assess the
suitability and qualification of any proposed director candidate.
The recommendations of the Nomination Committee are then put
forward for consideration and adoption, where appropriate, by
the Board. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
setting out its duties and procedures were revised on 21 March
2012, 7 December 2015 and 21 November 2018, and are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Nomination
Committee held two meetings. A summary of work done by the
Nomination Committee during the year include, among other
things:

. review the performance, structure, size and composition of
the Board.

o make recommendations on the appointment of Mr. Rudolf
Gijsbert Servaas van den Brink as Non-executive Director to
the Board.

o make recommendations on the appointment of Mr. Jian

Yi as Chairman of the Finance Committee and a member
of the Executive Committee and the Share Option General
Committee to the Board.

o make recommendations on the appointment of Mr. Tuen-
Muk Lai Shu as Non-executive Director to the Board.

The Board adopted the nomination policy on 21 November 2018
which aims to set out the approach to guide the Nomination
Committee in relation to the selection, appointment and re-
appointment of the directors, and ensure that the Board has
a balance of skills, experience, knowledge and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business.

Major terms of the nomination policy are disclosed as follows:

(1) The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and
recommend candidate(s) for directorships to the Board by
giving due consideration to criteria including but not limited
to (collectively, the “Criteria”):

(@  Diversity in aspects including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

(b)  Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in
respect of available time and relevant interest;

(¢  Qualifications, including accomplishment and
experience in the relevant industries the Company’s

business is involved in;

(d)  Independence;

#8085 (32 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited



© WETENRE

) ZEIALAUREEFSER
MEERR R

(90 HBREFSETEFTNEE
B —IEs Z AT -

REZBEHEZREEN RN
Nz hkRAESEEER —2HZH
RENEFTEXBERMT  GRHFE
BESRR:

@ ZEERENEFTHRARF
MEBERERE - BREET
RAHEEEFENGERS
SHETZREENERL R
eR(WER) UREEES
R/AEBTREENREE
BRERB R

(b) % (%) REMEELTHERN
ABE B -

BRZEGEHUN REZETHT
ZhEEZHRERUTFZRESE —
LR L BB EAETEARBNE L
FRITEE B AEEEETR
PEBBARGIBERARES L
M A E3.1022) X313 5,5 & 3%
ERE - WA TR EREAIERT -

REZEEBRETIERF MR
REEEE-FEMNESSEHESR:

@ REZESEUR/ERE=E=S
MIRAKBHEAERBET - &
BB IBENREE  BEX

BERBE R —FHRESR
BEIRme TE:

(b) HEZREEZFHRET  1EH
ZESREVERBESERE
AB R AER R A BN E AR
REH# - P AREEFE
meHEES  mE=HE
ANRBHER A K i AR A B
R

(9)

Reputation for integrity;

Potential contributions that the individual(s) can bring
to the Board; and

Plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the Board.

The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend
retiring director(s) to the Board for re-appointment by giving
due consideration to the criteria including but not limited

to:

(a)

(b)

The overall contribution and service of the retiring
director(s) to the Company, including but not limited to
the attendance of the meetings of the Board and/or its
committees and general meetings where applicable, in
addition to the level of participation and performance
on the Board and/or its committees; and

whether the retiring director(s) continue(s) to satisfy
the Criteria.

The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend
candidate(s) for the position(s) of the Independent Non-
executive Directors of the Company by giving due
consideration to the factors including but not limited to
those set out in Rules 3.10(2) and 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
subject to any amendments as may be made from time to
time, in addition to the Criteria.

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board
for the appointment of a director in accordance with the
following procedures and process:

(a)

The Nomination Committee will, giving due
consideration to the current composition and size
of the Board, develop a list of desirable skills,
perspectives and experience at the outset to focus the
search effort;

The Nomination Committee may consult any source it
deems appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable
candidates, such as referrals from existing directors,
advertising, recommendations from a third party
agency firm and proposals from shareholders of the
Company with due consideration given to the Criteria;
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(5)

The Nomination Committee may adopt any process it
deems appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the
candidates, such as interviews, background checks,
presentations and third party reference checks;

The Nomination Committee will consider a broad
range of candidates who are in and outside of the
Board’s circle of contacts;

Upon considering a candidate suitable for the
directorship, the Nomination Committee will hold a
meeting and/or by way of written resolutions to, if
thought fit, approve the recommendation to the Board
for appointment;

The Nomination Committee will provide the
relevant information of the selected candidate to
the Compensation Committee for consideration of
remuneration package of such selected candidate;

The Nomination Committee will thereafter make
the recommendation to the Board in relation to the
proposed appointment, and where a Non-executive
Director is considered, the Compensation Committee
will make the recommendation to the Board on the
proposed remuneration package;

The Board may arrange for the selected candidate to
be interviewed by the members of the Board who
are not members of the Nomination Committee and
the Board will thereafter deliberate and decide the
appointment as the case may be; and

All appointment of directors will be confirmed by
the filing of the consent to act as director of the
relevant director (or any other similar filings requiring
the relevant director to acknowledge or accept the
appointment as director, as the case may be) to be
filed with the Companies Registry of Hong Kong.

The Board will be ultimately responsible for the selection,
appointment and reappointment of directors.
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The Nomination Committee will assess and report annually,
in the Corporate Governance Report, on the composition
of the Board, and launch a formal process to monitor the
implementation of this Policy as appropriate.

The Nomination Committee will launch a formal process to
review the nomination policy periodically to ensure that it
is transparent and fair, remains relevant to the Company’s
needs and reflects the current regulatory requirements
and good corporate governance practice. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required,
and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

The nomination policy is available on the website of the Company.

The Board also adopted the diversity policy on 21 November 2018
which aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity at the
Board.

A summary of the diversity policy is disclosed as follows:

)

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of
having diversity, including diversity on gender, age, cultural
and educational background or professional experience
at the Board in order to enhance the performance of the
Company. These benefits include (i) ensuring that a range
of different perspectives can be brought to the table
when reviewing and considering issues within the Board,;
(i) enabling the Company to connect effectively with
its stakeholders as appropriate; and (iii) supporting the
Company’s commitment to improve its corporate governance
practices.

With a view to achieving sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees increasing diversity at the
Board as an essential element in supporting the attainment
of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.
In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has
been considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.
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(3) Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates may bring to the Board. The
Nomination Committee should set measurable objectives
periodically for implementing the diversity policy.

(4)  The Nomination Committee will review the diversity policy,
as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the diversity
policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions
that may be required, and recommend any such revisions to
the Board for consideration and approval.

(5)  The Company aims to promote diversity not just at the Board
but also at the senior management level where appropriate
taking into account the Company’s own circumstances. The
Company welcomes diversity at the senior management
level, with a view to further contributing to the attainment
of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.

The diversity policy is available on the website of the Company.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

Chairman: Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon (Independent Non-
executive Director)

Members: Mr. Houang Tai Ninh, Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric and
Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses (all are Independent Non-
executive Directors)

The duties of the Compensation Committee include making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure of remuneration of directors and senior management,
establishing a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy
on remuneration and determining the specific remuneration packages
for all directors and senior management. The terms of reference of
the Compensation Committee setting out its duties and procedures
were revised on 21 March 2012 and 7 December 2015, and are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The remuneration of the directors and senior executives is
determined with reference to the performance and responsibilities
of the individual, the performance of the Group, prevailing
market conditions and remuneration benchmarks from comparable
companies. Directors and employees also participate in bonus
arrangements based on the performance of the Group and the
individual.
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During the year under review, the Compensation Committee met
once and passed two written resolutions. A summary of work
done by the Compensation Committee during the year include,
among other things:

o determining the policy for the remuneration of Executive
Directors and making recommendations on the directors fees
to the Board.

° approving the remuneration packages of Executive Directors
of the Company.

o conducting review of the incentive award to the Senior
Management of the subsidiary of the Company.

For the remuneration of the Executive Directors, the Remuneration
Committee adopted the model described in code provision
B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Chairman: Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric (Independent Non-Executive
Director)

Members: Mr. Houang Tai Ninh, Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses and
Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan (all are Independent Non-
executive Directors)

One of the members of the Audit Committee has appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. No member of this Committee is a
member or partner of the former or existing auditors of the
Company. The membership of the Audit Committee has complied
with the Listing Rules requirement that the majority of its members
must be independent and one of whom must have appropriate
professional qualification. The existing terms of reference of the
Audit Committee which were revised on 18 November 2010, are
modeled on “A Guide for Effective Audit Committee” issued by
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and have
also adopted the principles set out in the CG Code for the time
being in force. Pursuant to the amendments to Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules, the terms of reference of the Audit Committee
was further revised on 21 March 2012, 7 December 2015 and 21
November 2018, and are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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The duties of the Audit Committee include considering and
making recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditors, review of the
Company’s financial information and oversight of the Company’s
financial report system and internal control procedures. During the
year under review, the Audit Committee met on two occasions.
The work of the Audit Committee in 2019 included reviews of:

o the external auditor’s report to the Audit Committee in
respect of 2018 audit;

. the 2018 annual report and annual results announcement;

o audit strategy memorandum in respect of the 2019 audit by
the external auditor;

. connected party transactions;

. the 2019 interim report and interim results announcement;

. the reports of internal audit activities;

o staffing and qualifications of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions.

During the reporting year, the Audit Committee met with the
independent auditor on two occasions.

The Audit Committee has considered the performance and
independence of the independent auditor of the Company.
The Audit Committee concludes that the independence of the
independent auditor of the Company has not been compromised
by the non-audit services performed for the Group The statement
by the independent auditor about its reporting responsibilities
relating to the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019 is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report
on pages 103 to 114. During the year under review, audit fees
paid and payable to the Company’s independent auditor amount
to approximately RMB13 million (2018: approximately RMB11
million); fees related to non-audit services paid and payable was
not material (2018: RMB5 million).
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The interests held by the directors in the Company’s securities
as at 31 December 2019 are disclosed in the Directors’ Report
on pages 83 to 102 of this Annual Report. On 8 April 2005,
the Company has adopted a Code of Ethics and Securities
Transactions (“Code of Ethics”) which incorporates the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
("Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. The
Code of Ethics has been amended, approved and reconfirmed by
the Board on 6 April 2006, 4 April 2007, 31 March 2008 and
further revised on 31 March 2009, 18 November 2010 and 7
December 2015 respectively. The prohibitions on securities dealing
and disclosure requirements in the Code of Ethics also apply to
specified individuals who include the Group’s senior management
and persons who are privy to inside information of the Group.
The Code of Ethics is on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry
of all directors, all directors confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code and the
Code of Ethics during the year ended 31 December 2019.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board assumes overall responsibility to establish and
maintain sound systems in risk management, internal control and
governance to provide reasonable, though not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss and to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives. The
Board confirms that it is the overall responsibility of the Board
to establish and effectively implement the risk management
and internal control systems to ensure the smooth operation of
business, safeguard the Group’s assets and shareholders’ interests
as well as ensure the reliability of financial statements.

OVERVIEW OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group adopts the control framework consistent with the
frameworks recommended by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organisations of the Treadway Commission in the United States
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants as
the standards in establishing risk management and control systems
among our Group companies. The Group’s risk management and
internal control systems include five key elements, namely the
existence of an effective control environment, risk management,
communication and information system, cost effective control
activities and monitoring mechanism. The specific implementation
tasks of the Group’s risk management and internal control are
mainly shared by the management and employees.
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The management is primarily responsible for the design,
implementation and, maintenance of internal controls. The
Group has established policies and procedures to communicate
management instructions to all employees, and monitor business
operations. The monitoring activities include approval and
verification, review, asset protection, and division of duties. Our
internal self-assessment monitoring process requires each business
unit to evaluate the effectiveness of internal controls, formulate
mitigation measures in a timely manner, and reduce the recognized
significant risks.

MONITORING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Group requires its business unit to identify and assess the risks
and impact at least once every year. The executive management
team of the business unit is accountable for the conduct and
performance of each operation in the business unit within the
agreed strategies and similarly the management of each operation
is accountable for its conduct and performance. Policies and
procedures are designed for safeguarding corporate assets,
maintaining proper accounting records and ensuring transactions
are executed in accordance with management authorisation.
Monthly management reports on the financial results and key
operation indicators are reviewed by the Executive Committee
of the Board. Regular meetings are held with the executive
management team of the business unit to review the actual
performance against budget.

Our Internal Audit Function, reporting to the Audit Committee and
the Board respectively, is responsible for assessing the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems, adopting the risk-based
internal audit method to determine whether the Group’s major
risks can be controlled by main monitoring measures, formulating
an impartial opinion on the effectiveness and efficiency of the
systems, and reporting its findings to the Executive Committee and
the Audit Committee. Follow-up review will be conducted in due
course to ensure that audit recommendations are being properly
implemented. The Internal Audit conducts independent reviews on
the Group's risk management and internal control systems on an
on-going basis.
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Depending on the nature and risk exposure of the Group's
business, the scope of work performed by the internal audit
function covers all material controls including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management functions.

Results of internal audit activities are reported to the Audit
Committee at least once semi-annually for the year ended 31
December 2019 and the corrective actions are taken by the
business unit. The Audit Committee will review whether the
Group's risk management and internal control systems (including
financial, operational and compliance control measures) are
adequate and effective, and consider the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications, and experience. The Board conducts regular
reviews of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems through the Internal Audit Function and the Audit
Committee.

With respect to internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Company shall assess
the circumstances under which inside information may arise
from time to time and disclose inside information as soon as
reasonably practicable in accordance with the Securities and
Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules. The Company conducts its
business affairs with close regard to the “Guidelines on Disclosure
of Inside Information” issued by the Securities and Futures
Commission and imposes a strict prohibition on the unauthorised
use of confidential or inside information by directors, employees
and other relevant persons (such as external service providers and
project working team members).

Based on the assessment for the year ended 31 December 2019
for purpose of reviewing the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems, the Board and the Audit Committee
believe that the risk management and internal control systems
are effective and adequate, provide reasonable assurance that the
Group's assets are safeguarded and there is no significant area of
concerns that may affect shareholders.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

CONVENING EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING
AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL
MEETINGS

In accordance with Section 566 of the Companies Ordinance, the
directors are required to call a general meeting if the Company
has received requests to do so from members of the Company
representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all the
members having a right to vote at general meeting. Such requests
must (a) state the general nature of the business to be dealt
with at the meeting; and (b) may include the text of a resolution
that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at
the meeting. Such requests (a) may be sent to the Company in
hard copy form (by depositing at the registered office of the
Company for the attention of the Board) or in electronic form
(by email: ir@cre.com.hk); and (b) must be authenticated by the
person or persons making it. In accordance with Section 567
of the Companies Ordinance, the directors must call a meeting
within 21 days after the date on which they become subject to
the requirement under Section 566 of the Companies Ordinance
and such meeting must be held on a date not more than 28 days
after the date of the notice convening the meeting.

Besides, Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance provides that
the Company must give notice of a resolution if it has received
requests that it do so from (a) the members of the Company
representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the
members who have a right to vote on the resolution at the annual
general meeting to which the requests relate; or (b) at least 50
members who have a right to vote on the resolution at the annual
general meeting to which the requests relate. Such requests (a)
may be sent to the Company in hard copy form (by depositing
at the registered office of the Company for the attention of the
Board) or in electronic form (by email: ir@cre.com.hk); (b) must
identify the resolution of which notice is to be given; (c) must be
authenticated by the person or persons making it; and (d) must
be received by the Company not later than (i) 6 weeks before
the annual general meeting to which the requests relate; or (ii) if
later, the time at which notice is given of that meeting. Section
616 of the Companies Ordinance provides that the Company that
is required under Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance to give
notice of a resolution must send a copy of it at the Company’s
own expense to each member of the Company entitled to receive
notice of the annual general meeting (a) in the same manner as
the notice of the meeting; and (b) at the same time as, or as soon
as reasonably practicable after, it gives notice of the meeting.
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PROCEDURE FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PROPOSE A
PERSON FOR ELECTION AS DIRECTOR

Pursuant to Articles 112 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, no person other than a director retiring at a meeting
shall, unless recommended by the directors, be appointed a
director at a general meeting unless at least seven days’ previous
notice in writing (to be lodged no earlier than the day after
the despatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for such
election and no later than seven days prior to the date of such
meeting) shall have been given to the Company of the intention
of any member qualified to vote at the meeting to propose any
person other than a retiring director for election to the office of
director with notice executed by that person of his willingness to
be appointed.

Not less than three nor more than twenty-eight days before the
date appointed for holding a general meeting notice shall be
given to all who are entitled to receive notice of the meeting of
any person in respect of whom notice has been duly given to the
Company under Article 112.1 of the Articles of Association of the
Company.

The aforesaid procedures are available on the website of the
Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The new Articles of Association of the Company was adopted on
25 May 2016 by special resolution at the annual general meeting
in order to ensure compliance with the Companies Ordinance.

There is no change to the Articles of Association of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2019.

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular
communication and fair disclosure of information to its
shareholders. Accurate and fair disclosure is necessary for
shareholders to form their own judgment on the operation and
performance of the Group.

The Company has established a Shareholder’s Communication
Policy and the said policy is available on the website of the
Company.

Based on this policy, legitimate questions arising from generally
disclosed information deserves a reasonable reply. The Investor
Relations Department is responsible for managing investor
relations and will respond to such shareholders’ and analysts’
enquiries.
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The Company’s website provides shareholders, investors, existing
and prospective partners and counterparties with information on
the Company’s corporate governance practices. Copies of such
information can be obtained from the Company Secretary upon
written request.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board by addressing them to the Investor Relations
Department of the Company. The contact details are as follows:

Investor Relations Department

China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
39th Floor, China Resources Building

26 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Email: ir@cre.com.hk

Tel No.: 852-2829 9889

Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Registrar.

By order of the Board
JIAN YI
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 20 March 2020
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors have pleasure in presenting to the shareholders their
report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group has been principally engaged in the manufacturing,
sales and distribution of beer products. The principal activity of
the Company is investment holding. The activities of its principal
subsidiaries are shown on pages 185 to 189. An analysis of the
Group's performance for the year by regional segments is set out
in Note 6 to the financial statements.

GROUP PROFIT

The consolidated profit and loss account is set out on page 115
and shows the Group's profit for the year ended 31 December
2019.

DIVIDENDS

The Board recommends a final dividend of RMB0.045 per share
for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: RMBO0.03 per share)
payable on or around 12 June 2020 to shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on 28 May
2020. The final dividend, if approved, is to be payable in cash
in Hong Kong dollars which will be converted from RMB at the
average CNY Central Parity Rate announced by the People’s Bank
of China for the five business days prior to and including the date
of the Annual General Meeting (as defined in the below section
headed “Closure of Register of Members”). Together with the
interim dividend of RMBO0.12 per share, the total dividend for 2019
will amount to RMBO0.165 per share (2018: RMBO0.12 per share).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 18 May 2020 to Friday, 22 May 2020, both days
inclusive, during which no transfer of shares of the Company will
be registered. In order to determine the identity of members who
are entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting to
be held on 22 May 2020 (the "Annual General Meeting”), all share
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’'s Share Registrar, Tricor
Standard Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 15 May 2020
for registration.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS (Continued)

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting, the proposed final dividend will be payable to
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company after the close of business at 4:30 p.m. on Thursday,
28 May 2020, and the register of members of the Company will
be closed on Thursday, 28 May 2020, during which no transfer
of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to qualify
for the proposed final dividend, all share transfer documents,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor Standard Limited,
at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 27 May 2020 for
registration.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2019 is set out in the sections headed “Financial Highlights”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis”, “Corporate Risk
Management”, “Corporate Social Responsibility” and “Corporate
Governance Report” from pages 12 to 13, pages 18 to 21, pages
36 to 41, pages 42 to 57 and pages 58 to 82 respectively of this
Annual Report.

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to
applicable laws, rules and regulations in particular, those having
significant impact on the Group. Any changes in the applicable
laws, rules and regulations are brought to the attention of relevant
employees and business unit from time to time. As far as the
Company is aware, it has complied in material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the business and operation of the Company.

FIXED ASSETS

Movements in the fixed assets of the Group during the year are
set out in Note 16 to the financial statements.

SHARES ISSUED

Details of the shares issued by the Company during the year are
set out in Note 28 to the financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
approximately RMB1,000,000.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date
of this report were as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Jian Yi

Mr. Hou Xiaohai (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Lai Po Sing, Tomakin (Chief Financial Officer)
Mr. Chen Lang (Resigned on 11 July 2019)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Rong (Resigned on 11 July 2019)
Mr. Lai Ni Hium, Frank
Mr. Rudolf Gijsbert Servaas van den Brink
(Appointed on 29 April 2019)
Mr. Tuen-Muk Lai Shu
(Appointed on 11 July 2019)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Houang Tai Ninh

Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric

Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses
Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan
Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon

In accordance with Article 110 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Hou Xiaohai, Mr. Lai Po Sing, Tomakin, Dr. Li Ka
Cheung, Eric and Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses shall retire by rotation
at the Annual General Meeting and are eligible for re-election.

In accordance with Article 115 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Tuen-Muk Lai Shu will retire at the Annual
General Meeting and is eligible for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the employing
company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to
which the Company, its subsidiaries, its parent company or the
subsidiaries of its parent company were a party and in which a
director of the Company or his connected entities had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Biographical details of directors are set out on pages 28 to 35.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The name of directors and alternate director who have served on
the board of the subsidiaries of the Company during the year and
up to the date of this report is available on the Company’s website
at www.crbeer.com.hk under “Investor Relations — Corporate
Governance”.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association of the Company provide that every
director shall be indemnified out of the funds of the Company
against all liability incurred by him as such director in defending
any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgement is
given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liability and
costs associated with defending any proceedings which may be
brought against the directors of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of
the directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations, within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong (“SFO"), which have been notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO, including interests and short positions which the directors
and chief executive of the Company are taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO, or which are required to be
and are recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained
in the Listing Rules were as follows:

(A) INTERESTS IN ISSUED ORDINARY SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

HitESFS L

FRIRR KA EE Aggregate

EEME Long position/ Number of  percentage of

Name of director Short position shares interest’ (%)

®Z8 A 918,000 0.03
Hou Xiaohai Long position

BOL e} 149,498 0.01
Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position

FRF "HE 271,817 0.01

Li Ka Cheung, Eric

Long position

oAk

1. BARB RN PHLTEBEBIEART
RZEBE-AF+ZA=+—-BBEHET
Bein BB DL -

2. EXFmBE s AR EEN RS S
BAZEDHA -

Notes:
1. This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in
shares of the Company to the total issued shares of the Company

as at 31 December 2019.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by each director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.
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EEvEFEZW@
() RMEBEZECHTEBERRME
BERGOTFERNES

FAB - ATUEFHEBEBEE(CE
ER(EFRHPEERMN)) M EITE
i8R 2 P A

(i) MN—FHEABEE - FHE
BERAR([EEEM]E#HT

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (Continued)

(B) INTERESTS IN ISSUED ORDINARY SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS
As at the same date, certain directors had interests in the
issued ordinary shares of associated corporations (within the
meaning of the SFO):

(i) Interests in issued ordinary shares of an associated
corporation, China Resources Land Limited (“CR

LTBR R - Land”):
HiLERZBFS L

WE %R i3 8 E Aggregate
EENE Long position/ Number of  percentage of
Name of director Short position shares interest' (%)
BRI Sy 10,000 0.01
Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position
FRE FE 50,000 0.01
Li Ka Cheung, Eric Long position
B 5 Notes:
1. BB RHOEREMRSG 1. This represents the percentage of the aggregate long

BBNERBEORN T —NF
TZR=+-HEBTROHR
HHBEDL -

2. EXFBEZEEASEEN
EnBEEANZENRE -

positions in shares of CR Land to the total issued shares of
CR Land as at 31 December 2019.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by each director
in his capacity as beneficial owner.

#8085 (32 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (Continued)

(B) INTERESTS IN

ISSUED ORDINARY SHARES

AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS (Continued)

(i)  Interests in issued ordinary shares of an associated
corporation, China Resources Gas Group Limited (“CR

BOUERR 2 ES: Gas"):
HiEESFIEL
S R EE Aggregate
EEME Long position/ Number of  percentage of
Name of director Short position shares interest' (%)
RO 1 o) 10,000 0.01

Lai Ni Hium, Frank

Long position

oAk

1. &I A PP R BB IR R R AR
BEEERIRER-_ZT-NF
TZA=+t—REHTRHE
B -

2. EXFRBEZ R ES
NERFEBEAZENFE -

Notes:

This represents the percentage of the aggregate long
positions in shares of CR Gas to the total issued shares of
CR Gas as at 31 December 2019.

All interests disclosed above are being held by the director
in his capacity as beneficial owner.
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EEvEFEZW@
() RMEBEZECHTEBERREME (B)
ERGHERNERE)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (Continued)

INTERESTS IN
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF ASSOCIATED

ISSUED ORDINARY SHARES

CORPORATIONS (Continued)

(i) R—FEEBEE - ZHE (i) Interests in issued ordinary shares of an associated
TRERAT(EEEANDE corporation, China Resources Power Holdings
BITEBRZER Company Limited (“CR Power”):

HiggEzao

BE %R 238 E Aggregate
EEHNE Long position/ Number of  percentage of
Name of director Short position shares interest' (%)
&5 we 1,200,000 0.02
Jian Yi Long position
RO 1 o) 10,000 0.01
Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position
B 5 Notes:
1. BIFEMPRNERE KRG 1. This represents the percentage of the aggregate long

BBEEBENNR_T-—NF
TZR=t—-BHZEBHTENH
BEHBADL -

2. EHEERG REBERBZ 2.
1,200,000 % A& 17 2 # #5 ©

3. BISFE2SBMIEES - £ 3.
BREZEGEZHNHEEANES
BEANZENR/E

positions in shares of CR Power to the total issued shares of
CR Power as at 31 December 2019.

Mr. Jian Yi was deemed to be interested in 1,200,000 shares
through interests of his spouse.

Save as otherwise specified under note 2, all interests
disclosed above are being held by the director in his capacity
as beneficial owner.

(iv) R—EAEEE - ZEFHKE (iv) Interests in issued ordinary shares of an associated
TRABER AR ([EBEKEDE corporation, China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
BTLER 2R ("CR Cement”):

HLERXBSE

BE%KRE i3 8 E Aggregate
EENE Long position/ Number of  percentage of
Name of director Short position shares interest' (%)
B THE 40,000 0.01
Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position
B 5 Notes:
1. RS REERKOER G 1. This represents the percentage of the aggregate long

BBEEBRKER=F—NF
TZA=+t-HEZTROHA
BHBEDL -

2. EXFBBEz R RES 2.
NEZEEAZENRHE -

#8085 (32 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited

positions in shares of CR Cement to the total issued shares
of CR Cement as at 31 December 2019.

All interests disclosed above are being held by the director
in his capacity as beneficial owner.
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A AAEHRESNRR SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE INTERESTS

RZZ—NAFF+_A=Z+—8 B LEXF As at 31 December 2019, other than the interests and short
WEMERMAAIN  LFALTRARF  positions as disclosed above, the following persons have interests
M RIEER G PR EBIE(ESHK  or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
HEKRAIDEXVHE_RE=2EMAZAZR Company as they fall to be disclosed to the Company under

AIPRBENCDLHREARARABAFENZ  Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the -
AR ERIOKE register required to be kept by the Company: 5
BERZFHEAA %

BERSNRNEE s

Number of shares in
##&,/#%R&  which the interested FREAAH
Long position/  party is deemed to Percentage of

REEXFEHE Name of interested party Short position have interests shareholding (%)
FEEBERAF China Resources Company Limited ~ #72 1,684,077,366 51.91 5
(MBI ) (H &) ("CRC") (Note 1) Long position :
ERRHARLA China Resources Inc. (formerly known #f2 1,684,077,366 51.91 .
(T B (K FE1) as China Resources Co.,, Limited) ~ Long position -
("CRI") (Note 1) S
CRC Bluesky Limited (¥ 1) CRC Bluesky Limited (Note 1) HE 1,684,077,366 51.91 %
Long position =
EZH(EE)BRRA China Resources (Holdings) Company 2 1,684,077,366 51.91
((EREE D Limited (“CRH") (Note 1) Long position
EREE(ZR)ARAA CRH (CRE) Limited (Note 1) e 1,676,338,664 51.67
(F&ET) Long position 4
i
TN R . o N L
EHAERRAF (M) China Resources Enterprise, Limited ¥ 2 1,676,338,664 51.67 3
(Note 1) Long position §
g
Heineken Holding N.V. (fff5£1)  Heineken Holding N.V. (Note 1) e 1,676,338,664 51.67 §
Long position 2
S
Heineken N.V. (Fff 5£1) Heineken N.V. (Note 1) HE 1,676,338,664 51.67 z

Long position

ERRE(RE)ERAA CRH (Beer) Limited (Note 1) HE 1,676,338,664 51.67
(FzET) Long position

Hillhouse Capital Advisors, Ltd.  Hillhouse Capital Advisors, Ltd. =y 192,220,399 593 T
(P 2) (Note 2) Long position

Gaoling Fund, L.P. (Fff53) Gaoling Fund, L.P. (Note 3) =y 180,470,967 5.56

Long position

Morgan Stanley (Fff :t4) Morgan Stanley (Note 4) iy 172,500,908 5.31
Long position

FINILVLS TVIDONVNIA

SIN

KE 12,890,359 0.39
Short position
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BEAABESNRR(E

M EE

EHEE (BB ERARRSEERLAA S5
BHE 4B AR F,676,338,664% £7,738,702
Rt - EHEERE) GRAABEHN
Bl ¥ G R AR E60%H 2% - I M Heineken
Brouwerijen B.V.¥FH40% & & - M 2 Al
ERABDIAEBEEEGERERAAN D
EffELA - EHEECGERBERRAR
EEERAAHAERNEENER2AN
BAF o #ERE%EACRC Bluesky Limited#)
B2 EMBE AR © MCRC Bluesky Limited
HEBRGOG2EHREG - EHRMERREE
HORRERE2EAMBRAR - At #H
£ - CRC Bluesky Limited + 8 % {5 K&
EREE R A FHRARA,684,077,366
fi% A% 15 7 /A # 2% ° Heineken Brouwerijen
B.V. & Heineken International B.V.H) & &} B
‘A A] + Heineken International B.V. & Heineken
NV.# & & K B 2 & © 1 Heineken N.V. &
Heineken Holding N.V.#J2 &M B A -
It + Heineken Brouwerijen B.V. > Heineken
International B.V. > Heineken N.V.J} Heineken
Holding N.V.%f 18 /& R 22 7]1,676,338,664 4%
R HEEER -

Hillhouse Capital Advisors Ltd.JA#% & 4512 &
MDEAERD - & $ 180,470,967 0% 1 B Gaoling
Fund, LP.E A + 11,749,432 15 B YHG
Investment, LP.E#EEH o

Gaoling Fund, LP. RRHEEHFAA

BBE(ESRBEKEIEXVHTE-_RE=
DR ERAARRBEBENENBER  ZER
3 FAMorgan Stanley & #% 3k i # # 5 100% 2
Hl 2 EBEHE - HB - F5533,942/K ik
% (47 &) 4,178,359 B 15 (% B) Th % & 47
SiEs BREAEDRKN EWITETAEHR
20,400 1D (FA) * U EWRUWHIIEETFHT
ETEREH252B KRG (FE) LB EZIKK
JF BT HTA T B 5,510,950/ & 19 (7 &) K&
4,178,359 g fn (% &) °

SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE INTERESTS
(Continued)

Notes:

1. CRH (Beer) Limited and Commotra Company Limited directly held
1,676,338,664 shares and 7,738,702 shares in the Company respectively.
CRH (Beer) Limited is owned as to 60% by China Resources Enterprise,
Limited and 40% by Heineken Brouwerijen B.V.. China Resources Enterprise,
Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRH (CRE) Limited. CRH (CRE)
Limited and Commotra Company Limited are beneficially wholly-owned
subsidiaries of CRH. CRH is a beneficially wholly-owned subsidiary of
CRC Bluesky Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by CRI. CRI is an
ultimately beneficially wholly-owned subsidiary of CRC. Thus, CRH, CRC
Bluesky Limited, CRI and CRC are deemed to be interested in an aggregate
of 1,684,077,366 shares in the Company. Heineken Brouwerijen B.V.
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Heineken International B.V.. Heineken
International B.V. is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Heineken N.V., which in
turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Heineken Holding N.V.. Thus, Heineken
Brouwerijen B.V., Heineken International B.V., Heineken N.V. and Heineken
Holding N.V. are deemed to be interested in 1,676,338,664 shares in the
Company.

2. Hillhouse Capital Advisors Ltd. held the shares in the capacity of investment

manager. 180,470,967 shares of which were directly held by Gaoling Fund,
L.P.. 11,749,432 shares of which were directly held by YHG Investment, L.P..

3. Gaoling Fund, L.P. is the beneficial owner of the shares.

4. According to the information disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2

and 3 of Part XV of SFO, these shares were held by Morgan Stanley through
corporations controlled directly or indirectly as to 100% by it. Among which,
5,533,942 shares (long position) and 4,178,359 shares (short position) are
derivatives interest, including 20,400 shares (long position) as physically
settled listed derivatives, 2,592 shares (long position) as physically settled
unlisted derivatives, 5,510,950 shares (long position) and 4,178,359 shares
(short position) as cash settled unlisted derivatives.

#8085 (32 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year
or subsisted at the end of the year.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group conducted certain transactions with
connected persons which constituted “connected transactions”
or “continuing connected transactions” under the Listing Rules.
Particulars of these transactions are also set out in Note 31 to the
financial statements headed “Material Related Party Transactions”,
with respect to which the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Details of those transactions which are subject to
the reporting requirements under Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules
are summarised as follows:

(A) FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS PURSUANT
TO FRAMEWORK LOAN AGREEMENTS 2016,
FRAMEWORK LOAN AGREEMENTS 2019 AND
STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2018

On 22 December 2016, the Company renewed the
Framework Loan Agreements in connection with the intra-
group lending arrangement with members of group of CRI
and CRH and their respective subsidiaries (the “Framework
Loan Agreements 2016") for a term of three years from 1
January 2017 to 31 December 2019. CRI is the controlling
shareholder of CRH, which in turn holds a controlling interest
in the Company and thus CRI and CRH are both connected
persons of the Company as defined under the Listing
Rules. The connected transactions contemplated under the
Framework Loan Agreements 2016 will be continuously
carried out in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group, thus constituting continuing connected
transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules.

The annual lending cap which can be lent by the Group on
any single day (inclusive of interest received and anticipated
to be received) under both of the Framework Loan
Agreements 2016 is HK$1,700,000,000. Such maximum
daily amount is applicable for each day during the relevant
year, and such maximum daily amount is calculated on an
individual basis as outstanding at the end of each day during
the relevant year without aggregating with the daily amount
incurred on the days before.
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SERER S (E) CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(B) BN EELEFHWHE (A) FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS PURSUANT

—E-NFEEERBER=Z TO FRAMEWORK LOAN AGREEMENTS 2016,

—N\EEREEHZEzSRIT FRAMEWORK LOAN AGREEMENTS 2019 AND

E R L B (&) STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2018
(Continued)

HBEBA2HARRRE—AF+ For details, please refer to the announcement of the

ZRAZHZHFRHENAS o Company dated 22 December 2016.

BHE-_ZE-—NF+A=+—H1 Information on all the above-mentioned lending made by the
ﬁFW Eﬁ%@h{ ol U= 4= Group during the year ended or balance as at 31 December
R-E—NF+_A=+—HZ&®HHE 2019 (if any) were as follows:
(MB)BHEHDT :
ERANER
BRAE R=B-N§
Borrower's +=B=+-H
immediate r% FR% B
XA BHA holding BRA Principal HIR  Interest rate Balance at
Lender Borrower  company Guarantor amount Duration  per annum 31/12/2019
ZFREEWE FRARN PHER - AR 1400000000  14/06/2019- 3.915% -
(FEDRE CR CRC RMB 131212019
BRRA
BE_ZE-NF+A=+—H1 For the year ended 31 December 2019, the aggregate
FEAN FAEEBR-_ZT-RFEHFE amount of interest received by the Group under Framework
EXxmEBRINMNEBEBEAENA Loan Agreements 2016 was approximately RMB22,000,000
R 22,000,000 (48 & M 49 /& % (equivalent to approximately HK$25,000,000).

25,000,0007T) ©

#8085 (32 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(A) FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS PURSUANT

TO FRAMEWORK LOAN AGREEMENTS 2016,
FRAMEWORK LOAN AGREEMENTS 2019 AND
STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2018
(Continued)

The Framework Loan Agreements 2016 have been renewed
on substantially similar terms as the existing terms under
new framework loan agreements between the same parties
dated 17 December 2019 (“Framework Loan Agreements
2019"). Each of the Framework Loan Agreements 2019
was for a term of three years from 1 January 2020 to 31
December 2022. The annual lending cap for the maximum
aggregate amount which can be lent by the Group on any
single day (inclusive of interest received and anticipated to be
received rounded to the nearest million) under both of the
Framework Loan Agreements 2019 is RMB2,100,000,000.
Such maximum daily amount is applicable for each day
during the relevant year, and such maximum daily amount is
calculated on an individual basis as outstanding at the end of
each day during the relevant year without aggregating with
the daily amount incurred on the days before. By virtue of
CRI being the controlling shareholder of CRH, which in turn
holds a controlling interest in the Company, CRI and CRH
are connected persons to the Company as defined under
the Listing Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 17 December 2019.
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(F)

FAEXZ (&)

ER-ZZE-RFERERWZE -
—E-NEFRERERBBER=-F
—N\FEBSFEGE ST E
16 B %= B ()

RZZE—N\F+—AZ+1B AR
RO RIEEKEEHRITRHOERA
AI([EHRT) EEROZHBL
A REBREZELEBERAR ([
HER EEROZWBRARE
FEEAEHE  HRHAB T
—NE—A—HE2-_ZT-—%+-A
=+ —HILEN=ZETFE - Bt
HRTRABERASERHE TER
MEERTERBLEBETIRE
MASERESE T2/ R% R E®
((ZE-NFEBEEEHRED - AR
EHRMNORFAEEBRITEEHS
EFREMEREIBS0%  WRE £
MHA - EEBOREBETLEA
KRB BEEALT - —T—\FE
BEEHZEE THBEEISZBNE
SEAER —MEBBEPFEE
17 AL EWRAETARAG
MFERERS -

AEBEEFEBERITHALFERERL
TARZEFEMERNRA  $ESF
AZEBRITOEREPL - AEER
AERERRITHEMTERESGF
HURIE - B A F R o AR E X
“E-)\FEBEAFHET RN E
BRITEEM RS IRZIRITEM
Hi &P FREUT R R F X
&8 8 A AR R AR K g A - AR RE
MET2EREARRIT DM
RYHMEEBENEREE -

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(A) FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS PURSUANT

TO FRAMEWORK LOAN AGREEMENTS 2016,
FRAMEWORK LOAN AGREEMENTS 2019 AND
STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2018
(Continued)

On 29 November 2018, the Company renewed the Strategic
Cooperation Agreements with China Resources Bank of
Zhuhai Co., Ltd. (“CR Bank”, a subsidiary of CRI) and China
Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. (“CR Trust”, a subsidiary of
CRI) respectively for a term of three years from 1 January
2019 to 31 December 2021, pursuant to which CR Bank
has agreed to provide certain deposit and other commercial
banking services to the Group, and CR Trust has agreed to
provide certain financial services and products to the Group
(“Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2018"). CRI holds more
than 50% of the registered capital of CR Bank and CR Trust
respectively and thus CR Bank and CR Trust are connected
persons of the Company under the Listing Rules. The
connected transactions contemplated under the Strategic
Cooperation Agreements 2018 will be continuously carried
out in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group, thus constituting continuing connected transactions
of the Company under the Listing Rules.

The Group may open deposit accounts with the CR Bank
and freely deposit funds into or withdraw funds from the
CR Bank deposit accounts. The Group may also engage CR
Bank in other deposit businesses to deposit funds such as
call deposits. Any deposit made with CR Bank under the
Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2018 will bear the same
interest and be on the same terms and conditions as would
apply to a similar deposit made by any other customer of
the bank, which rate(s) are determined with reference to
that published by the People’s Bank of China or such other
rates more preferential to the Company.

#8085 (32 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(A) FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS PURSUANT

TO FRAMEWORK LOAN AGREEMENTS 2016,
FRAMEWORK LOAN AGREEMENTS 2019 AND
STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2018
(Continued)

The Group may use the commercial banking services of CR
Bank including but not limited to, credit services, agency
services, settlement services, cash management services,
financial consulting service, wealth management products
and other financial services and products as agreed by the
parties. Where the People’s Bank of China or the China
Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission of the
PRC provides for standard tariffs or charges in respect of
these services, such standard tariffs or charges will apply.
Reference will also be made to tariffs or charges imposed or
offered by other major commercial banks on similar services
in the same period. These services will be provided on terms
no less favourable than terms available to other independent
customers of CR Bank engaging similar services.

The Group may use financial services and products provided
by CR Trust including, but not limited to, cash management,
asset management, custodian trust loan services, equity
cooperation, shares nominee services, account receivable
factoring services, buying and resale consulting services,
debenture underwriting services and other trust and financial
services. Where the China Banking and Insurance Regulatory
Commission of the PRC provides for standard tariffs or
charges in respect of these services, such standard tariffs or
charges will apply. Reference will also be made to tariffs or
charges imposed or offered by other major trust companies
on similar services in the same period. These services will be
provided on terms no less favourable than terms available to
other independent customers of CR Trust engaging similar
services.
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(F)

FAEX S (&)
ER-ZZE-RFERERWZE -

—E-NFRERERBBER=-F
—N\FEESFE SR
16 B %= B ()

REFEAIEFE RN EBRITHESR
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(A) FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS PURSUANT

TO FRAMEWORK LOAN AGREEMENTS 2016,
FRAMEWORK LOAN AGREEMENTS 2019 AND
STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2018
(Continued)

The proposed maximum daily deposit amount, inclusive of
interest payable, which may be placed by the Group with
CR Bank is RMB1,200,000,000 for each of the three years
ending 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the maximum daily
aggregate amount of outstanding deposits placed by the
Group with CR Bank was approximately RMB550,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$625,000,000), and the
aggregate interest income arising from such deposits
was RMB4,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$4,000,000).

The proposed maximum daily amount of the financial
services and products provided by CR Bank and CR Trust
to the Group on an aggregated basis (for the avoidance of
doubt, excluding the daily deposit amount placed by the
Group with CR Bank) is RMB1,200,000,000 for each of the
three years ending 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group did not
use any financial services and products provided by CR Bank
or CR Trust, nor incurred any fees and commissions therefor.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 29 November 2018.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(B)

BEER SUPPLY FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

On 21 December 2017, China Resources Snow Breweries
Limited (“CRSB”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
together with its subsidiaries, “CRSB Group”), renewed the
beer supply framework agreement (“Beer Supply Framework
Agreement”) with Gain Land Limited (“Gain Land”, a
non wholly-owned subsidiary of CRH, together with its
subsidiaries, “Gain Land Group”) with a term commencing
from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020, pursuant to
which the CRSB Group agreed to supply its beer products to
the Gain Land Group from time to time for the purposes of
retail and distribution of the same by the Gain Land Group.
The transactions shall be conducted on normal commercial
terms and the terms, as a whole, shall be no more favourable
than those terms offered to independent third party
retailers and distributors of the CRSB Group in relation to
the supply of beer products of similar nature and quality.
It is estimated that the maximum amount of purchases to
be made by the Gain Land Group under the Beer Supply
Framework Agreement will not exceed RMB297,000,000,
RMB323,000,000 and RMB348,000,000 respectively for the
three years ending 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020 as
set out in the announcement issued by the Company on
21 December 2017. As Gain Land is an indirect subsidiary
of CRH which is in turn holds a controlling interest in the
Company, Gain Land is an associate of a connected person
of the Company under the Listing Rules. The connected
transactions contemplated under the Beer Supply Framework
Agreement will be continuously carried out in the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Group, thus constituting
continuing connected transactions of the Company under
the Listing Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 21 December 2017 and 23 January 2018.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(B) BEER SUPPLY FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the aggregate
amount of purchases made by the Gain Land Group
from the CRSB Group under the Beer Supply Framework
Agreement was approximately RMB79,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$91,000,000).

The aforementioned continuing connected transactions
contemplated under the Framework Loan Agreements 2016,
Framework Loan Agreements 2019, Strategic Cooperation
Agreements 2018 and the Beer Supply Framework Agreement
constituted non-exempt continuing connected transactions under
the Listing Rules and are therefore subject to annual review by
the Independent Non-executive Directors and the auditors of the
Company.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the directors
engaged the auditor of the Company to perform certain work
on continuing connected transactions of the Group in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has provided
a letter to the directors of the Company and confirmed that, for
the year ended 31 December 2019:

(@  nothing has come to its attention that causes it to believe
that the disclosed continuing connected transactions have
not been approved by the Company’s board of directors;

(b)  for transactions involving the provision of goods or services
by the Group, nothing has come to its attention that causes
it to believe that the transactions were not, in all material
respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the
Group;

(©)  nothing has come to its attention that causes it to believe
that the transactions were not entered into, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing such transactions;

#8085 (32 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(d)  with respect to the aggregate amount/daily balance of each
of the relevant continuing connected transactions, nothing
has come to its attention that causes it to believe that
such continuing connected transactions have exceeded the
annual cap/maximum daily balance as set and disclosed by
the Company.

The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company have
reviewed these transactions and confirmed that the continuing
connected transactions have been entered into:

(@ in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(©) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars regarding the principal subsidiaries at 31 December
2019 are set out on pages 185 to 189.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

DIRECTORS’
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, the subsidiaries of its parent company, or its parent
company a party to any arrangements to enable the directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its directors, as at the date of this
report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the
Company'’s issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the respective percentage of the aggregate
purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers and
the aggregate turnover attributable to the Group's five largest
customers was less than 30% of the Group's total value of
purchases and total turnover.

AUDITOR

Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers will retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and will not be re-appointed.

The Board has resolved to recommend the appointment of Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu as the new auditor of the Company following
the retirement of PricewaterhouseCoopers and such proposed
appointment is subject to the approval of the shareholders of the
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
JIAN YI
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 20 March 2020
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To the Members of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION
WHAT WE HAVE AUDITED

The consolidated financial statements of China Resources Beer
(Holdings) Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 115 to 184, which comprise:

. the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2019;

o the consolidated profit and loss account for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then
ended; and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

OUR OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2019, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

INDEPENDENCE

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

o Impairment assessment of goodwill

o Recognition of promotion and marketing expenses

o Impairment assessment of fixed assets and right-of-use assts
o Deferred tax on tax losses

#8085 (32 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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Key Audit Matter
BHE AR ET

Impairment assessment of goodwill

B2HARAYBREAMEI=(FIEEGT A - &
AAEEREIRMETNATEE] -

Refer to Note 3A “Critical Accounting Estimates —
estimated impairment of goodwill” and Note 18
“Goodwill” to the consolidated financial statements.

RZZE-NF+ZA=+—H > EBEEERBEERE
FERUERRERRE HEMDHEEBELA
R#9365A BITHIEE -

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had goodwill of
RMB9,365 million which arose from acquisitions of
businesses that are engaged in the manufacture, sales
and distribution of beer products in previous years and
current year.

HERAESIEERREDHNHERERELS
il BERIMROARE32808E T - R EL
ARMBSAZEET MBI ROARKES 24288 TT °
EEELETREN G RECAEELGERENTK
e TEAREELETLER AHERERE
TE ORI TR R |9 4T R 2R R R TR ORI B 2 1R a9 TE BRI A
BEEREREEMBERRMHAE -

The carrying amount of goodwill was allocated
to the relevant cash generating units (“CGU") in
various regional segments including eastern region of
RMB3,280 million, central region of RMB843 million
and southern region of RMB5,242 million. Management
conducted an impairment review by comparing the
recoverable amounts of the goodwill, estimated based
on value in use calculation, with their carrying amounts.
The key assumptions and judgements adopted by
management in the relevant discounted cash flow
forecasts included discount rates and expected revenue
growth rates beyond the five-year projection period.

HRRZE-NF+_A=+—HABERENNERE
B UWREERERERESNATREERSREKRH
B BMRAEE —EFERNESEE-

Because of the significance of the carrying amounts
of goodwill as at 31 December 2019, together with
the use of significant judgements in estimating the
recoverability of such carrying amounts, we have
identified this matter as a key audit matter.

¥ B il At
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

EMNEFNMEEEARETSIE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

EREEARER  RAYEREHERENG
MEHONTEREREEARNTTUATEF:

In addressing this matter, we have performed the
following procedures on the discounted cash flow
forecasts prepared by management that supported
the impairment assessment:

. BBTHERSBENEREEH ANTEELE
THE FERSRETENF A EERE A
BERLAHE:

o assessed the reasonableness of key input data
in the cash flow forecasts by comparing them
with the historical actual information and
management’s approved budget;

. 7% FLF T8RN HA 2 1% B T8 HA W A\ 38 = 3 ER AR Y
WIS TEH - LT EEM - EITHE:

o compared the expected revenue growth rates
beyond the five-year projection period to
relevant market expectations such as industry
information;

e WREERMUEBNHERNTSOHER I
HEHM AR QAT - KAR D KL
RenELBEUNTEX:

o tested the discount rates assigned to the CGUs
with reference to our understanding of the
business, compared to those used by other
similar companies, and our broader market
considerations;

e  FHAFKEEERAERANEREBEGER
ZEMRRANGTENERE: &

o evaluated the methodologies adopted and
checked the mathematical accuracy of the
value in use calculation used to estimate the
recoverable amounts; and

o HEEMGENERBARBENMBRETHR
RN - AR BEEBRPHO S IR EEET
Al E BT E -

o performed sensitivity analysis on the key input
data and assumptions to the impairment
assessment, to understand the impact of
reasonable alternative assumptions that would
have on the estimated recoverable amounts.
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CTTEE T

Key Audit Matter
RERERERANER

Recognition of promotion and marketing expenses

F2HGEVBRRME=(Q)IEEGH AT - R
HEHEERNAREBEIRME-THIES R EM
JETFRIA ] -

Refer to Note 3B “Critical Accounting Estimates
— contract liabilities on promotion and marketing
expenses” and Note 24 “Trade and Other Payables” to
the consolidated financial statements.

BHE-_T-NF+_RA=+—RH  EBESEEXREN
RENERER  DHRGABEaRTHEIAR/EE
BN (A 2R REXERD)XEERIHER - [
B R-ZE-AF+-_A=+—RELARENHEES
RIEME -

The Group had significant amounts of promotion and
marketing expenses which were recognised in the
consolidated profit and loss account as sales rebates
(accounted for as a reduction of revenue) or selling and
distribution expenses for the year ended 31 December
2019. Meanwhile, the related contract liabilities were
also significant as at 31 December 2019.

ERERBEERZ 0P E AU MRS HEERD
HEBEGERLERIREIHNLEE  fInBED
0moR THE SHERHEIEEERNAFEARE
TR

Management records contract liabilities on promotion
and marketing expenses according to the relevant terms
in the agreements with a large number of distributors
in various regions in Mainland China, taking into
consideration of factors such as the nature of the
promotion activities, such as volume rebates, allowances
and discounts.

BN EANMAEEARETSE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

FERIBEEMER  ZMRITTUATER:
In addressing this matter, we have performed the
following procedures:

. BREMTEEEREE At MERREHE
REBERVNARAGEAERBORE I
AR TR

o understood, evaluated and selectively
tested the key controls associated with
management’s process of identification,
estimation and recognition of promotion and
marketing expenses and contract liabilities;

. ERBMARTHN -  KMY EFE
WeRBEFERERET TR  BEFED
cRAEHRBERAFEERERAN SR E
TR UABEEREEMGGRIETFRESTF
ElR=E:

o as part of our risk assessment, evaluated the
outcome of the prior year contract liabilities
by comparing the historical contract liabilities
to the actual amounts utilised in the current
year to ascertain if management bias existed
in the estimation process;
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FAREFSEE EMNEFNMEEEARETSIE
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
REEREREROEL(E) 2
Recognition of promotion and marketing expenses (Continued) %
l

REHEB AR RIFHESHEE - BB ASHR REEEERAFEETHEAESESMED &
REEBRD - M—RITHEDMELNBBKAR RENEABE  SE2ZESEENER 5
A BEREELDHERATHNREIEEER - B REEHNMEEMEAIHO S - N
If the promotion activities are related to future sales BRLBECERITNARMOHEEHNE 5
volume, the related costs are treated as a reduction of ERAAEREENERSAREE X h
revenue while other costs related to general marketing based on input data prepared by management
activities are classified as selling and distribution in assessing whether the performance criteria
expenses. had been met, that included references to

the underlying contracts with distributors, -
HEMFHEARNERABENEREANUREES nature of promotion activities provided and
BERIKEERDHERN BT ERAES A - 5 amounts of expected expenses to be incurred, 3
ENRREENSEGFTRA - E-RILEANEE tested the key contract liabilities made by
[E {i 51 F0 3 o - management by comparing them with signed g
Determining and calculating the contract liabilities contracts with distributors and issued invoices; S
and accrual as at each period end and the respective and I
classification as either a reduction of revenue or selling %
and distribution expenses requires application of ABEDHEEFEIINERME LN ERENT =
various accounting principles relating to classification, EERFERAAREFEERANBANS -
measurement and recognition, and involved significant 3 o
management estimates and judgements. assessed and tested the recognition and

classification of expenses during the year by
HRFPERNDHEEHEERSL  REBEEZT-NAF+= comparing them with signed contracts with B
A=+t—BULFENARRREHEINEREANEGR distributors and issued invoices. ]‘
BE URERSBEMSIRNERHE  ZARRE 8
R ERRNEHEE-
Because of the large number of distributors involved %
and the significance of the contract liabilities on Q
promotion and marketing expenses for the year ended g
31 December 2019, together with the significant %

judgements involved in determining the amounts to be
recognised and classified, we have identified this matter
as a key audit matter.
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HREAEE EMNESHNMAEERAREFER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Key Audit Matter
EEEERERESENRETG

Impairment assessment of fixed assets and right-of-use assets

B2HAREVBREAMEI=(R)IEEZGs A - f EREEEMER  BHMARTTUTER:
AMETEERFERABEAERE] MET/SIEEE In addressing this matter, we have performed the
EIRWETEIEREEE]- following procedures:

Refer to Note 3C “Critical Accounting Estimates —
estimated impairment of fixed assets and right-of-use
asset”, Note 16 “Fixed Assets” and Note 17 “Right-of-
use Assets” to the consolidated financial statements.

RZE—-—NF+ZA=+—H  EZE5ENETEE
RERAEEEREHBEABERARKI4MBESET -
As at 31 December 2019, the Group had fixed assets
and right-of-use assets with an aggregate carrying
amount of RMB19,413 million.

MRBEGRELBUNEEFERETR  BEE
eEAGEEBARSRESELETRENGE - &
TEERERAEEENA RO BAREREENR
ARBERLEXRANKSE  -EHENRSRER
BRFERANTERNRARREXEREEEBRER
= ANH B -

If impairment indicators exist on the cash generating
units ("CGUs") to which the assets belong, management
conducted an impairment review by estimating the
recoverable amounts of the relevant CGUs, using the
higher of value in use calculation and fair value less
costs of disposal. The key assumptions and judgements
adopted by management in the relevant discounted cash
flow forecasts included but not limited to the discount
rates and revenue growth rates.

#8085 (32 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited

AAEEEHRERELEVEAKNEE
BERERAEEETEREFRO A EHE
SEREE

tested management’s assessment as to which
groups of fixed assets and right-of-use assets
have indicators of impairment, together with
management’s grouping of such assets in the
relevant CGUs;

HREBEREDSONRERELELNETE
BEMMMAEEE  AFBEREERENE
AREeREEN  BiE:

for those CGUs that included fixed assets and
right-of-use assets with impairment indicators,
tested the relevant discounted cash flow
forecasts prepared by management, including:

. BBENEREBNEREM] ENTE
HETHER FAEReRERATH
R ABREESAE:

o assessed the reasonableness of key
input data in the cash flow forecasts
by comparing them with historical
actual information and management's
approved budget;

. TR EA AR R EABR TS TROA
LT R B - EITH B

o compared the expected revenue growth
rates to relevant market expectations
such as industry information;



¥ S A% W Vol i
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

ARESEE EMNEANNEEEARENEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Key Audit Matter

BEEEERERESRENMEFMGE

]

Impairment assessment of fixed assets and right-of-use assets (Continued)
U
BEEEENTEER  HARKIO0OEETEHT BEBRMEEBNER  BEEBER &
BATFEENREERR MBI HEEE & ERE PRELBEUNERITENTISZNE 5
AEEAENREEZTKO S - S I B3 EC A AR LY R R HETT L B i
Based on the result of management’s assessment, an ORI B AT 5 S
impairment loss for the year of RMB700 million was tested the discount rates with reference h
recorded to reduce the carrying amounts of certain to our understanding of the business
fixed assets and right-of-use assets to their recoverable including the future business plans of
amounts. the relevant CGUs, comparisons to other
similar companies and broader market -
RN - E—NAF+_A=+—"HBERENETEE considerations; %
MERAEEERAEETEBEAARETRNETE =
BE) UWREGMAHEBEENATROER IR E AAEARE S ERAERANERER H
RAE  BRARLSER —EBRNEFITEE - HERZEMRMRANGENERENS: & f
Because of the significance of the carrying amounts of evaluated the methodologies adopted S
fixed assets and right-of-use assets as at 31 December and checked the mathematical accuracy -
2019 (including those with impairment indicators), of the value in use calculation used to %
together with the use of significant judgements in estimate the recoverable amounts; and %

estimating the recoverable amounts of the relevant
assets, we have identified this matter as a key audit
matter.

SR (8 7T il ) B8 52 80 A BUHR A0 1R 3R
TEHBEDT  UBEBERRPHEIE
SglBBHAATRDNeENTE -
performed sensitivity analysis on the
key input data and assumptions to the
impairment assessment, to understand
the impact of reasonable alternative
assumptions that would have on the
estimated recoverable amounts.
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HREAEE

Key Audit Matter
FRANBEEENEERSH

Deferred tax on tax losses

B2HGEVBRARNMT=(TIEESH AT -
EEPTS T EEMRER ] KM T (Z+REERIE ] -
Refer to Note 3D “Critical Accounting Estimates —
recognition of deferred tax assets” and Note 26
"Deferred Taxation” to the consolidated financial
statements.

RZE-—NhF+ZA=+—H X ESECZHHEM
BEEMEENELCHEBEEERARKSOEE T °
gboh - B E AR AR BB RERELERIEE
ENBEEBRRARE3I 2488 °

At 31 December 2019, the Group had recorded
deferred tax assets of RMB50 million attributable to
tax losses. In addition, there were tax losses relating
to certain subsidiaries in Mainland China of RMB3,254
million that were not recognised as deferred tax assets
as at the same date.

HPBRAELEHBREERTRIORN EIEE
B0 B R R R RSFE N R B 7R 580 e A B AR
IAEFRE LRI REIR -

The recognition of tax losses as deferred tax assets
depends on management’s assessment as to whether
the relevant subsidiaries would have adequate future
taxable profits to utilise these tax losses within a period
of five years from the year of occurrence.

FHERKEARMNBEEERH  EHRERBDHAEN
F % ET 3 & A R R H R R E A R R & R
HERTE o WEFE P REEBNE G R HE -
Determining the adequacy of future taxable profits
requires assessment of projection of both the amounts
and timing of future taxable profits which are based on
approved business plans or profit forecasts, and such
assessments involve significant management estimates
and judgements.

HRARZZE-NAEF+_A=+—HOHREHBKESE -
VA B2 HE 5 N AR T 52 B I RE T TR P % e B BB K M
BMRARER —EBARNETEE-

Because of the significance of the amounts of tax losses
as at 31 December 2019, together with the significant
judgements involved in determining the amounts of
respective recognised and unrecognised deferred tax,
we have identified this matter as a key audit matter.

BN EANMAUEEFAREASE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

FERIEEEEER  RARTTATERF:
In addressing this matter, we have performed the
following procedures:

. BARZER_ZE-—NF+_A=+—HB&
MHBRBER  SFEEENERARHKEER
B B B ) B2 75 G B R MR IS A R XXHE
8-

o tested and agreed the selected tax losses at
31 December 2019, including the respective
expiry periods, to the tax computations
and tax correspondences for the relevant
subsidiaries;

. KEREHENTEE BENERBEMIE
BRI TER - LLAAfTE AR - EITHE
BRI NI B AR SRRl ol 27k
B A BUR MR R (B 15 A 2R F& 4l 5 ) R A9 B
M eERaE:

o assessed the reasonableness of key input data
and underlying assumptions adopted in the
profit forecasts (including the timing of future
taxable profits) for the relevant subsidiaries
by comparing them with management'’s
approved budget, historical actual information
and relevant market expectations such as
industry information;

. ZEEBREBYHAMNMENMRANTENLE
M &

o checked the mathematical accuracy of
the forecasts profit or loss prepared by
management; and

. BERENRE R BFHARETLEER - K
R WY s M = =l NI 3 ko
HEEERAESR -

o tested management’s reconciliation of the
above profit forecasts to taxable profit
calculations by comparing with management’s
book-to-tax reconciliation schedules.

#8085 (32 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited



HitfF 2
BERRIEFAHEMEEAR - &f
BREFRANAERFE  ETEEKEER
BRERRBEMOZBEEERS -

iy

o

/]
Cl

o) o

=

BREGREMBERROBEELLNREE
EE  RATTEZFEMESERE
AN EES® °
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BEAMEEREEEA MG HK LR
EEGFBRETATHEABAFEERR
BREUFEEEAHERRANBER -

ERBMEATHOINE  UREMREA
HibEEFEERHERRL  RMFE
BEZFE-HET@E - BARBEM

WE e

ESRELZEEERGSMER
RARENEE

BERREZARERBEESHMAE
BB BN B RS EN KRB E(AF
FODREEEMFSNEAMHRE
VHERRBESEAUBRROFET
FHEHRRFRERMEMNEKNFER
RAFFFNABESER ©

ERBmAVEHRERAK EFAAN
i EXREFELLENEN XHEER
BATHEESBELERAANER U
RERBERLLERETER KIFES
BER BEEEBFRIFLELE  H7
BEHBERNBERATSR -
ERZEQAREEE ESENMH
WEB/IE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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BBIET R B AR S M IE SRR IR
MEE

RAMER RUGSHGERRERR
ERGEHEERRFERERMERNER
RS A BRIRE - W HABERM
BROKBMRE - ROBEREB(R
RGP FE405EmME T (FREE) WS
RMNBR BRI Z I AREREE M B
B o B AT & B AR R 4 A P9 R 10 fE ] E
ATE ERFEBEGES - ABRE
REKEWRE  BTHRBRB(ES
B EANBEITOE N EX S RHER
BROLTFE B AR BE IR o SRR AT LA
BAFREmaE NRABEHEME
BRERERALEYERANBERRE
P& R B A7 B BE S R R AT A I O B R
T RBMMERBLTREFEERX -

ERB(GEBEFERDETETNBIE
FoRFERTERHE  RETHEXRIE
SEREE o IR

o BIANEYh B PO HURF K BR BR T 8 B
RAEMBWMRFEENERRAD
BB - RETRMITEFEFARYE
ELRR  ANERTENEEDH
ERE FREMEEMNER -
MARRFARESRER BE &
BER EBRRL EBRAI
262 b Rt ReEE B EKEFM
BEEE AR R SRR
BERIMABERMEBNENHERR
AR

e  THEFFHEMOAIMIES X
RETEEWESFERF - BEMNLIFE
B BEEEAIEGNAERERE
R

s HEEEMRASTERENREML
MEH @t At MAEREENSIE
1 o

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 405
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

#8085 (32 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited



e HEESRAFELZSFERMIN
EUHFELAER - RIBEAERNESR
BEEERAFERSFAELBR
ERMEATHETE HMAES
HY BERENKELERNEL
EARE - MREMARBSFHEEK
THEEE  MBELEEZBERE
TREEREIEFRAMBRERT
MR E - BREEROBESE
ARMEERRFERETRL - R
PIMaEREERZEERER LA
WS EIRE - A - RRER
EERNAEEN BEEETEFSE

T AL
EE o

s HERAMBHMRNEBERIEZS
A HEBENMAR BREEE UK
HAEMBREAREPERRIZM
FIH-

e B BEEEANERXEXIDN
BHEEERER  HENERTR
FBOUBEHGRAVERRERE
R-ZMAEE BSEEFIWNA
M BEEM#IT RMAEFER
EEZHEMF -

REMEBEN  BAREXZESEART
FREMERE  BREZH EXEFF
BRE BRERMEFSHREB AR
2 | B E R E AR -

BMERAEZZEQRIEN  HARM
ENAEHBYIENERERBRENR
YERMFIBBEAESEMEABR/ER
ERMBLMENMEREMEMER N
REEROBRT  HENHHBERE -

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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EBEZZBESEBNFTAT  HME
EMLEFH ARG EBHEHRERROBTN
EREZR FAMBEKERENSEE I
PIEZBEBEPRMELERE  BIE
ERERIAFAHABRBEESLEH X
EBmERNBRT  WMREERHAE
BMRETEBRFHRERNARKR
BRAELENARNEG  HARETERE
WETBBZER -

HERBIZBENRENFESHEARA

EBRRE

BERKEZHMERHR
B =D

B —E-FF=A=-+H

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Hon Chong Heng.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 20 March 2020
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A A R
CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

HEZZ—NAF+=ZA=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

—E-AEF —ZE-N\F
2019 2018
M ARBBEERT AR®BEETT -
Notes RMB million RMB million
BER Turnover 6 33,190 31,867 -
EERA R Cost of sales (20,964) (20,669) z
E A Gross profit 12,226 11,198 i
H g A Other income 7 1,017 993 -
HERDHER Selling and distribution expenses (5.925) (5,570) é;
—RETHER General and administrative
expenses (5,046) (5,041)
B 7% Bk 7R Finance costs 8 (70) (48) R
5 %5t AT a8 A Profit before taxation 2,202 1,532
18 Taxation 13 (892) (547)
REEBH Profit for the year 9 1,310 985 %
2 E R Attributable to: \:
PN 3 Shareholders of the Company 1,312 977 3
FE 12 ) ik R R = Non-controlling interests () 8 2
1,310 985 z
BREN Earnings per share 15 §
£ A Basic RMBO0.40 RMB0.30 2
s Diluted RMBO0.40 RMBO0.30

IDNVNYIAOD ILVHOLHOD HLE KT
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A o 2 T G Ak R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HEZZ—NAF+=ZA=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

—E-hF —E-NFE
2019 2018
ARBEERT AREBBAER
RMB million RMB million
AREERF Profit for the year 1,310 985
Hiazmug2s (ERH) : Other comprehensive income/
(expenses):
BERTESEEERZ2ER: Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
BINE T EEREZR Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations 1 (31)
AEEHMEMEWE, (ERH): Other comprehensive income/
(3K (expenses) for the year,
net of tax 1 (31)
AEFEETHKRIEE Total comprehensive income for
the year 1,311 954
S ER: Attributable to:
A A IR R Shareholders of the Company 1,313 946
FE 5 ) AR R A = Non-controlling interests (2) 8
1,311 954

116 #8085 (32 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited



57 WO ALK
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

R-Z—AFE+=HA=+—H As at 31 December 2019

—E-NF —ZT-N\F
2019 2018
Mz AEBEERT AREKHEET -
Notes RMB million RMB million
ERBEE Non-current assets -
& E & & Fixed assets &
-FBEEAN LR - Interests in leasehold land 5
held for own use 16 - 3,141 f
- HyE - MERF - Other property, plant and 3
equipment 16 15,818 16,491 -
CREAE Right-of-use assets 17 3,595 -
Bk Goodwill 18 9,365 8,390
HthmEEE Other intangible assets 19 384 124
UWARBETEBEES  Financal assets at fair value -
AAEMAEAWREHEE  through other comprehensive -
BE income 20 9 9 3
TET R IE Prepayments 21 113 240 %
FEEFIBE E Deferred taxation assets 26 2,532 2,426 g
31,816 30,821 =
REBEE Current assets %
TE Stocks 22 6,018 5,379 5
8 5 N H e UK IR Trade and other receivables 23 1,000 906 §
Al R B 7 18 Taxation recoverable 349 240
EEMRIRITER Pledged bank deposits 68 67
BeRIREEED Cash and cash equivalents 2,340 1,858
9,775 8,450 R
hE B Current liabilities %
5k EMENRIE Trade and other payables 24 (19,061) (17,637) 5
REE R Short term loans 25 (511) (704) %
HEBE Lease liabilities (90) - g
FEAS B IR Taxation payable (194) (29) B
(19,856) (18,370) %
REBAEZREE Net current liabilities (10,081) (9,920) %
BEERREBAEE Total assets less current -
liabilities 21,735 20,901
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R-ZZF—AFE+=H=+—H As at 31 December 2019

—®-7% -—ET-NF
2019 2018
M ARBBEERT AR®BEETT
Notes RMB million RMB million
EREEE Non-current liabilities
RHEXR Long term loans 25 - 9)
HEBE Lease liabilities (124) -
EEHIBBEE Deferred taxation liabilities 26 (678) (399)
EMIERESEME Other non-current liabilities 27 (1,206) (1,583)
(2,008) (1,991)
19,727 18,910
BARGEE Capital and reserves
fig 72 Share capital 28 14,090 14,090
& Reserves 5,580 4,758
AREIRRELE RS Equity attributable to
shareholders of the
Company 19,670 18,848
i HIRRERS Non-controlling interests 57 62
MRS Total equity 19,727 18,910
ffi5 JIAN YI R EE LAI PO SING, TOMAKIN

2 & Director
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B 47 Bl 4T B AR
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

HEZZ—NAF+=ZA=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

—F-AF —E-N\F
2019 2018
M ARBBEERT AR®BEETT
Notes RMB million RMB million
BREFTB2REFE Cash flows from operating
activities
REMGEZRE Cash generated from
operations 29A 4,804 4,815
A H B P BT A5 A Chinese Mainland income tax
paid (944) (927)
REFENMAAEH Chinese Mainland income tax
refunded 238 46
RETEB2HELHTANZFEE Net cash from operating
activities 4,098 3,934
RETBHZHRESRE Cash flows from investing
activities
HEEEE EMGERIE Proceeds from disposal of fixed
assets 688 394
U A B Interest received 107 110
% BT B Receipt of government grants 144 111
WEE T —FEE QA Repayment of loan to a holding
B company 1,400 -
BT —HSRFHER Loan to a holding company (1,400) -
BABEEE Purchase of fixed assets (1,490) (1,641)
BB B AR/ 25 CRiBk  Acquisition of subsidiaries/
WS R IR ® businesses (net of cash and
£1MH) cash equivalents acquired) 298 (2,216) -
EEBRITETFEY Changes in pledged bank
deposits (1) 12
REEFHEAZERE Net cash used in investing
activities (2,768) (1,014)
MEITHZ2RERE Cash flows from financing
activities
2 E Dividends paid (487) (519)
BB ARIEZEGARF  Dividends paid to non-
2R E controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries (7) (10)
BT F B Interest paid (65) (63)
HMENRZ2ESEHD Principal elements of lease
payments 29C (78) -
BERTKEMEBEEMS Proceeds from bank and other
KIE borrowings 29C 1,875 867
BERTRHEMEE Repayment of bank and other
borrowings 29C (2,116) (3,729)
BMEETHERAZERS Net cash used in financing
activities (878) (3,454)

—ZT—NF F3R / Annual Report 2019

119



120

HEZZ—NAF+=ZA=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

—E-hF —E-NFE
2019 2018
ARBBEERT ARBEER
RMB million RMB million
BRERMESEEIEM,  Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
(R &) cash equivalents 452 (534)
EEFHEBE2XE Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 30 31
MN—A—RAZzHE&KHEE  Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January
=g 1,858 2,361
W+=-—H=+—H2zHB2£ K Cash and cash equivalents as at
HeZEE 31 December 2,340 1,858
RERRLEEBEHEH 2D Analysis of the balances of cash and
cash equivalents
Re RRITHEF Cash and bank balances 1,340 858
H A #R1T7F K Other deposits with banks 1,000 1,000
2,340 1,858
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Bk 43 JBe ACRE 2 58 ) ok
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HEZZ—NAF+=ZA=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

4
Y $
Non- L $4 -
AR REGER controlling Total
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company interests equity T;
R fERE  EXfRE  REER z
Share  Valuation  Exchange  Retained it 5
capital reserve reserve profits Total i
ARBEEL ARMEER ARMEER ARMEER ARWEER ARKEER AR¥EER 8
RMB million  RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million  RMB million ~ RMB million h
RZE-N5-A-R As at 1 January 2019 14,090 3 (2,348) 7103 18,848 62 18,910
BNEBIERER Exchange differences
on translating foreign
operations - - 1 - 1 = 1 @
FERET Profit for the year - - - 1312 1312 ) 1310 -
RERREMELE Total comprehensive income =
for the year - - 1 1312 1313 @ 1311 a
HEFARS: Transactions with owners; g
BENBLRER Purchases of additional interest 2
in subsidiaries - - - (@) (@ 4 = G
REME+m) Dividends (Note 14) = = = (487) (487) 1) (494) §
HEEEARHEE Total transactions with owners - - - (491) (491) B) (494) a
RZF-NETZA=T—R Asat 31 December 2019 14,090 3 (2,347) 7,924 19,670 57 19727
j
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B 4 B SO 35 5 90 e
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HEZZ—NAF+=ZA=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

FEH
hRER
Non- BER
KREARREGER controling Total
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company interests equity
5Lt
HEMERG
Shares held
A& hERE EREE  for restricted REAEH
Share Valuation Exchange incentive Retained B
capital reserve reserve  award scheme profits Total
AREEER ARMEEL ARMEERL AREAER AREEET ARYBEER AREEER AREEER
RMB milion ~ RMB milion ~ RMB milion ~ RMB milion ~ RMB milion ~ RMB milion ~ RMB million  RMB million
RZE-\§-f-A As at 1 January 2018 14,090 3 2317) (19 6,064 18,421 64 18,485
BB ERER Exchange differences
on translating foreign
operations - - (31 - - (31) - (31
EEEET Profit for the year - - - - 977 977 8 985
TEERAUEEE Total comprehensive income
for the year - - (31) - 977 946 8 954
E 1 Transfer - - - 19 (19 - - -
BEEARS: Transactions with owners:
REM T m) Dividends (Note 14) - - - - (519) (519) (10 (529)
AEBEARSLE Total transactions with owners - - - - (519) (519) (10) (529)
RZE-\F+ZA=F—H Asat 31 December 2018 14,090 3 (2,348) - 7103 18,848 62 18,910
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL
ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

The Company is a public company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability and its shares are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The directors regard the ultimate holding
company to be China Resources Company Limited (“CRC"),
a company established in the Chinese Mainland. The address
of the registered office and principal place of business of
the Company is 39/F, China Resources Building, 26 Harbour
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing, sales
and distribution of beer products. The principal activity of
the Company is investment holding. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are shown on pages 185 to 189.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019 have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. Save
as specified in the principal accounting policies as set out
in Note 2, the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention.

In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).

As set out in Note 29B, the Group acquired Heineken N.V.'s
("Heineken Group”) operations in Mainland China, Hong
Kong and Macau on 29 April 2019. The provisional goodwill
arising from the acquisition was recognised.

= — W F R / Annual Report 2019

123

dNOY¥D FHL LNOoaVvY

.
&

6 b 2

SYIATOHIYVHS 4NO OL ¥ ¥

HEET

IDNVNYIAOD ILVHOdHOD

g
L
#
off
Al
2
>
2
[a]
>
-
4]
>
=
m
=
m
2
=
w




124

T () SRARFFER 53T -

—REIE (@)
HAEAKN
DUE R FERE

BEGHMAE([FESFOAE])
M TZEH_FE-NF-A—HE
MRFEREERNETEGTEAN(E
BEFEADRBBY RS ER
(IBFEMHRELED]D 2 ER -
ER] - RAEEAMBERFERE - K
FEAR - RNREBEERAT THIHER] -
Ea] ~ MA LR L E KT -

ERGENE 9% HELE BALEFE

(f£3T)
BEQERERY AHECERALELED
(fB31) RHER
EAMBRERD  HBREER2015-2017
(f2T) BHNFENHE
ERABKREEN EBAREZRAMER
F9%:(153]) 52
EADKRERY HE
F16%
EAERYBRE MEHEECTRTY
REZEgRE)
#2235

RAMWEER 5] WA EA
HEFREBEHARER DES S
MRAEEAHEREREE MK
MRERBERERZE - T
HAEBYHmMESERE 165 [HE
BRSO

1.

GENERAL (Continued)

D (i) ADOPTION OF NEW STANDARD, AMENDMENTS,

IMPROVEMENTS TO EXISTING STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATION

The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

("HKICPA") has issued a number of new standard,

amendments, improvements to existing standards and

interpretation on Hong Kong Accounting Standards

("HKAS") and Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

("HKFRS") that are effective for the financial year beginning

1 January 2019. In the current year, the Group has adopted

the following standard, amendments, improvements to

existing standards and interpretation.

HKAS 19 (Amendment)  Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Long-term Interests in an Associate or
Joint Venture

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle

Prepayment Features with Negative

HKAS 28 (Amendment)

HKFRSs (Amendment)

HKFRS 9 (Amendment)

Compensation
HKFRS 16 Leases
HK(IFRIC) 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax

Treatments

The adoption of the standard, amendments, improvements
to existing standards and interpretation has had no material
effect on the results or consolidated financial positions of the
Group for the current and prior accounting periods, except
for HKFRS 16 “Leases” as set out below.
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1.

GENERAL (Continued)

D (i) ADOPTION OF NEW STANDARD, AMENDMENTS,

IMPROVEMENTS TO EXISTING STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATION (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 “Leases” from 1 January
2019, which has resulted in changes in accounting policies
and adjustments to the amounts recognised in the financial
information. In accordance with the transition provisions
in HKFRS 16, the Group has adopted the modified
retrospective approach for transition to the new leases
standard. The adjustments arising from the new rules are
therefore not reflected in the consolidated balance sheet as
at 31 December 2018, but are recognised in the opening
consolidated balance sheet on 1 January 2019.

On adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group recognised lease
liabilities in relation to leases which had previously been
classified as ‘operating leases’ under the principles of HKAS
17 "Leases”. These liabilities were measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the
lessees’ incremental borrowing rate as of 1 January 2019.
The weighted average lessees’ incremental borrowing rate
applied to the lease liabilities on 1 January 2019 was around
4%.

For leases previously classified as finance leases, the Group
recognised the carrying amount of the lease assets and lease
liabilities (which were classified as short term loans and long
term loans in the last financial year according to HKAS 17)
immediately before transition as the carrying amount of the
right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities at the date of
initial application. The measurement principles of HKFRS 16
are only applied from 1 January 2019. The remeasurements
to the lease liabilities were recognised as adjustments to
the related right-of-use assets immediately after the date of
initial application.
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1.

GENERAL (Continued)

D (i) ADOPTION OF NEW STANDARD, AMENDMENTS,

IMPROVEMENTS TO EXISTING STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATION (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

N
2019
ARBBEER
RMB million

RZZE-N\FE+-A=+—H
BEE 2 EEBA AR
REXRERBEEERF KGR

Operating lease commitments disclosed

as at 31 December 2018 120
Discounted using the lessees’ incremental

borrowing rate of at the date of initial

application (16)
m:-M—E-—NF+=-A=+—H Add: finance lease liabilities recognised
BRI BERNEE as at 31 December 2018 12
R=-F-hF—HA—HERAzZHE Lease liabilities recognised as at
afE 1 January 2019 116
Hep: Of which are:
mEHEEAG Current lease liabilities 38
FEMEEHEER Non-current lease liabilities 78
116

EHREEENAHEAEMERNS
M8 URZZE-N\FE+-A=
t-ARAEERBERTHEMRRA
B ME A B BN R ER R
TEBHEAE NEXERE  RE
FUHEAREEMOABRNEER

1= A
E&H4 -

HRANERAEEELFIFERNL
Mg BFRHEMAER

RE B MG wELAE165RR
MERBEEEENFIEARMN LI
BEctE_T—-NF—H—-HE&ED
BEEREEE -

The right-of-use assets were measured at the amount equal
to the lease liabilities, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid
or accrued lease payments relating to the leases recognised
in the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2018.
There were no onerous lease contracts that would have
required an adjustment to the right-of-use assets at the date
of initial application.

The recognised right-of-use assets relate to interests in
leasehold land for own use, buildings and others.

Interests in leasehold land held for own use which were
previously in fixed assets were reclassified to right-of-use
assets as at 1 January 2019 after adoption of HKFRS 16.
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1. GENERAL (Continued)

D (i) ADOPTION OF NEW STANDARD, AMENDMENTS,
IMPROVEMENTS TO EXISTING STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATION (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

The adjustments on the consolidated balance sheet as at 1
January 2019 are summarised below:

—E-N\E§
+=-A=+-—H RAEEHE —E-NE
31 December & EE —B—H
2018 H1eHzHE 1 January
RE5R Effect of 2019
As originally adoption of g
presented HKFRS 16 Restated
GREEARER Consolidated ARBEEBETLT ARBEET AREKHEER
(& 8%) balance sheet (extract) RMB million RMB million RMB million
BTFEE - #H1EBHH  Fixed assets — Interests in leasehold
THER land held for own use 3,141 (3,141) -
EEEE-M%  #2  Fixed assets — property, plant and
B equipment 16,491 (8) 16,483
FREEE Right-of-use assets - 3,259 3,259
E5 L EMEWFIE  Trade and other receivables 906 (6) 900
REBUEEAR Current lease liabilities - (38) (38)
ERBHEREEE Non-current lease liabilities - (78) (78)
REER Short term loans (704) 3 (701)
RHER Long term loans 9) 9 -

BRERE BV REERIFE165
AEBRBIMTEAAFOERE
HIA:

- H-EAAEMUEHENTEES
ERE—FREX

- BRZZTE-NAF—A—HRER
HERIN+-EANERA
WA REHEE

AEBTTEBETEERERBAEN
Bt —HANEREG2AME - k-
BRBEBZARLZAHK A&
Bk ERBEESIEINFI7TH R
ZE(BERYBREREZESR
B)FAFRIRAE-—RLHEREERE
—IRMEE P ER R R o

A

I

In applying HKFRS 16 for the first time, the Group has
used the following practical expedients permitted by the
standard:

- the use of a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases
with reasonably similar characteristics

- the accounting for operating leases with a remaining
lease term of less than 12 months as at 1 January
2019 as short-term leases

The Group has also elected not to reassess whether
a contract is, or contains a lease at the date of initial
application. Instead, for contracts entered into before
the transition date the Group relied on its assessment
made applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC) — Interpretation 4
“Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease”.
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1.

GENERAL (Continued)

D (i) ADOPTION OF NEW STANDARD, AMENDMENTS,

IMPROVEMENTS TO EXISTING STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATION (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

The Group leases various interests in leasehold land held for
own use, buildings and others. Rental contracts for buildings
and others are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to
14 years but may have extension options. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range
of different terms and conditions.

In determining the lease term, management considers all
facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to
exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination
option. Extension options (or periods after termination
options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is
reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated).

For leases of interests in leasehold land held for own use,
buildings and others, the following factors are normally the
most relevant:

- If there are significant penalties to not extend (or
terminate), the Group is typically reasonably certain to
extend (or not terminate).

- If any leasehold improvements are expected to have
a significant remaining value, the Group is typically
reasonably certain to extend (or not terminate).

- Otherwise, the Group considers other factors including
historical lease durations and the costs and business
disruption required to replace the leased asset.

Most extension options in interests in leasehold land held for
own use, buildings and others leases have not been included
in the lease liabilities, because the Group could replace the
assets without significant cost or business disruption.
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GENERAL (Continued)

D(ii) ACCOUNTING STANDARD, AMENDMENTS TO

EXISTING STANDARDS AND FRAMEWORK THAT
ARE NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The Group has not early applied the following new standard,
amendments to existing standards and framework that have
been issued but are not yet effective.

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
(Amendments)

Definition of Material'

Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7 and
HKFRS 9 (Amendments)

Revised Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting'
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform!

HKFRS 3 (Amendment) Definition of a Business'

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(Amendments)

Sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its
associate or joint venture?

Notes:
! Effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020.
2 Effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

3 To be determined.

These standard, amendments to existing standards and
framework are not expected to have a material impact on
the entity in the current or future reporting periods and on
foreseeable future transactions.

= — W F R / Annual Report 2019

129

]

dNOYD FHL LNOSY (8 3% ¥ 1

peics

XK 68 B

SYIATOHIYVHS ¥NO OL ¥

IDNVNYIAOD ILVHOLHOD HLE KT

el
k-
-
off
Al
2
>
z
[a]
>
-
1%]
=
>
=
m
=
m
2
=
w




FEFEFEE

mAaAR
AEBZEAVHHRE BEARA
REzHERLEEZHBARZH
B#RE  RERNKBREEZNEB
RAZEEHEEREBAYE
AREEREERBAHEGRIERM
E)MAGHE - MESEARIZER
RXHREHRENEAARSEHH -

R-F—FF—A—HZH &M
RAEMB AR e E W BH B AR
MR IE A — B BB EE A
BRZEBEEZRN TRER - 3L
LB ARER  TELEMNER
A8 ARRRETZHEA
Al - B E R EMIEF
BENRAERZEZRESREGER
KPR o

-_ZFE-—TF-—H—HE A&H
TN =INCIE L ok ¥
2 HIERERS  T8FE
BERER - BB AR ES E
A—ERX5 - FHFEMIBRMmE
K AEBERIERAEEE &
BEMFEFIEREaNIRESHE -
EAHAMBAR ZREER LR
KEGRERZAREBEER M
EENRGNBREFABERRT

EEBAFZVISEHRET A M
BEZHEADAZR A5EE
HRIMATKREFTREZIERZRE
HEe®E Rt EHEAR  SERE
RIRBEHFENSTEMB IR 23
B EPHECHIANY E A
LEERBIEENBE - st EHE
REBEET_EAZER -

™~

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Group include
the financial statements of the Company and of all its
direct and indirect subsidiaries. The results of subsidiaries
acquired or disposed of during the year are included from
the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of
disposal, as appropriate. All material intra-group transactions
and balances have been eliminated on consolidation.

Prior to 1 January 2010, increases in interests in existing
subsidiaries were treated in the same manner as the
acquisition of subsidiaries, with goodwill or a bargain
purchase gain being recognised where appropriate. For
decreases in interests in subsidiaries, regardless of whether
the disposals would result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries, the difference between the consideration
received and the carrying amount of the share of net assets
disposed of was recognised in the consolidated profit and
loss account.

From 1 January 2010 onward, changes in the Group's
ownership interests in existing subsidiaries that do not
involve a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, with no impact on goodwill or profit or loss.
When control of subsidiary is lost as a result of a transaction,
event or other circumstance, the Group derecognises all
assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests at their
carrying amount. Any retained interest in the former
subsidiary is recognised at its fair value at the date the
control is lost, with the gain or loss arising recognised in
the consolidated profit and loss account.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete.
The Group retrospectively adjusts the provisional amounts
recognised and also recognises additional assets or liabilities
during the measurement period, based on new information
obtained about the facts and circumstances that existed as
of the acquisition date. The measurement period ends on
twelves months from the date of the acquisition.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
SUBSIDIARIES

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases. In the Company’s balance
sheet, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any
impairment loss. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and
receivable.

GOODWILL

Goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary prior to 1
January 2010 represents the excess of the cost of acquisition
over the Group's interest in the fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired
subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill arising on
acquisition of a subsidiary on or after 1 January 2010
represents the excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree, and the fair value of the previously held
equity interest in the acquiree over the net fair value of
the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.
Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting date and
whenever there is an indication that the cash generating
unit to which the goodwill relates may be impaired. Such
goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. An impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in the
consolidated profit and loss account and is not reversed in a
subsequent period. On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary,
the attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is included
in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on
disposal.
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(a)

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
GOODWILL (Continued)

Prior to 1 January 2010, a discount on acquisition arising on
an acquisition of a subsidiary represents the excess of the
Group's interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired subsidiary
at the date of acquisition over the cost of acquisition. Gain
on bargain purchase arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary
on or after 1 January 2010 represents the excess of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed over the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the fair value of the previously held equity
interest in the acquiree. Discount on acquisition or gain on
bargain purchase arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary is
recognised immediately in the consolidated profit and loss
account.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Classification and measurement of financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

- financial assets carried at amortised cost;
- financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income ("FVOCI”); and

- financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
("FVPL").

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not
at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued)

Classification and measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Debt instruments

Classification is driven by the Group’s business model for
managing the debt instrument and the debt instrument’s
contractual cash flow characteristics.

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its
debt instruments:

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
flows where those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost.
Interest income from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in
profit or loss and presented in other income together with
foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are
presented as separate line item in the consolidated profit
and loss account.

Financial assets at FVOCI

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows
and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are
taken through other comprehensive income, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income
and foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognised
in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised,
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss and recognised in other income. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in finance income using
the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented in other income and impairment
expenses are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated profit and loss account.
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(i)

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued)

Classification and measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)
Financial assets at FVPL

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost
or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a
debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in profit or loss and presented net within other
income in the period in which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at
fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected to
present fair value gains and losses on equity investments
in other comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss
following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends
from such investments continue to be recognised in profit
or loss as other income when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are
recognised in other income in the consolidated profit and
loss account as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal
of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at
FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes in
fair value.
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(b)
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued)

Classification and measurement of financial
liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
initially measured at fair value. At each balance sheet date
subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised directly in the consolidated
profit and loss account in the period in which they arise.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at
amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach to providing for expected credit losses prescribed
by HKFRS 9. Management considers the debtors do not
contain a significant financing component. Thus, the
impairment provision recognised during the year was equal
to the lifetime expected losses.

Impairment on other receivables are measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit
losses, depending on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant
increase in credit risk of other receivable have occurred since
initial recognition, the impairment is measured as lifetime
expected credit losses.
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(d)

(a)

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued)
Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the financial assets expire or, the financial
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial assets. On derecognition of a financial asset in
its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in
the consolidated profit and loss account.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in the consolidated profit and loss
account.

FIXED ASSETS
Construction in progress

Property, plant and equipment in the course of construction
for production or administrative purposes, are carried at cost
less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Cost includes all
construction expenditure, professional fees, borrowing costs
capitalised and other relevant expenses directly attributable
to such projects.

No provision for depreciation is made on construction
in progress until such time when construction work is
complete and the costs of construction are transferred to
the appropriate category of fixed assets when available for
use.
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(b)
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FIXED ASSETS (Continued)
Other property, plant and equipment

Fixed assets other than construction in progress are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation of other fixed assets is provided to write off the
cost of the assets over their estimated useful lives and after
taking into account their estimated residual values, using
the straight line method. The residual values and useful lives
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each balance
sheet date. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

— Buildings held for own use
— Leasehold improvements

20 to 40 years

3 to 10 years or over the
unexpired term of lease,
whichever is shorter

5 to 25 years

3 to 10 years

5 to 6 years

— Plant and machinery
— Furniture and equipment
— Motor vehicles

Impairment of fixed assets

At each balance sheet date, both internal and external
sources of information are considered to assess whether
there is any indication that fixed asset are impaired. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated and where relevant, an impairment loss is
recognised to reduce the asset to its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (CGUs).
Such impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated
profit and loss account.

The calculation of recoverable amounts are using cash flow
forecast projections based on financial budgets approved
by management, cash flows covering five-year period are
extrapolated using the key assumptions including expected
revenue growth rates and a discount rate. A reasonably
possible change in a key assumption would not cause the
recoverable amount to fall below the carrying amount of
the respective CGU.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FIXED ASSETS (Continued)
Impairment of fixed assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the assets is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount. Such reversal of
impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to the consolidated profit and loss account in the
year in which the reversals are recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal or retirement of an item
of fixed asset is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account.

LEASES

The Group has changed its accounting policy for leases
where the Group is the lessee. The impact of the change
in accounting policy is described in note 1D(i).

Until 2018, leases were classified as either finance or
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases
were charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the period of the leases.

From 1 January 2019, leases are recognised as right-of-use
assets and corresponding liabilities at the date at which the
leased assets are available for the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
LEASES (Continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from leases are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the following lease payments:

- fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable

- variable lease payments that are based on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date

- amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees

- the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

- payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising that option.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period. The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be determined,
the lessees’ incremental borrowing rate is used, being the
rate that the lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a similar
economic environment with similar terms and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

- where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

- the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liabilities

- any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received

- any initial direct costs, and

- restoration costs
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
LEASES (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter
of the assets’ useful lives and the lease terms on a straight-
line basis.

The impairment of right-of-use assets is same as the
impairment of fixed assets stated in Note 2E(c).

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss are insignificant. Short-term leases
are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

At initial recognition, other intangible assets acquired
separately and from business combinations are recognised at
cost and at fair value respectively. After initial recognition,
other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are carried
at cost less subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
Other intangible assets with finite useful lives are stated at
cost and are amortised on the straight line method over
their useful lives with amortisation commences when the
asset is available for use. The estimated useful lives of other
intangible assets with finite useful lives are as follows:

Brand names
Trademarks rights

10 to 20 years
7.5 years

Other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
assessed for impairment at each balance sheet date by
comparing their carrying amounts with their recoverable
amounts. Other intangible assets with finite useful lives are
assessed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. Where impairment exists, an impairment
loss is charged to the consolidated profit and loss account
to reduce the assets to their recoverable amount. Where
an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the assets is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount. Such reversal of impairment loss
is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
in prior years.
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(i)

(iii)

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXATION
Current taxation

The current taxation charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period in the countries where the
Company’s subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation is provided in full on temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements, with limited exceptions. Deferred taxation assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the temporary
difference can be utilised. Deferred taxation is calculated at
the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled.

Deferred taxation is provided on temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries and associated
companies, except for deferred taxation liability where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference
is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Offsetting

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current taxation assets
against current taxation liabilities and when the deferred
taxation assets and liabilities relate to taxation levied by
the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
STOCKS

Stocks which comprise raw materials, consumables and
packing materials, work-in-progress and finished goods are
stated at the lower of cost (Include those costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of finished goods. Purchase
rebates are deducted in determining the cost of purchase)
and net realisable value or amortised into expense based
upon periods of usage.

Cost of work-in-progress and finished goods comprise direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
production overheads.

Cost is determined on the weighted average method.

Net realisable value is determined as the estimated net
selling price less all further costs of production and the
related costs of marketing, selling and distribution.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When
the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as
income over the periods necessary to match the grant
on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to
compensate. Where the grant relates to an asset, the
fair value is credited to a deferred income account and is
released to the consolidated profit and loss account over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset.

RECOGNITION OF REVENUE

Revenue is recognised based on the price specified in the
contract, net of the estimated volume rebates, allowances,
discounts, etc. Sales of goods (i.e. beer products are
recognised when the control of the goods is transferred to
the customer). Depending on the terms of the contract and
the laws that apply to the contract, control of the goods
may transfer over time or at a point in time.

For sales contracts which the control of the goods is
transferred at a point in time, revenue is recognised when
the control of the goods is transferred to the customer.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
RECOGNITION OF REVENUE (Continued)

Control of the goods is transferred over time if the Group's
performance:

- provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer; or

- creates and enhances the goods that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

- does not create the goods with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at
a point in time when the customer obtains control of the
goods.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effect of a
financing component if it is significant.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial
liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability is
initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the higher
of:

- the amount determined in accordance with the
expected credit loss model under HKFRS 9; and

- the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income
recognised in accordance with the principles of HKFRS
15.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs are accounted for on the accrual basis and
charged to the consolidated profit and loss account in the
year incurred, except for costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of that assets, until such
time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.

Fees paid for the arrangement of syndicated loan facilities
and debt securities are deferred, and are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE

In preparing the consolidated financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than
the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in its functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account in the
period in which they arise, except for exchange differences
arising on a monetary item that forms part of the Group’s
net investment in a foreign operation, in which case, such
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income in the consolidated financial statements. Exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised
directly in other comprehensive income.

#8085 (32 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FOREIGN EXCHANGE (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Renminbi) at the rate of exchange prevailing
at the balance sheet date, and their income and expenses
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the Group’s exchange reserve. Such
exchange differences are recognised in the consolidated
profit and loss account in the period which the foreign
operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on
or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities
of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in the translation reserve.

DIVIDEND INCOME

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive
payment is established.

INTEREST INCOME

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method.

CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Upon entering into a contract with a customer with the
scope of HKFRS 15, the Group obtains rights to receive
consideration from the customer and assumes performance
obligations to transfer goods or provide services to the
customer. The combination of those rights and performance
obligations gives rise to a net asset or a net liability
depending on the relationship between the remaining
rights and the performance obligations. Contract assets are
recognised if the measure of the remaining rights exceeds
the measure of the remaining performance obligations.
Conversely, contract liabilities are recognised if the measure
of the remaining performance obligations exceeds the
measure of the remaining rights.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
ESTIMATED IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated
in Note 2C. The Group conducted an impairment review
by comparing the recoverable amounts of the goodwill,
estimated based on value in use calculation, with their
carrying amounts. The key assumptions and judgements
adopted by management in the relevant discounted cash
flow forecasts included discount rates and expected revenue
growth rates beyond the five-year projection period.
Details of the key assumptions are disclosed in Note 18. In
performing this impairment review, the Group estimated
the present value of future cash flows of the CGUs based
on the conditions as at 31 December 2019. In the goodwill
impairment test to be performed in 2020, the COVID-19
outbreak and its impact on the present value of estimated
future cash flows of the CGUs will be considered. Up to the
date on which this set of consolidated financial statements
were authorised for issue, the Group is still in the process of
assessing the impacts of the COVID-19 on the performance
of the relevant CGUs and is currently unable to estimate the
quantitative impacts to the Group.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES ON PROMOTION AND
MARKETING EXPENSES

Management records contract liabilities on promotion and
marketing expenses according to the relevant terms in the
agreements with a large number of distributors in various
regions in Mainland China, taking into consideration of the
nature of the promotion activities such as volume rebates,
allowances, discounts, etc. If the promotion activities are
related to future sales volume, the related costs are treated
as a reduction of revenue while other costs related to
general marketing activities are classified as selling and
distribution expenses. Determining and calculating the
contract liabilities and accrual as at period ends and the
respective classification as either a reduction of revenue
or selling and distribution expenses requires application
of various accounting principles relating to classification,
measurement and recognition, which involved significant
management estimates and judgements. The estimation
basis is reviewed on an on going basis and revised where
appropriate.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)

ESTIMATED IMPAIRMENT OF FIXED ASSETS AND
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

According to the accounting policies stated in Note 2E(c) and
Note 2F, if impairment indicators exist on the CGUs to which
the assets belong, management conducted an impairment
review by estimating the recoverable amounts of the
relevant CGUs, using the higher of value in use calculation
and fair value less costs of disposal. The key assumptions
and judgements adopted by management in the relevant
discounted cash flow forecasts included discount rates and
revenue growth rates, etc. Details of the key assumptions are
disclosed in Note 16. In performing this impairment review,
the Group estimated the present value of future cash flows
of the CGUs based on the conditions as at 31 December
2019. In the impairment test to be performed in 2020, the
COVID-19 outbreak and its impact on the present value of
estimated future cash flows of the CGUs will be considered.
Up to the date on which this set of consolidated financial
statements were authorised for issue, the Group is still in
the process of assessing the impacts of the COVID-19 on the
performance of the relevant CGUs and is currently unable
to estimate the quantitative impacts to the Group.

RECOGNITION OF DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

The recognition of tax losses as deferred tax assets depends
on management’s assessment as to whether the relevant
subsidiaries would have adequate future taxable profits to
utilise these tax losses within a period of five years from
the year of occurrence. Determining the adequacy of future
taxable profits requires assessment of projection of both
the amounts and timing of future taxable profits which are
based on approved business plans or profit forecasts, and
such assessments involve significant management estimates
and judgements. The outcome of their actual utilisation
may be different. The COVID-2019 outbreak has significant
impacts on the operations of relevant subsidiaries of the
Group in 2020 and they are not expected to be profitable
in the near future, as certain of its tax losses will be expired
and therefore the related deferred tax assets recognised
would not be utilized, which will affect the profit or loss
of the Group in 2020. Up to the date on which this set of
consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue,
the Group is still in the process of assessing the impacts of
the COVID-19 on the related deferred tax assets recognised
and is currently unable to estimate the quantitative impacts
to the Group.
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4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVE
AND POLICIES

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and currency risk.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

CREDIT RISK

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties
is arising from the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
balance sheet.

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and
other receivables and bank balances.

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk to
trade and other receivables as its customer bases are widely
spread across diverse geographical locations. The Group
has policies in place to ensure that open account customers
are financially viable and with an appropriate credit history.
To minimise its credit risk exposure, credit evaluations
are performed for the determination and approval of
credit limits granted and other monitoring procedures are
implemented to ensure that follow-up actions are taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, regular reviews on aging
and recoverability are performed to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. The
Group’s exposure to trade and other receivables is set out
in Note 23.

In respect of bank deposits, the Group has procedures and
policies in place to ensure they are made to counterparties
with good credit rating.

LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining
sufficient cash and the availability of adequate committed
credit facilities to fund capital, prospective investment
opportunities, debt servicing obligations and dividend
payments. Management also closely monitors the Group’s
rolling forecast and actual cash flows and maturity profiles
of financial liabilities.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVE
AND POLICIES (Continued)

LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued)

Taking into account the gearing ratio, historical and expected
future cash flows from operations and unutilised available
banking facilities of the Group, management expected the
Group has adequate resources to meet its liabilities and
commitment as and when they fall due and to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The following table details the outstanding contractual
maturities at the balance sheet date of the Group’s lease
liabilities, borrowings and trade and other payables but
excluding contract liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the balance sheet date) and the earliest date
the Group can be required to pay.

EHEES 1]
R-2-F R-ZIF ReNELE
A | ZH Total
—#£R  Between  Between HEBIE contractual REE
Within 1and 2 2t05 Over undiscounted Carrying
1 year years years 5years  cash flow Amount
AREBERT \REBER AREKBET ARBAEET ARBBETL AREEER
RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million
It SR 2019
EREGHE Fixed rate interest
bearing
HEERE Lease liabilities (93) (76) (68) (7) (244) (214)
FHNEEE Variable rate borrowings
RITER Bank loans (514) = - = (514) (511)
(607) (76) (68) (7) (758) (725)
Fit Non-interest bearing
ZHREMEMZTIE  Trade and other payables (11,634) - - - (11,634) (11,634)
—2-0\fF 2018
EEFEEE Fixed rate borrowings
payables
BERY Finance lease @ @ (7) - (15) (12)
FHAEEH Variable rate borrowings
FITER Bank loans (704) - - - (704) (701)
(708) 4) (7) - (719) (713)
T8 Non-interest bearing
ZHREMENFTIE  Trade and other payables (10,469) - - - (10,469) (10,469)
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE
AND POLICIES (Continued)

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk mainly from its
long term and short term borrowings. Borrowings at fixed
and floating interest rates expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk respectively.
To cover interest rate risk, the Group maintains the loan
portfolio in a preferred fixed/floating interest rate mix and
review regularly.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for both derivatives and
non-derivative instruments at the balance sheet date. For
floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of liability outstanding at the balance sheet date
was outstanding for the whole year.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower and
all other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit for
the year ended 31 December 2019 would decrease/increase
by RMB5 million (2018: decrease/increase by RMB7 million).

This analysis is prepared by using certain assumptions on
a hypothetical situation. In reality, market interest rates
would not change in isolation. In management’s opinion,
the analysis is used for reference purpose and should not
be considered a projection of the future profits or losses.

CURRENCY RISK

The following table details the Group’'s exposure at the
balance sheet date to currency risk arising from recognised

MEEAMNEERR REEBBE assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the
FRALEAR o functional currency of the entity to which they relate.
—g-ng —ENE
2019 2018
BE & BE &8fE
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
ARREER ARWEER ARBEET ARKAEER
RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million
AR Renminbi 1 4 2 304
e US Dollars 224 5 241 -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE
AND POLICIES (Continued)

CURRENCY RISK (Continued)

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a
5% strengthening in Renminbi against Hong Kong Dollars
and US Dollars, assuming the pegged rate between Hong
Kong dollar and US dollar would be unaffected. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at
year end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. For a
5% weakening of Renminbi against Hong Kong Dollars and
US Dollars, there would be an equal and opposite impact
on the profit or loss.

—F-hF —T-N\F

2019 2018

AR¥EBERT AREBETT

RMB million RMB million

HEB SN EE Effect on profit after tax (2) (16)

AR BE X LR E RBRRER
MmET - RERBRT > MHER
" REENE  cBEEEARUDN
RRE2%E  FREHEARERI G F
B EH TR -

AR M EE
AEEETEAEEMER -
BREBNEEEFELS -

BREBEERAEHRNEL
M BB b - REEEEEKD
B —FETETR -

%ﬁiﬂﬁm
n><r ED} ﬁt#ﬁ )qﬂ:l

AEENENEBREER (BREM
A-ThAEEMNEE) Re KR
EEEY  ARREDEHBHARNE
B (BERGARSEHRAEE
MBEBITERA - FEREREREGH) -

AEBEEEBENERELLE
AEBEBERARAREZRERND
MHRERR  YERBXMNEKE - BT
i AEEHRITEERERR
BEHENN HEBERNGEHEE
g e

This analysis is prepared by using certain assumptions on
a hypothetical situation. In reality, market exchange rates
would not change in isolation. In management’s opinion,
the analysis is used for reference purpose and should not
be considered a projection of the future profits or losses.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes the borrowings disclosed in Note 25, cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders of the
Company, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained
profits as disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure
regularly. The Group considers the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital, and will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment
of dividends, new share issues as well as the raise of bank
borrowings or the redemption of existing debt.
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EXERIBERN 6. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
—8-NE -—T-N&
2019 2018
ARBEERT AREBBAER
RMB million RMB million
EXBEAEXRETH Turnover comprises revenue from:
HRZWA:
HEEm Sales of goods 33,190 31,867
o EE R SEGMENT INFORMATION
DEEH/
RE HE BE He
Eastern Central Southern  Corporate/ At
region region region  Elimination Total
ARBEEL ARBEERT AR¥EER AR¥EER AR¥EER
RMB million  RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million
HE-E-RnE For the year ended
+-B=+-HLEE 31 December 2019
BRE TURNOVER'
HHHEE External sales 16,927 8,073 8,190 = 33,190
PEEHE Inter-segment sales 351 47 276 (1,044) -
A Total 17,278 8,490 8,466 (1,044) 33,190
PHEE Segment result? 1,007 598 714 2,319
REHHNLFEHZH  Unallocated corporate
expenses (156)
Y ON Interest income 109
FHRE Finance costs (70)
BR A AT R Profit before taxation 2,202
B Taxation (892)
KEEHET Profit for the year 1,310
R=B-nF+=B=+—H As at 31 December 2019
BEE ASSETS
NHEE Segment assets 19,549 7,859 11,260 38,668
ERHBEE Deferred taxation assets 2,532
REH B Taxation recoverable 349
KELBNAFETEE  Unallocated corporate assets 42
GREENHE Consolidated total assets 41,591
g LIABILITIES
PHERE Segment liabilities 11,690 4,261 4,472 20,423
JEfT IR Taxation payable 194
ERHEAE Deferred taxation liabilities 678
AEPENRAEHEE  Unallocated corporate
liabilities 569
GAREELE Consolidated total liabilities 21,864
HitEH OTHER INFORMATION
REFRHEE Additions to non-current
assets’ 3,192 539 140 = 3,871
NEREH Depreciation and amortisation 920 422 375 7 1,724
ERAAEEE Impairment loss recognised 487 240 325 = 1,052
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ERERIDBEN A 6. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
7 EBE K () SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) -
AREE/ =
Fastern Central Southern Corporate/ At =
region region region Elimination Total T
AREEET AREGET AREEET AREEET AREEER Q
RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million %
BE-%-N\%¥ For the year ended
+-B=+-BLEE 31 December 2018
EXE TURNOVER'
e External sales 15,639 7,680 8,548 - 31,867
PHEHEE Inter-segment sales 426 180 319 (925) -
At Total 16,065 7,860 8,867 (925) 31,867
vl ES L Segment result? 199 3% 1,003 1,598 2
AEHBHRREHBIE  Unallocated corporate =
expenses (133) =
MEKA Interest income 115 o
BBRA Finance costs (48) -
B AR A A Profit before taxation 1532 >
e Taxation (547) z
REERF Profit for the year 985 5
R=2-NE+=A=+—R As at 31 December 2018 -
EE ASSETS
NHEE Segment assets 17,288 7762 11,542 36,592
BRHEEE Deferred taxation assets 2,426
EREHE Taxation recoverable 240 ‘
FENBHAREHEE  Unallocated corporate assets 13 .
GAEERE Consolidated total assets 39,271 o
a& LIABILITIES 3
PHEE Segment liabilities 10,456 4,302 4,425 19,183 2
e Taxation payable 29 >
BEREHEARE Deferred taxation liabilities 399 o
FENBHAREHERE  Unallocated corporate 2
liabilities 750 z
GAafkAE Consolidated total liabilities 20,361 A
HitEH OTHER INFORMATION
REFRYEE Additions to non-current
assets’ 810 831 448 - 2,089
REREH Depreciation and amortisation 847 414 39 1 1,654
BRAFEEE Impairment loss recognised 805 202 294 - 1,301 -
o
Bt 5 - Notes: ﬁ
1. EEERRBBERBETEXE B 1. Turnover represents sales of beer products and was recognised at a E
BHRBEENFHEMOARE point of time (Included RMB1,139 million contributed by Heineken g
1,139 87L) ° China). 7
9
>
2. DEBREERARTFEWA - B KA 2. Segment result represents earnings before interest income, finance g
R IEA&A - costs and taxation. ]
2
3. REINDEECRREEATEE  £H 3. Additions to non-current assets included fixed assets, right-of-use

HEE BERHEMEREEBEBKR
BENPEARE271088T) °

assets, goodwill and other intangible assets (Included RMB2,710
million arising from the acquisition of Heineken China).
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+. Hitlk A 7. OTHER INCOME
—E—-hF —E-N\F
2019 2018
ARBEERT AREBBAER
RMB million RMB million
HEMW AGIETH/E: Other income includes the
following:

A E WA Interest income 109 115
BRI # B Government grants recognised 162 187
HEBTEERMNSHEF  Profit on disposal of fixed assets 161 94

HEFHIEE BHY T i #E Profit on disposal of interests in

@ P75 0 A leasehold land held for own use 6
N, BIEHEA 8. FINANCE COSTS

—EF-NnE —ZE-N\F
2019 2018
ARBBEERL AREKAER
RMB million RMB million
BEBLOFE Interests on finance leases = 1

RITER M EMEFKF B Interests on bank loans and other
loans 54 62
HEBENES Interests on lease liabilities 12 -
BE X Financing charges 1 9
bE W B 1R (KE) Exchange loss/(gain) 4 (13)
71 59
B BRI B Less: Interest capitalised* (1) (11)
70 48

*ORZERAER - —RERENET .
BEAME AR EFEE134% (ZF—
NG 1.34%) °

#8085 (32 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited

During 2019, the weighted average capitalisation rate on funds
borrowed generally is 1.34% (2018: 1.34%) per annum.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AEFEEEF 9. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
—E-nE -2 NF
2019 2018
ARBEERT AREBBAER
RMB million RMB million
AEEHRFMEMNMBTSH  Profit for the year has been arrived
&£IE: at after charging:
% R0 B & Auditors’ remuneration
- BB - Audit services 13 11
- EEZRTE - Non-audit services - 5
BEIXAK(BRIEES Staff costs (including directors’
B <) emoluments) 6,309 6,324
e Depreciation
-BEEE - Owned assets 1,552 1,630
-ERBEBRAOFED — Assets held under finance leases
BE - 1
-FRAEEE - Right-of-use assets 123 -
Hip#m EE (2  Amortisation of other intangible
T—MREITHERA) assets (included in general and
administrative expenses) 49 23
EHRBEEEERE Impairment loss recognised
E—RETHEARA) on (included in general and
administrative expenses)
-BEEE - Fixed assets 700 961
-F8 — Stocks 352 340
T REFZEEMY  Operating leases charges on land
EH and buildings = 125
EEEmMmKA Cost of goods sold 20,964 20,669
WG EEEEBNER  Expense relating to short-term leases 51 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

+. EEZEFIRES 10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
EEM e DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
=F-F —E-NF
2019 2018
ARBBEERL AREAER
RMB million RMB million

ik Fees 1.56 1.43

AEXF e RER Basic salaries and allowances 3.50 2.72

NIESHER Provident fund contributions 0.24 0.23

TEAL Bonus' 5.46 3.09

10.76 7.47
#e Hiti 2
Fees Other Emoluments
EXEeR
BE  NEHX “E)\E
Basic Provident Azt
Salaries and Fund AN At 2018
Allowances  Contributions Bonus' Total Total

—E-hE 2019 AREEET ARMEER ARMEER ARMEER ARMEERT ARYEER

BEER? Name of director RMB million  RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million  RMB million

5L Jian Yi = 0.98 0.04 0.73 1.75 0.45

®Z8 Hou Xiaohai = 1.59 0.16 3.70 5.45 3.85

REE Lai Po Sing, Tomakin = 0.93 0.04 1.03 2.00 174

Rtk Lai Ni Hium, Frank 0.1 = - - 011 0.10

Rudolf Gijshert Servaas Rudolf Gijsbert Servaas

van den Brink van den Brink 0.07 - = = 0.07 -
mAEES Tuen-Muk Lai Shu®s = - - - - -

EAE Houang Tai Ninh 0.28 = - - 0.28 0.27

R Li Ka Cheung, Eric 0.28 - - - 0.28 0.27

HEE Cheng Mo Chi, Moses 0.27 - - - 0.27 0.26

RER Bernard Chamwut Chan 0.27 - - - 0.27 0.26

ik Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon 0.28 = - - 0.28 0.27

B 5o Chen Lang*® = = = = = -

LS Chen Rong** = = = = = -

At Total 1.56 3.50 0.24 5.46 10.76 -

—I-\E 2018 143 2.12 0.23 3.09 = 747

B 7 Notes:

1. BBEAN2EMFE ZLEER - 1. The discretionary bonus is determined with reference to the
BRI AT ITHERR KRBTSR operating results, individual performance and comparable market
FHEE ° statistics during both years.

2. REEZIHBEZHEOHAR - 2. Director fee for the year had been waived by respective directors.

3. EEMEHPEEBERE - 3. The director’s emoluments were borne by CRC.
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+. ESZ2EMRERDS @ 10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)
EEME A DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) .
B aE s () Notes: (Continued) 7
A

4. —E-NFERREEERBUERE 4. During 2019, no retirement benefits, payments or benefits in g
sk B SEHRIRER - Bl e respect of termination of directors’ services were paid or made, %
Ma: thEEMEMEKE(CET—N\F: directly or indirectly, to the directors; nor are any payable (2018: 2
) RERRBHEFRBENE=FR Nil). No consideration was provided to or receivable by third parties o
HAERERE(ZE—NFE ) 8 for making available directors’ services (2018: Nil). There are no §
BAFRES  HEGNZEAERRBR loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of the directors, their N
HREBNENR  EERIEMZS controlled body corporate and connected entities (2018: Nil).

ZTE-N\F:E)

5. HABELRER-_T—NFLtA+— 5. Mr. Tuen-Muk Lai Shu was appointed on 11 July 2019 and both Mr.
AEZEMRAMBRREER=_F— Chen Lang and Mr. Chen Rong resigned on 11 July 2019. .
AEEAT—BEBE - -

+t-HAuESEHES 11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

HE-_ZT-—NF+ZA=1+—H1 During the year ended 31 December 2019, the five highest 5

FE hEROFEERE—%E paid employees included one (2018: one) director, details of S

F(ZTZN\F: —R) BEMEEF whose remunerations are set out in Note 10. The details of >

BHEHAKEL - Etbfz(ZZE—N the remunerations paid to the other four (2018: four) highest z

F U &m B E BT AN 2 B paid employees are as follows: -

SEHBET: -

—E-AE —E—N\FE

2019 2018
ARBEERL ARMEET .
RMB million RMB million

EAXRFH e RER Basic salaries and allowances 3.34 3.22 S

NESHK Provident fund contributions 0.37 0.34 g

TEHL Bonus 16.84 12.93 B

20.55 16.49 =
=2
>
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AEEREZHRHKEA2RERS
7 FREFERNRGTE - ZFGE
LEERASHEESDHER I
HBYERECESRA - fHRED
REBREEANFE ZHTEAD L
B MHEBRETEEZAZEMR
U 44 3% R AR DA R AN SR 18 2 (K e

AEENGERERTRAEAKE
HBRERABE ZHR( T -NEF:
& )

RS EHEE &) 11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)
YA (ZF —/\F : U7L) H = 5 B The emoluments of these four (2018: four) highest paid
NFTHIRE : individuals were within the following band:
AB
No. of person
=F-NF —E-NF
2019 2018
AR #3,369,0017T & RMB3,369,001 to RMB3,791,000
A R #3,791,0007C (HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000)
(74,000,001 &
7 #£4,500,0007T) - 1
AR#3,791,001T & RMB3,791,001 to RMB4,212,000
AR #4,212,0007C (HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000)
(7 #4,500,0017T &
7 ¥55,000,0007T) = 1
AR#4,212,001 T E RMB4,212,001 to RMB4,633,000
A R #4,633,0007C (HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000)
(78 #5,000,001 L E
75 #5,500,0007T) = 2
AR #4,633,0010E RMB4,633,001 to RMB5,279,000
A R #5,279,0007T (HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000)
(7 %5,500,0017C &
7 #£6,000,0007T) 4 -
WEQER 12. STAFF PROVIDENT FUND
=B A  HONG KONG

The Group operates various defined contribution retirement
schemes which are available to all Hong Kong employees.
The assets of the schemes are held separately from those
of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
amount of contributions is based on a specified percentage
of the basic salary of employees and any forfeited
contributions in respect of unvested benefits of staff leavers
are used to reduce the Group’s contributions.

The total cost charged to consolidation profit and loss
account in respect of Group contributions to staff provident
fund in Hong Kong amounted to Nil (2018: Nil).

#8085 (32 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BEAE£W@ 12. STAFF PROVIDENT FUND (Continued)
HRE A it B CHINESE MAINLAND
AEBEFRREAMEESHERA The employees of the Group in the Chinese Mainland are
MAB T RFEENBERERR members of state-managed retirement benefit schemes
KEFMETEIRNKE - REBE AR Z operated by the respective local government in the Chinese
FrEZMEIEREA D LaHER - Mainland. The Group is required to contribute a specified
ERBNER - AEBHELEE percentage of payroll costs to the schemes to fund the
FE—BEEEEINEEHER - benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
these schemes is to make the specified contributions.
7% bt &9 Fh B A 3 AR R G B T AE AR The total cost charged to the consolidated profit and loss
GEERTFIKRNBXNEINEAR account in respect of the above-mentioned schemes in
Mia0TBEET(ZE—N\F - ARK the Chinese Mainland amounted to approximately RMB407
508A &) ° million (2018: RMB508 million).
M 13. TAXATION

—E-NF —E-NEF

2019 2018

ARBBEERT AREBEET

RMB million RMB million

R A 3t B A5 B Chinese Mainland income tax

REZRIE Current taxation 771 571

iR FE T IR Deferred taxation 121 (24)

892 547

EBNNESHIIBEAFE 2G5
FERRF R FIZ L =16.5% (—ZZT —/\
F:16.5%)5T & -

FERH M E QR 2 TSR RIE
HBEBRIEEPIZ A 5T R % A
BE -HE-_T—-NF+-_A=+
—HBIEFENEBMEHREARE25%
(ZZF—N\F :25%) °

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2018: 16.5%)
on the estimated assessable profits for the year.

Chinese Mainland income tax has been provided for based
on the estimated assessable profits in accordance with the
relevant tax laws applicable to the subsidiaries in the Chinese
Mainland. The applicable principal income tax rate for the
year ended 31 December 2019 is 25% (2018: 25%).
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+=. BLEE)

HA—LEEAR - BHEREEMAD
OERR - TREE E A R R ERD
MESERARBERORKES
AEEMBEUBEDRN L@ RH
o NEEBRBRB RN ZH A
BRNBRBRFEAERBERERREX
AEZERBR FBEOT

13. TAXATION (Continued)

The effective tax rate is higher than the domestic rates
mentioned above as there were tax losses arising from
certain loss-making subsidiaries, including breweries which
were determined to be closed down, of which no deferred
tax assets were recognised as the realisation of the related
tax benefit through the future taxable profits is not
probable. The taxation on the Group’s profit before taxation

differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using
the domestic rates applicable to the country concerned as

follows:

—E-NF —E-NF
2019 2018
ARBEERT ARBBETR
RMB million RMB million
B %54 Al & A Profit before taxation 2,202 1,532
BB E B EETE Tax calculated at the domestic rates
2 I8 applicable in the country concerned 552 365
BmARD WA Income not subject to taxation () (19)
NAIHGR 2 2 H Expenses not deductible for taxation
purposes 72 47
FEHARAABERZEE Utilisation of previously unrecognised
MER temporary difference (318) (243)
FER 2B NI E Tax losses and temporary difference
=8 not recognised 541 437
EFEEREIHIE Over provision on taxation in previous
year (11) (58)
KAOBHEZ BB Withholding tax on undistributed
profits 58 18
MBS H Taxation charge 892 547

#8085 (32 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited



B 5 W5 A B i

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

+M.Bg 8 14. DIVIDENDS
—E—h#F —E—N\F
2019 2018
ARBBERL ARKAER
RMB million RMB million
“ZE-NEFEMDIRZEFE 2019 interim dividend paid of
KREGRET®MA AR  RMB0.12 per ordinary share
0NRT(ZE—N\F: (2018: RMBO0.09)
AR ¥0.097T) 390 292
TE-NFHEIRIZEARE 2019 proposed final dividend of
EERE @R ARE  RMB0.045 per ordinary share (2018:
0.045T(ZZ— \F: RMBO0.03)
ANR#¥0.037T) 146 97
536 389
B E - Note:

EARRR-_ZE-_EF=-ZA-_1+HETHNE
FLE EEHRERIRESRTBRARE
0.0457C (ZF—/\F : AR¥0.037T) ° HRR
BOEREARARBTEETEEHREANTA
BREAE ZERBTERGAMBRE
NERBEE - NFEEHEMBRSE TR
ARERNHREBEERES—\FEN
KERERZZE-NFENPHBRE 258
RARBASTEBT(ZT—N\F: AR¥S19
BET)

At the meeting held on 20 March 2020, the directors proposed final
dividend of RMB0.045 (2018: RMB0.03) per ordinary share. This proposed
dividend, which is calculated on the Company’s number of ordinary shares
as at the date of the board meeting, is not recognised as a liability in these
consolidated financial statements. The total dividends paid by the Company,
including the final dividend for the year 2018 and the interim dividend for
the year 2019, amounting to RMB487 million (2018: RMB519 million) are
reflected in the current year consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

+1.5REF

15. EARNINGS PER SHARE

=& -—T-N\%F
2019 2018
ARBBEERT ARBEET
RMB million RMB million
BREARBERFTY  The calculation of the basic and diluted
BETISETE earnings per share is based on the
following data:
ZF Earnings
RIATE SR EARNKL#E Profit attributable to shareholders
BAEHAANTREREN  of the Company for the purposes
il of calculating basic and diluted
earnings per share 1,312 977
—E-hEF —E-N\F
2019 2018
38 E Number of shares
BUAFFESRERR Weighted average number of ordinary
BERMNNE AR shares for the purpose of calculating
AN 15 B basic and diluted earnings per share  3,244,176,905  3,244,176,905
—E-NF —T-)N\F
2019 2018
AR®T AR
RMB RMB
BREXAREERT Basic and diluted earnings per
share 0.40 0.30

BREABNEEREETFRNEH

A SRR — B

The denominators used are the same as those detailed above

for both basic and diluted earnings per share.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

~NEEEBE 16. FIXED ASSETS
BFARK
i 3% HitWE BERRE
Interests in Other property, plant and equipment
leasehold BREF HtBEEEE
land held for Buildings held  Other fixed It it
own use  for own use assets Sub-total Total
AREBET AREAERT ARXAEERT ARBEERT ARBEER
RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million
K& Cost
W=2-\5-A-H At 1 January 2018 3973 9,706 21,937 31,643 35,616
NE Additions 22 93 1,974 2,067 2,089
HE Disposals (57) (126) (7172) (898) (955)
ENNE Reclassifications - 497 (497) - -
ERER Exchange difference 1 (11) (34) (45) (46)
W=2-\E+-A=+-H At 31 December 2018 3937 10,159 22,608 32,767 36,704
BHBREDNAE Adjustment for change
in accounting policy (3,937) - (9) 9 (3,946)
R-B-hE—A—A(E5]) At 1 Janary 2019 (Restated) - 10159 22,599 32,758 32,758
WERBAR/EBBEEA Acquisition of subsidiaries/businesses - 468 657 1,125 1,125
NE Additions - 17 922 1,039 1,039
e Disposals - (177) (2,196) 2373) 2373
BHOE Reclassifications - 127 (233) (106) (106)
ERER Exchange difference - (6) (15) 21 21
WZE-NF+-A=1—H At 31 December 2019 - 10,688 21,734 32,422 32,422
BHFERAE Accumulated depreciation and
impairment
RZE-\5-A-H At 1 January 2018 720 3,369 11,078 14,447 15,167
TEEME Charge for the year 86 386 1,159 1,545 1,631
LERE Written back on disposals 9) (34) (594) (628) (637)
BRRAZAESE Impairment loss recognised - 496 465 961 961
ERES Exchange difference 1 (12) 37 (49) (50)
WZE-\E+-A=t-H At 31 December 2018 796 4,205 12,071 16,276 17,072
SHBKXEHNAR Adjustment for change in
accounting policy (796) - (1) (1) (797)
RZZE-AF—F—B(EJ) At 1)anuary 2019 (Restated) - 4,205 12,070 16,275 16,275
TEEME Charge for the year - 398 1,154 1,552 1,552
HE#RR Written back on disposals - (53) (1,732) (1,785) (1,785)
BRRZAESE Impairment loss recognised - 300 400 700 700
BHOE Reclassifications - (1) (105) (106) (106)
EHES Exchange difference - (6) (26) (32) 32)
RZE-NF+-A=1—H At 31 December 2019 - 4,843 11,761 16,604 16,604
REFE Net book values
RZE-nE+ZA=1—H At 31 December 2019 - 5,845 9,973 15,818 15,818
W=E2-\E+-A=t-H At 31 December 2018 314 5,954 10,537 16,491 19,632
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+tRBEEEEE)

RER  BRSRE  KEEDR
ERRRE T B E &R E B
BE ARAEERZRHERRE
AR fa) AT BE U [0 /Y ) 25 1 B SRORL1E
BEAARBI0BET(ZT—N
FIARBIGIBET) - ZFEEN
B eBENREAREERDE
RAGE -

BREMBERI MRBERELE
VHNEEFERENR EEES
ETRERNE  REELFEE
A E BN EERTE -

EmEEAETERREERTE -
HERRE REMERE  BRR
RERTE -

AEBIEMEBROEBEEZEBTEE
R-ZE—-NEFE+_A=+—HZEEA
BEAEARESAEETT °

16.

FIXED ASSETS (Continued)

During the year, as a result of efficiency enhancement,
certain breweries were determined to be closed down
and certain aged assets were determined as obsolete.
Consequently the Group has recognised an impairment loss
of RMB700 million (2018: RMB961 million), after considering
any possible benefit receivable during the disposal process.
The recoverable amounts of these assets are based on their
fair value less costs of disposal.

Except for the above, if other impairment indicators exist
on the cash-generating units, management have conducted
an impairment review and based on these assessments, the
resulting recoverable amounts were higher than the carrying
amount of the assets belong to.

Other fixed assets mainly comprise construction in progress,
plant and machinery, leasehold improvements, furniture and
equipment and motor vehicles.

The carrying amounts of fixed assets held under finance
leases of the Group as at 31 December 2018 amounted to
RMB8 million.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EE &= (&)

16. FIXED ASSETS (Continued)

HEIR HeERE
Construction  Plant and Hith &t
in progress  machinery Others Total
AREBEL AREEEL AREBEL ARKEER
RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million
BA Cost
R-Z-\5—A—H At 1 January 2018 1,104 19,789 1,044 21,937
NE Additions 1,739 176 59 1,974
e Disposals (1) (667) (104) (772)
B oM Reclassifications (1,924) 1352 75 (497)
R Exchange difference 4 (38) - (34)
RZZ—NE+ZA=+—H At 31 December 2018 922 20,612 1,074 22,608
EHRKEEYNAE Adjustment for change
in accounting policy - - 9 )
RZE-NF—-A—B(Z%) At 1 January 2019 (Restated) 922 20,612 1,065 22,599
WENBAR, EBEEA Acquisition of subsidiaries/
businesses 1 637 19 657
NE Additions 686 205 31 922
HE Disposals - (2,083) (113) (2,196)
Eg i Reclassifications (972) 685 54 (233)
ERZEE Exchange difference 2 (17) - (15)
RZE—NF+-A=+—H At 31 December 2019 639 20,039 1,056 21,734
BHFERAE Accumulated depreciation
and impairment
RZE-N\E—H—H At 1 January 2018 2 10,333 743 11,078
AFEEWE Charge for the year - 1,079 80 1,159
& B o Written back on disposals (1) (504) (89) (594)
ERAZREER Impairment loss recognised - 457 8 465
X = Exchange difference - (37) - (37)
RZZE-NE+ZA=+—H At 31 December 2018 1 11,328 742 12,071
SHBREPHAE Adjustment for change in
accounting policy - - (1) (1
R-ZE-AE—-A—B(EH)  At1January 2019 (Restated) 1 11,328 741 12,070
AEEHE Charge for the year - 1,065 89 1154
& & Written back on disposals (1) (1,634) 97) (1,732)
ERAZREER Impairment loss recognised 2 386 12 400
g Reclassifications - (102) 3) (105)
ERES Exchange difference - (25) 1 (26)
RZE—NF+-A=+—H At 31 December 2019 2 11,018 741 11,761
REFE Net book values
RZE—NF+=A=+—H At 31 December 2019 637 9,021 315 9,973
RZZ—-N\E+ZHA=1+—H At 31 December 2018 921 9,284 332 10,537
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

—E-hEF
2019
AREEETR
RMB million
FEBRMN TR Interests in leasehold land held for own use 3,354
EF Buildings 190
H Aty Others 51
3,595
—E—-hfF
2019
ARBEETR
RMB million

FEHEEENTE Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets

BEBRMN TR Interests in leasehold land held for

own use 92
gF Buildings 24
H Aty Others 7
123

ZE-NEFENERAREEARA
R¥1225&7T - MK BEHBAR
E¥EBREANTREEEAARE
337BB T °

“E-hFHNEERGBENEHEE
BATRHBBERARKINEE
7T|:0

AEEHERREFERN L E
w o BFREMENES - EE8T
EREMENHESRBE/IEILF
B E HIRR o

I

P16 50 R 71 B BB b 3
B - A A Z 4 R R SR I
f o

\

Additions to the right-of-use assets during 2019 were
RMB122 million and acquisition of subsidiaries/businesses to
the right-of-use assets were RMB337 million.

The total cash outflow for both lease liabilities and short-
term leases in 2019 was RMB141 million.

The Group leases various interests in leasehold land held for
own use, buildings and others. Rental contracts for buildings
and others are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 14
years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.

#8085 (32 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited



55 B B A B i
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+N.EE

18. GOODWILL
ARBBET
RMB million
2% Cost
RZE—-—N\F—HA—H As at 1 January 2018 8,318
& i = Exchange difference 72
RZE-N\F+_A=+—"HEK As at 31 December 2018 and
—E-NnF—H—H 1 January 2019 8,390
WEEM B AR, ¥ Acquisition of subsidiaries/
businesses 940
X ER Exchange difference 35
R_ZE—hE+=-A=+—AH As at 31 December 2019 9,365
REE Carrying values
R-ZT—NF+=-_A=+—H As at 31 December 2019 9,365
R-_ZT—\F+_A=+—H As at 31 December 2018 8,390

HEEHEIRERSREL B
(TCGU)) * LT ARERETHEE
51T 0 B 5 B #0408 5 S5 B
TEEER - UTABBARZS
EHE

The carrying amount of goodwill was allocated to the
cash generating units (“CGU"), each of which represent
the operating segments identified by the Group for the
purpose of segment reporting in geographical perspective.
A segment level summary of the goodwill allocation is
presented below:

=F-NF —E-N\F

2019 2018

AR¥EBERLT AREBETT

RMB million RMB million

HE Eastern region 3,280 2,320
= Central region 843 838
i & Southern region 5,242 5,232

CGUZ AT Y Bl & %8 TS iz M EE R
BEABTE - 25 EAEARARE
EREEABZAFHMIEEEME
HeEReRE BUAFHZ
RERERMBUW AT BA
HREEN8T% (ZE—N\F:89%)
ZEFEREE RRREIHRAE -

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined
based on a value in use calculation. These calculations use
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a five-year period, cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the
key assumptions including expected revenue growth rates
stated below and a discount rate of 8.7% (2018: 8.9%) per
annum.
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+N.BE @ 18. GOODWILL (Continued)

EHAFHBEEEZ
FERABAERE
Expected revenue growth rate
beyond the five years’
financial budget

(%)
—F-AF —T-N\F
2019 2018
RE@ Eastern region 2% 2%
A @ Central region 2%-3% 2%-3%
HE Southern region 2%-3% 2%-3%
FTEBRNEEBEHEITTERNE A reasonably possible change in a key assumption would
CGUW AT Bl ¢ B E RN ERE not cause the recoverable amount to fall below the carrying
B amount of the respective CGU.
th HthEREE 19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
ARERE
&E  Trademarks CE
Brand names rights Total

ARBEBELT AREBERT AREBER
RMB million RMB million RMB million

BA Cost
RZE-NE—-HA—H At 1 January 2018 473 - 473
BN =% Exchange difference 3) - 3
RZZ-\F+ZA=+—H At 31 December 2018 and
kR=E-N¥-A—8 1 January 2019 470 - 470
WERBAR,¥% Acquisition of subsidiaries/businesses - 308 308
0B =4 Exchange difference (1) - (1)
RZZ-NF+-A=+—H At 31 December 2019 469 308 777
RAMERAE Accumulated amortisation and
impairment
RZE-N\F-A—H At 1 January 2018 326 - 326
REFEH Charge for the year 23 - 23
B =% Exchange difference (3) - 3
RZZ—-\F+ZA=+—H At 31 December 2018 and
R=E-N%¥—-A—H 1 January 2019 346 - 346
REFEBHE Charge for the year 21 28 49
B =45 Exchange difference ) - @)
RZZ—AF+-A=+—H At 31 December 2019 365 28 393
REEE Net book values
RZE-NE+_A=+—H At 31 December 2019 104 280 384
RZZT—/\F+-A=+—H At 31 December 2018 124 - 124
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+h . Hitt R EE @) 19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)
ENEEBFEBENENREEFREX The trademarks rights for the exclusive use of the Heineken®
B BEMBPANBREBELR brand owned by the Heineken Group at a favourable term -
ERIBBEMGETAERKER for certain period in Mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau
ZRANEER  HERBREWHHEILTS were recognised at its fair value at the date of acquisition -
FOEFERSWUERE®EITE and are subsequently amortised on straight line over their 5
8 © estimated useful live of 7.5 years according to licensing 5
agreement. =
o
o
“HUQAEEGFEHEHEZEE  20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH N
AHGEERSHNEMEE OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
—E-hEF —T-)N\F
2019 2018
ARBBEERT ARBEHEET =
RMB million RMB million =
FEIA M ETARG Listed equity shares in Chinese :g
NAEE Mainland, at fair value 9 9 o
5
IR ERENAABERZLET The fair values of investment in listed equity shares are g
%5 ¥R (B ™ W E o determined with reference to quoted market bid prices. 5
- RE 21. PREPAYMENTS
—E-AF —T-)N\F
2019 2018 4
ARBEERT AR®EHER
RMB million RMB million S
BBEETEEZF$ I Deposit payment for purchase of g
fixed assets 113 240 =
toiEE 22. STOCKS s
—E-AEF —ZE-N\F
2019 2018
ARBBEERT AREBEET
RMB million RMB million =
k-
R At Raw materials 669 676 =
% mRBEMK Consumables and packing materials 3,709 3,571 z
£ & i Work-in-progress 236 242 2
S Finished goods 1,404 890 2
6,018 5,379 B
2
2
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HZESREMEBWRIE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

—E—-hF —ZT—N\F
2019 2018
ARBEERT AREBAER
RMB million RMB million
BWE=TFTESENR Trade receivables from third parties 349 457
JEW R NAIEB W E AR Trade receivables from fellow
2 5N subsidiaries 26 25
ZEERER Provision for doubtful debts (46) (39)
329 443
AT Y B R 1B B Value-added tax recoverable 195 173
TE FRIB Prepayments 205 173
2k e Deposits paid 20 9
H b e U 3 TE (M RE) Other receivables (Note 1) 249 108
JEUWR— I AR A RIZXIE  Amount due from a holding company
(ft5E2) (Note 2) 1 -
e AR EE M B AT Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries
FRE (i E2) (Note 2) 1 -
1,000 906
M EE Note:
1. H {th fE UK IE & B 4E #E Heineken & 1. Other receivables included the consideration refundable of RMB139
BERERERARK1398 & (M million (Note 298B) from Heineken Group.
FZTA(2) -
2. JE U — i 2 R X B R IE I W [R) &R B 2. Amount due from a holding company and amounts due from fellow
BARREREER 2ORERE subsidiaries were unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
i o

AEE-RETEPUTZEER:

The Group normally trades with its customers under the
following credit terms:

() BRI @)
() Z+ENTRRE (b)

cash upon delivery; or
open credit from 30 to 90 days
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~t= E%&EMEW R IE (&) 23.

HBEAREZEHZ27INEKE
Eﬁ&ﬂﬂ%@ﬁ#%ﬂﬂ‘éﬁ%ﬂﬁ

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The following is the aging analysis of trade receivables from
third parties and fellow subsidiaries as at the balance sheet

]

RZERDTWMT date by invoice date:
A
= i —TN\F -
2019 2018 §
ARBEERT AREEST -
RMB million RMB million S
AEH The Group
0-30K 0-30 days 34 78
31-60K 31-60 days 40 68
61-90°X 61-90 days 25 41
>90K >90 days 230 256 @
329 443 ad
B HREWRIE 2 BEEANERE Impairment on trade receivables is using the expected loss 3
BXDEREESEKRKENNER rates, which are based on credit assessments on each aging e
ZTZ,\;:HE WiIEF BERFHEE category of customers and adjusted for forward-looking 2
SIEWGRIBRE 2 ATBE |$§7Hf’l5tﬂ information affecting the ability of the customers to settle %
FHEE o the trade receivables. 5

Ho Al JE W SR IR 2 R (B T3 iR 1218 A 1R

HHF%?)E?T%&’E\HHEE@F%TEE%
CBRIESERERSHRE

KEEHEM%EH °

REBEEEBETZHG AKER
,%’SECEIE’J%%&/H\@FEH&ZM YNV

v

Impairment on other receivables is measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit
loss, depending on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since the initial recognition.

Based on the assessments performed by management, the
fair value of the Group’s trade and other receivables at

IDNVNYIAOD ILVHOLHOD HLE KT

BEEAEREERES balance sheet date was approximate to the corresponding
carrying amount.
RIREBZEH MOVEMENT IN THE PROVISION FOR DOUBTFUL
DEBTS
—F-NF —E-N\F
2019 2018
ARBBEERT ARBAER =
RMB million RMB million §
o
m—H—8 As at 1 January 39 35 z
W EEH B AR, %K Acquisition of subsidiaries/businesses 3 - %
ERRZBEEIE Impairment losses recognised 19 80 >
HmxWE M2 $% Amounts written off as uncollectible (15) (76) g
W+-—A=+—H” As at 31 December 46 39 g
2
=]
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Z+E.

ESRHMWENKE 24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
—B-nE T NF
2019 2018
ARBEERT AREBAER
RMB million RMB million
BENE=ZFEZEX Trade payables to third parties 2,710 2,339
JEN AR EBEM B AR Trade payables to fellow subsidiaries
B 5 R 3 1
2,713 2,340
aREAaEEE) Contract liabilities (Note 1) 7,427 7,168
BIRE A Accruals 2,667 2,374
B W% & (B 5£2) Deposit received (Note 2) 4,412 3,891
E A & 1 5K Other payables 1,801 1,830
FEAT P % A A 3R E (MY 7£3) Amounts due to holding companies
(Note 3) 40 33
JEAT RN FI BB AT  Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries
E (M 5E3) (Note 3) 1 1
19,061 17,637
B 2 - Notes:
1. BREARBIMBEET(ZE-NF: 1. Included receipt in advance on sales of RMB941 million (2018:

ARBS2EET)MBRZFERAR
ko486 BL(ZT—NF: AR
6516EET)MEERERERNE

f& e

2. RATEZEBESRMEEEMHNE
Wiz & -

3. e EBRARRIAERG AR EENEA
ARARERR 2O RMEEERE -

REERREZEAH2NNENE
SERZERERDITAT

RMB652 million) and liabilities on promotion and marketing expenses
of RMB6,486 million (2018: RMB6,516 million).

2. Amounts mainly included deposits received for consumables and

packing materials.

3. Amounts due to holding companies and fellow subsidiaries were
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables as at

the balance sheet date by invoice date:

—E-n&E —T-N%F
2019 2018
ARBEERT AREBBAER
RMB million RMB million
0-30k 0-30 days 2,452 1,963
31-60K 31-60 days 110 132
61-90K 61-90 days 13 176
>90K >90 days 138 69
2,713 2,340
REBREEENE S R A EN The fair value of the Group’s trade and other payables as at
HREAAEBEEERAEMRSE ° balance sheet date was approximate to the corresponding

carrying amount.
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“t1.ER 25. LOANS
“g8-NF —T-N\E =
2019 2018
GHER  REER BHER  REER =
Short-term  Long-term @&t Shorttem  Long-term CHI %
loans loans Total loans loans Total S
ARMEET ARMEET ARBEET ARBEST ARBAEL ARKAAT 5
RMB million  RMB million  RMB million  RMB milion ~ RMB milion ~ RMB million %
BERNAE Finance leases = = = 3 9 12 h
BERROER Unsecured bank loans 511 - 511 701 - 701
511 = 511 704 9 713
=F-0F —E-\5F
2019 2018 e
ARBEERT ARBEETT :
RMB million RMB million =
B EHEARIE Finance leases 2
—F R Within 1 year - 3 2
—FUFEMER After 1 year, but within 2 years = 3 %
MEALEERFA After 2 years, but within 5 years = 6 %
MITERM Bank Loans
—FR Within 1 year 511 701
511 713
>
REEBBUBERARBABEMY The Group has floating rate borrowings denominated in b
FEER  BEHREFERITRA Hong Kong Dollars and Renminbi with interest rates linked 8
ZIFRBE(HBORD EHE A RIEITIR to Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) and the S
TE 2 UM =B 4 o lending rate stipulated by the People’s Bank of China A
respectively. é
REEZEERZCEBRENEEXE The effective annual interest rates on the Group's floating %
B1.45%%E3.70% (ZZ—\F : §F rate borrowings range from mainly 1.45% to 3.70% (2018:
1.18% £ 2.68%) 5 - from 1.18% to 2.68%) per annum.
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FRAEEHAEERBEZZH

26. DEFERRED TAXATION
The movement in deferred taxation assets and liabilities

N recognised during the year is as follows:
HE REREAENEER
Impairment, provision
i and other temporary A%
Tax losses differences Total
“E-NE -Z-\E ZB-NE -Z-\f& ZB-NE -ZT-)\%
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
ARBEEL \R¥EEr ARBEER \AREGET ARMEER AREGER
RMB million  RMB million RMB million  RMB million RMB million  RMB million
ERHEEE Deferred taxation assets
®—A—H At 1 January 165 101 2,261 2,160 2,426 2,261
WEHEBAR,/£%  Acquisition of subsidiaries/
businesses 1 - 116 - 17 -
FRABERGIB),/  (Charged)/Credited to
A consolidated profit and
loss account (116) 64 105 101 (1) 165
R+ZA=1—H At 31 December 50 165 2,482 2,261 2,532 2,426

IE GE R TE B E AR B SR &
BEEARRRERHEAFNERE A L
B AREEBEBREERER KT
—hWF+-A=+—8 KEEXRE
RZBBEIEAEARK3 346688 T
—E-N\F:ARE221GETT)
MAEBREBEANLCBAZEN
THHARRMERT U AL - e
BEERATFANEMZABRZM
BEEABEARKIZMAEL(ZE
—N\F:AR¥E2738EE L) °

Deferred taxation assets are recognised for tax losses carried
forward to the extent that realisation of the related tax
benefit through the future taxable profits is probable. At
31 December 2019, the Group has unrecognised tax losses
of RMB3,346 million (2018: RMB2,921 million) which are
uncertain as to whether they can be utilised to set off
against future taxable income. Out of this amount, the
unrecognised tax loss of RMB3,254 million (2018: RMB2,738
million) will expire within 5 years.
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THRIEERIE (1

MT%EEJEQFEL§$ﬁM
ZEERBAGSHEKITDERFR
a1 E

26. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

The components of deferred taxation liabilities recognised in
the consolidated balance sheet and the movements during
the year are as follows:

ROEFBZHE
MNEEHR
Withholding
MERIERE tax on
Accelerated tax  undistributed &t
depreciation profits Total
AREBRELT ARERERT AREKRER
RMB million RMB million RMB million
RZZ—-\F—-A—H At 1 January 2018 131 124 255
EReBaRNk Charged to consolidated profit and
loss account 123 18 141
[E k& Exchange rate adjustment (8) 1 3
RZZ-\F+ZA=+—HK At 31 December 2018 and
—Z-N§E—-HA-H 1 January 2019 246 153 399
KEHBAR/ %8 Acquisition of subsidiaries/businesses 156 - 156
EReaBaRNkK Charged to consolidated profit and loss
account 52 58 110
E$Jﬁ Exchange rate adjustment 8 5 13
RZZ—NF+=A=+—H At 31 December 2019 462 216 678

RIBPEARKMBEDER - TET-E:FJ’T
GHEHTEMNBARBE _ZF
F—A— Elﬁ_,ﬁ%HXE’J?'J/FEJFFr_ﬁ‘EE’J
P B O o R FE B IR DA K 20 B A
BREFAEATELNSREMNERE
B ERETER -

ttHEHMERBEE

RZZFE-NF+=-A=+—0 " Hitt
ERBEAERFEOERAELRE
MBI EEARE1L0338 & (=
T-N\F:ARE1416EET) - K
TR B E Z A AR L BT
WEHEBERE T HOmA -

27.

Under the Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred
taxation has been provided for undistributed profits to the
extent that declarations of dividends are anticipated in the
foreseeable future.

OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2019, other non-current liabilities
included government grants of RMB1,033 million (2018:
RMB1,416 million) recognised as deferred revenue. The
government grants mainly represent subsidies granted by
PRC governmental authorities towards the purchases of
leasehold land.
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AR A 28. SHARE CAPITAL
= 5 —T-N\fF
2019 2018
KR8 E HiE BRHEE G
Number of Nominal Number of Nominal
shares value shares value
BER AR%EER BER ARBKBER
million  RMB million million RMB million
BEETRBRBKRR Issued and fully paid
R—A—H As at 1 January 3,244 14,090 3,244 14,090
R+TZA=+—H As at 31 December 3,244 14,090 3,244 14,090
RS EERERWEE 29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW
STATEMENT
F KREZHZ2RERE A CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
—E—-hF —E-N\F
2019 2018
ARBEERT AREBAER
RMB million RMB million
B £ BT 4 K Profit before taxation 2,202 1532
R Adjustments for:
P& M EE (Wa) Exchange loss/(gain) 4 (13)
A B WA Interest income (109) (115)
B X Interest expenses 65 52
& EE B EF R Net gain on disposal of
fixed assets (161) (94)
HERFEERM L Profit on disposal of interests
S TS E in leasehold land held for own use (6) -
EHRZETEERME  Impairment loss recognised on fixed
&5 18 assets 700 961
ERZEFEERMERIE  Impairment loss recognised on
stocks 352 340
e Depreciation 1,675 1,631
B & E Amortisation of other intangible
assets 49 23
EHE R BT B Government grants recognised (42) (44)
LEBSE BRI 2%  Operating cash inflows before working
BE&mA capital changes 4,729 4,273
FEZES Changes in stocks (849) 107
BN EMBEWFIEZ  Changes in trade and other
b2 receivables 606 227
L5 EMEMNKIBEZ  Changes in trade and other payables
25 318 208
KEFBCES Cash generated from operations 4,804 4,815
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HhEERERERME @ 29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW

STATEMENT (Continued)
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Z WEBHEBLR ¥EH B ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES/BUSINESSES .
WD AE =
Provisional z
fair value E
AREBEET -
RMB million 5
RKEAFRSEERBE: The assets acquired and liabilities recognised at
the dates of acquisition:
[EE & E Fixed assets 1,125 B
EREEE Right-of-use assets 337
Hi &L EE Other intangible assets 308 "
RIETIAE BE Deferred taxation assets 117 -
Hih&E Other assets 261 g
Re RRITEF Cash and bank balances 256 ;
B 5 & H R Trade and other payables (795) -
HEaE Lease liabilities (29) =
HitaffE Other liabilities 31 >
ELET IR AE Deferred taxation liabilities (156) 5
1,393 3
WHEREE 2 BE Goodwill on acquisition 940
2,333 -
AT o7 = AT Discharged by:
RBe Cash 2,472 B
FERERE Balance of consideration refundable (139) -
2,333 5
WEBHMEAT, %¥£%2HER  Analysis of the net outflow of cash and 3
ReLERHFHESW cash equivalents in respect of acquisition %
of subsidiaries/businesses undertaking §
ERNBeNRE Cash consideration paid (2,472) z
WHEmMEBIHRe MIRITET Cash and bank balances acquired 256 %
(2,216)
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G RERERM @

Z WEKBLREK@E

RZZB-HAEMA-_+IB  KNEE
M Heineken £ B W i T E XA AW
PEREME BEH(PB S EERE
CENEZ(EEBRA
ACENER(EE)BRAR B
=) ¥
ENBEBOE™)
ERAR MEHEBBRAF (4
BIEAFE]) - BRSHEAET
DEBEBE23555ETIHIRER
EMERAEBEEETHE K=
T-NFE+_A=+—H8 BXfty
KGR Y BB 2,82B B T (HE
MARM24728 &8 T) - BERB
BEBMRREEBEHZARERR
REKLE  EHNREREARES
ARBI39EE L - BIAHZERE
HEBARK23IBAE THERKRD
2. EBEBERYEAAZSGKR
mERBEBE T @AM ERE
RNESTRREKEFEENEENS
MR EM  BHE— S EEEES

BRATA

hEBE(EMBRRF -
CHT)ARRAR -

B o

AEBEmMELANERBEOARY
UoBEETT  EERMKBERZ

TS B8 R 2

BREAZAREA

RE1455 BT AFER & F -

CENHRHEE
BeEma ARBI139BE TR A

29.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW
STATEMENT (Continued)

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES/BUSINESSES
(Continued)

On 29 April 2019, the Group acquired from Heineken
Group the entire equity interest of seven companies, namely
Heineken (China) Management Services Co., Ltd., Heineken
Trading (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., Heineken (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.,
Heineken Brewery (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd., Heineken Brewery
(Zhejiang) Co., Ltd., Heineken Brewery (Hainan) Co., Ltd.,
and Heineken Hong Kong Limited (collectively “Heineken
China”). Total cash consideration being the agreed enterprise
value of HK$2,355 million and as adjusted by the agreed
price adjustment items. The initial provisional consideration
of HK$2,882 million (equivalent to RMB2,472 million) was
paid as at 31 December 2019. While the price adjustment
items and final consideration had not been agreed as at
the reporting date, the subsequent provisional consideration
of RMB2,333 million after deducting the balance of
consideration refundable for RMB139 million was applied
for the calculation of provisional goodwill. The Group will
closely monitor the status of the transaction and may further
adjust the provisional amounts within the measurement
period of twelve months following the acquisition date, if
there are any new information obtained about the facts and
circumstances related to the acquisition.

Provisional goodwill arising from the acquisition was
amounting to RMB940 million, which is attributable to the
profitability and the synergies expected to arise from the
acquired businesses.

Turnover of RMB1,139 million and net profit of RMB145
million was contributed by Heineken China since the date
of acquisition to the end of the reporting period.
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THEGEBREREXRMT @ 29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW

STATEMENT (Continued)

A RMETHELECEEHAEGER C RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 7,

s

]

RHER REER HEAE At %

Short-term loans  Long-term loans  Lease liabilities Total S

AREEERL  AEEEET ARKEET  ARKAEER N

RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million 8
W-2-\F-A-R At 1 January 2018 2,383 1,087 - 3470
AERE Cash flows (2.434) (428) - (2,862)

NEED Foreign exchange movement 51 4 - 92 I

BEMERR Finance leases inception - 13 - 13

TYRAEUINED Non-cash movements 704 (704) - - "

RZZ-/\ETZA=T—H  Asat 31 December 2018 704 9 - 713 2

EHHREDHE Adjustment for change in B

accounting policy 3) 9) 116 104 :g

RZE-NF-A—B(E5) Asat 1 January 2019 (Restated) 701 - 116 817 el

Bens Cash flows (241) - 79) (319 2

PEAEREEHRENE Classified as cash flows in %

investing activities e

-WBENBAR/£B(AB - Acuisition of 2

KEFRERERAS subsidiaries/businesses
EX)) (net of cash and cash E—

equivalents acquired) - - 29 29
SME B &) Foreign exchange movement 51 - 2 49
ToRAEHINE Non-cash movements - - 149 149
RZZ-NETZA=1+—H At31 December 2019 511 - 214 725
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=+ KB 30. COMMITMENTS
—B-nE T NF
2019 2018
ARBEERT AREBBAER
RMB million RMB million
REZRHMATKEERET Capital commitments outstanding on
BEZEREAENT: acquisition of fixed assets at the
balance sheet date are as follows:
B2 418 i K B Contracted but not provided for 1,363 1,704

ZH-EXBAEXRS

R ZIS“ﬁﬁﬁiEIMTJ%/Aﬂ(J%EAZIK/AﬂZ
Fﬁ@/\i)LﬁZ 2B ERERE R
PF S 88 - AR AP RE P B ER o ,A\

KGN BRERTREZRSR
mﬁf%\ﬁl\ K’il EITTIFREK

31.

A

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries,
which are related parties of the Company, have been
eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this
Note. In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the
Group entered into the following material related party
transactions:

—EF-nE ZE-N\F
2019 2018
ARBEERT AREBER
RMB million RMB million
B THARRME 2R Receipt of services from
— M RA R (e —) A holding company (Note 1) 131 112
”D\TE & 2 i B R A Fellow subsidiaries 3 -
%A (s =) Related companies (Note 2) 36 -
mTYAREES R Sales of goods to
REEEZHWB AR Fellow subsidiaries 79 102
mTHAREAE®D Purchase of goods from
i /NCI I = ) Related companies (Note 2) 37 -
FTTRIAT 2HEAOZ W Lease payments to
BRRERZHWEAF Fellow subsidiaries 27 25
RETHRAEZFEHRA Interest income from
— & AT A holding company 22 -
—fESARISEEZIE A fellow subsidiary
NG 4 9
B 5 Notes:

1. TR 2h—HERARRE  H
AT TRA - WA FARENEE
D e

2. Heineken Holding N.V. &2 £ -F A F] ©

1. Administrative service is provided by a holding company, of which
costs are identifiable and are allocated on a fair and equitable basis.

2. Heineken Holding N.V. and its subsidiaries.
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31.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(Continued)

As at 31 December 2018, cash and cash equivalents or
pledged bank deposits included deposits of RMB161 million
made by the Group to China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co.,
Ltd. No such deposits was made as at 31 December 2019.

TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES WITH OTHER STATE-
CONTROLLED ENTITIES IN CHINESE MAINLAND

The Group itself is a part of a larger group of companies
under CRC which is controlled by the Chinese State
government. Apart from the transactions with CRC group,
the Group also conducts businesses with other state-
controlled entities. The directors are of the opinion that
those entities other than the CRC group do not have the
power to govern or participate in the financial and operating
policies of the Group. The transactions including sales
and purchases of goods and services and bank deposits
and corresponding interest income, with these entities are
conducted in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.
The Group believes that it has provided, at the best of its
knowledge, adequate and appropriate disclosure of related
party transactions as summarised above.

COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT
PERSONNEL

The Group regards the directors and the five highest
paid employees are key management personnel and
the respective compensation is set out in Note 10 to
consolidated financial statement. There was no remuneration
paid for key management personnel other than directors or
the five highest paid employees during the year (2018: Nil).
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- EEEERRBEE T 32. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY

B EERER A BALANCE SHEET
R-F-NAE+=-A=+—H As at 31 December 2019
“g-7% -z A%
2019 2018
ARBEERT AREBEET
RMB million RMB million
RBEE Non-current assets
EEE Fixed assets
- Hib¥% - IR RERE - Other property, plant and
equipment 1 2
EREEE Right-of-use assets 2 -
INGIIEPNCIPA: § Interests in subsidiaries 16,745 16,378
16,748 16,380
mEEE Current assets
B 5 K& HEAh W KIA Trade and other receivables 2 2
Re RIBTHET Cash and bank balances 38 10
40 12
mENEE Current liabilities
B 5 & Hih g KRIE Trade and other payables (1,386) (863)
HIE K Short term loans (511) (701)
HEAE Lease liabilities ) -
(1.899) (1,564)
RBAEFEE Net current liabilities (1,859) (1,552)
HEERREBAEE Total assets less current liabilities 14,889 14,828
BAREE Capital and reserves
% 7% Share capital 14,090 14,090
ki Reserves 799 738
14,889 14,828
B 5 Note:
RZF—NFE+=—A=+—H0 BZREME As at 31 December 2019, trade and other payables included loans from a
NREREEMNBRARE RN EE1,4888 8 subsidiary of approximately HK$1,488 million (equivalent to approximately
THEERHARBI333EBET) RERR RMB1,333 million), which are unsecured, interest-bearing at HIBOR+0.6%
1% F A ZHIBOR+0.6% 51 B M FE R 8738 - (R per annum, and repayable on demand. (As at 31 December 2018, trade and
—E-N\F+ZA=1+—B BESREMEN other payables included loans from subsidiaries of RMB300 million, which
REREEMBRAERARKI008E TR is unsecured, interest-bearing at 4.35% per annum and repayable within
AR I EF KL% E R —FREE one year, and approximately HK$584 million (equivalent to approximately
RHEES8AEET(HHERNARES12ESE RMB512 million), which are unsecured, interest-bearing at HIBOR+0.6% per
TO) R EER - R F A EHIBOR+0.6% 5 B & annum, and repayable on demand.)
PR 53 I8 o)
ffi 5 JIAN YI FE 2 LAI PO SING, TOMAKIN
E ZFDirector # F Director
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CI_EEAERNRBEE®E(E)) 32. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

2 ARpuRz@EEe B RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY .
BE-_F-NAF+=-A=+—H For the year ended 31 December 2019 ‘
PR 55 1 2 =t &) z
FiskRG 5
Shares held i
ERfME for restricted REEF S
Exchange incentive Retained &t -
reserve award scheme profits Total
ARBKBEET AR%®BERT ARBEERT AR¥EER
RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million
RZF-\F—A—H At 1 January 2018 (3,218) (19) 3,748 511
Ekx® Exchange differences -
on translation 684 - - 684 =
AEE A Profit for the year - - 62 62 ;
i & Dividend - - (519) (519) -
7 Transfer - 19 (19) - %
WZZE—\E+=ZA=+—H At 31 December 2018 %
kZZ-NE-A—H and 1 January 2019 (2,534) - 3,272 738 é
ExzfR Exchange difference =
on translation 346 - - 346
KEERF Profit for the year - - 202 202 o
fx & Dividend - - (487) (487)
RZZ-AF+ZA=1+—H At 31 December 2019 (2,188) - 2,987 799 N
e
RARRAHSRTREZHEERA Reserves of the Company available for distribution to ﬁ
R¥86EEBIT(ZTE—N\F: ARK the shareholders amounted to RMB986 million (2018: S
1,2295 B 7T) ° RMB1,229 million). g
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BFAERREMAREBER 2=
TFEFYERRNEBE  SETRE
BEEREEDIIBRTERERRPEH
EHEATRPEEREIRESES
HEEEER AR ERBERE
REZENRR - B LillEBYHE
SEE-_ZTFE-FTEHEER
HESEXN " TNAATE - #HE
N AMBBRRILEREE - L H
AERBSHAREREMRFLER
BRIEAERESEE AT g8H A
EEHE_T-AhE+_A=1+—
HIEFE 2 R A B 7% 8 5= MR AT A
EARAE FAEBERKEEEREE
MERTHEVBEEETE—F
FEAE o

SRt EGRAMBRE

FUNSEZEFIBABEFTEH 2 38 W
RECREEFEN _Z-_TF=A
—“+H#E -

33.

34,

EVENT AFTER REPORTING DATE

Since the outbreak of COVID-19 in China in early 2020,
provincial and municipal governments implemented various
prevention and emergency measures, such as a partial
lockdown policy and extending the holiday period of Chinese
New Year, in order to mitigate the threat of spreading the
epidemic across the country. It is anticipated that the above
epidemic situation would have certain negative impact on
the production and sales of the Group in the first quarter
of 2020. As at the date on which this set of consolidated
financial statements were authorised for issue, the outbreak
of COVID-19 is a non-adjusting post balance sheet event
and does not result in any material adjustments to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2019. The Group will continue
to monitor the development of the epidemic and perform
further assessment of its financial impact.

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements set out on pages 115
to 184 were approved by the board of directors on 20
March 2020.
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PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

RZZT—NF+=HA=+—H At 31 December 2019

RAEal

Percentage of capital

BRTEERRA/ZMEX AKEEYE F2TRE WELIRA

WELR Issued ordinary share capital/ Attributable Held by the Held by E%£%
Subsidiaries registered capital to the Group ~ Company subsidiaries Principal activities
REBRZHBHMAL
Incorporated in British Virgin Islands
EREXWEARAT 42,800,400 FRAEIXT 100.0 100.0 - REER
China Resources Snow Breweries 42,800,400 ordinary shares of Investment holding
Limited US$1 each
R E AR R A L
Incorporated in Chinese Mainland
o EREREE(N)ERECLR  AR1,079323,26727% 1000 - 1000 RENHEREER
China Resources Snow Breweries RMB1,079,323,267.27 Manufacturing and distribution

*%

*x

*x

*%

*%

*%

*%

(Sichuan) Co., Ltd

ZESERE (R ARAL AR

EREREWEEHBRRA
China Resources Snowflake Brewery
(Jilin) Co., Ltd.

=

EREERE(RER)ARA

ERERRE(RBERAA
China Resources Snow Breweries
(Anhui) Co., Ltd.

ZRESEWE(HE)ERAA
China Resources Snow Brewery

(Wuhan) Co., Ltd.

EREERE(ER)BRAT

ZESERERR)ERAA

of beer products

AR 2457925017 100.0 - 1000 LENHEREER
RMB245,792,501 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products

31,200,000% 7T 100.0 - 1000 RENHEREER
US$31,200,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products

A K #260,000,0007 100.0 - 1000 RENHELEER
RMB260,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products

AR 4381475007 100.0 - 1000 ZENHEREER
RMB438,147,500 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products

ARHT78 414,400 100.0 - 1000 REMHEETESR
RMB778,414,400 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products

118,504,683% T 100.0 - 1000 REMHEREER
US$118,504,683 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products

159,030,076.09% 7T 100.0 - 1000 PHEEBER
US$159,030,076.09 Distribution of beer products
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RZZE—NF+=ZA=+—H At 31 December 2019

REBE

Percentage of capital

BRTEERRA/ZMEX AKEEYE F2TRE WELIRA

WELR Issued ordinary share capital/ Attributable Held by the Held by E%£%
Subsidiaries registered capital to the Group Company subsidiaries Principal activities
RAEREERKL(E)
Incorporated in Chinese Mainland (Continued)
v EREREE(NR)ERLA AR #322,000,0007 100.0 - 1000 LENHEREER
China Resources Snow Brewery RMB322,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
(Liuan) Co., Ltd. of beer products
o ERERRE(LR)ERAT 21,000,000% 7T 100.0 - 1000 RENHEREER
US$21,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
o ERERERE(RR)ERAT 55,850,000% 7T 100.0 - 1000 BEMHERBER
US$55,850,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
v EREREE(KE)BRAA 32,797 869% T 100.0 - 1000 LENHEREER
China Resources Snow Brewery US$32,797,869 Manufacturing and distribution
(Dalian) Co., Ltd. of beer products
v BRERBECHT)ERA AR #425,880, 4007 100.0 - 1000 REMHEEEER
RMB425,880,400 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
o EREREE(BR)ERAA AR #95,000,0007 100.0 - 1000 RENHEREER
China Resources Snow Breweries RMB95,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
(Fuyang) Co., Ltd. of beer products
o ERERER(REIERARA 29,166,116.38% 7T 100.0 - 1000 REMHEETESR
China Resources Snow Breweries US$29,166,116.38 Manufacturing and distribution
(Heilongjiang) Co., Ltd. of beer products
o ERERRE(IH)ERAT 114,000,000% 7T 100.0 - 1000 RENHEREER
China Resources Snow Breweries US$114,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
(Jiangsu) Limited of beer products
o ERERREMM)ERAF AR #587,000,0007 100.0 - 1000 REMHEREER
RMB587,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
o ZEHERBR(AM)BRAF 55,800,000% 7T 100.0 - 1000 REMHEETESR
China Resources Snow Breweries US$55,800,000 Manufacturing and distribution

(Wenzhou) Co., Ltd.

#8085 (32 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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RZZE—NF+=ZA=+—H At 31 December 2019

REEA

Percentage of capital

BRTEERRA/BMEX AKEEYE FRTRE WELTRA

WEQH Issued ordinary share capital/ Attributable Held by the Held by E%£%
Subsidiaries registered capital to the Group Company subsidiaries Principal activities
RAEREERKL(E)
Incorporated in Chinese Mainland (Continued)
o EREREE(HH) ERAT AR #220,769,5007C 100.0 1000 RENEEREER
China Resources Snow Brewery RMB220,769,500 Manufacturing and distribution
(Gansu) Co., Ltd. of beer products
o EREREE(TIL)ERAF 58,020,000% 7T 100.0 1000 RENHEVEER
1S$58,020,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
v ERERRE(MR)ERAA 88,710,000% 7 100.0 1000 BEMHERBER
US$88,710,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
O ERERRE(ER)ERAF A K #282,040,0007C 9573 9573 BENEEREER
RMB282,040,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
o ERERRE(HE)ERAT A& #285,000,0007 100.0 1000 RENHEREER
RMB285,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
o ERERERE(ENERER] AR #180,000,0007 100.0 1000 REMHERBER
RMB180,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
v EREREE(TE)ERAL A& #400,000,0007 100.0 1000 RENEEREER
RMB400,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
O REEBNESREREERAR 30,000,000% 7T 100.0 1000 BEANHEREER
Tianjin Binhai New Area Snow US$30,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
Breweries Co., Ltd. of beer products
w EREREE(ZE)FRAT AR#20,103,3887C 100.0 1000 BEMHERBER
China Resources Snow Brewery RMB20,103,388 Manufacturing and distribution
(Yinyan) Co., Ltd. of beer products
v EREREE(EE)ERAF 26,666,667% 7T 100.0 1000 RENEEVEER
China Resources Snow Brewery US$26,666,667 Manufacturing and distribution

(Ningbo) Co., Ltd.

of beer products
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RZZE—NF+=ZA=+—H At 31 December 2019

REBE

Percentage of capital

BRTEERRA/ZMEX AKEEYE F2TRE WELIRA

WELR Issued ordinary share capital/ Attributable Held by the Held by E%£%
Subsidiaries registered capital to the Group Company  subsidiaries Principal activities
RAEAEERKL(E)
Incorporated in Chinese Mainland (Continued)
v EHEFERR(XE)BRAT 44,250,000% T 100.0 - 1000 REMHEEEESR
China Resources Snow Brewery US$44,250,000 Manufacturing and distribution
(Tianjin) Co., Ltd. of beer products
w ERERRETRER)ERAT AR #21,000,0007 100.0 - 1000 RENHEREER
China Resources Snow Brewery RMB21,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
(Hulunbeier) Co., Ltd. of beer products
o EREREEKE)ERLA 21,100,000 7 100.0 - 1000 REMHERBER
China Resources Snow Brewery US$21,100,000 Manufacturing and distribution
(Yilan) Co., Ltd. of beer products
v EREREREMNBRL AR 17,680,000 100.0 - 1000 ZENHEREER
China Resources Snow Brewery RMB17,680,000 Manufacturing and distribution
(Guizhou) Co., Ltd. of beer products
w ERBA(RE)HEERAR A& #10,000,0007 100.0 - 1000 RENHEREER
RMB100,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
* ERBRE(RE)BRAA 74,771,153% ¢ 100.0 - 1000 REMHEREER
US§74,771,153 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
» ERESH(LB)ERAF 6,000,000% T 100.0 - 1000 REMHEETESR
US$6,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
O ERBE(LE)ERAR AR #50,000,0007C 100.0 - 1000 RENHEREER
RMB500,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
w ERBE(EE)ERAF 125,000,000% 7T 100.0 - 1000 BEMHERBER
US$125,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
w ERBE(ENERAT 50,000,000% 7T 100.0 - 1000 REMHEETESR
US$50,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution

of beer products
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PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

RZZT—NF+=HA=+—H At 31 December 2019

o3

Notes:

—. EBFEAIR Z2EAHINFMEMNBLAAHBEERBEERIR M LRERINHAEALEREEAERTENZMBRARFE -
1. The Directors are of the opinion that a complete list of the particulars of all subsidiaries will be of excessive length and therefore the
above list contains only the particulars of the subsidiaries which materially affect the results or assets of the Group.

= BEEEAERN ZRARZTIBEEMER R IRAE M AE A -

2. Unless otherwise stated, the principal country of operation of each company is the same as its place of incorporation.

= EPEAMEMARZIZAR ERXEBARSEZHAEZTEER(WA) -

3. For companies incorporated in the Chinese Mainland, the English name is as shown in the Certificate of Approval of each company
(if any).

* BBERHE

* Equity Joint Venture

b HNE B

*x Wholly Foreign Owned Enterprise
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T AR Y B R4

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

“E-1F T E B+ C—ET-)\& ZB-AF
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
AREEEL AREEEL AREEERL AREGERT ARWEER
RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million
BREE Consolidated results
EEE Turnover 106,872 28,694 29,732 31,867 33,190
REEEEFBE)  Profit/(oss) attributable to
shareholders (4,118) 629 1,175 977 1,312
FREAKXRF /(FE) Basic earnings/(losses) per share RMB(1.56) RMB0.22 RMB0.36 RMB0.30 RMBO0.40
BRRE Dividend per share
el Interim - - RMB0.07 RMB0.09 RMB0.120
7 Special HK$12.30 - - - =
(RMB10.08)
RE Final - RMB0.08 RMB0.07 RMB0.03 RMB0.045
HK$12.30 RMBO0.08 RMBO.14 RMBO0.12 RMBO0.165
(RMB10.08)
GRBEARRK Consolidated balance sheet
HE&E Fixed assets 21,389 20,900 20,449 19,632 15,818
FREEE Right-of-use assets - - - - 3,595
BeE Goodwill 8,326 8,422 8,318 8,390 9,365
HEVAE Other intangible assets 194 171 147 124 384
RHKRE Long term investments 10 9 9 9 9
B HE Prepayments 158 89 81 240 13
EEREEE Deferred taxation assets 1,655 2,011 2,261 2,426 2,532
MBARFE Net current liabilities (7.714) (9,777) (9,809) (9,920) (10,081)
EeER Employment of capital 24,018 21,825 21,456 20,901 21,735
e Share capital 5,941 14,090 14,090 14,090 14,090
1 Reserves 4,115 3,511 4,331 4,758 5,580
BRRER Shareholders' funds 10,056 17,601 18,421 18,848 19,670
FEEGIRRER Non-controlling interests 9,264 66 64 62 57
REBER Long term loans 3,839 2,953 1,087 9 =
HEERE Lease liabilities - - - - 124
BEREEE Deferred taxation liabilities 258 m 255 399 678
HRHEE Other non-current liabilities 601 934 1,629 1,583 1,206
BERES Capital employed 24,018 21,825 21,456 20,901 21,735
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HITES
Executive Director
5 5 Jian Yi

EREBTERMITES

Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
=28  Hou Xiaohai

BERUMBERBTES

Chief Financial Officer and Executive Director

ZER  Lai Po Sing, Tomakin
EHITEE

Non-executive Directors

B4 Lai Ni Hium, Frank

Rudolf Gijsbert Servaas van den Brink
(RZFE-NFHAZ—+HEZF)
(appointed on 29 April 2019)

i AR 48 £ Tuen-Muk Lai Shu
(RZB-—NF+A+—HEZE)
(appointed on 11 July 2019)

BIAXRBTES

Independent Non-executive Directors

®AZE  Houang Tai Ninh

ZRE L Ka Cheung, Eric
BSEHE  Cheng Mo Chi, Moses
FRE B Bernard Charnwut Chan
MM Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon

2 ] B
CORPORATE INFORMATION

DNEIHE
Company Secretary

ZER  Lai Po Sing, Tomakin
% B AT

Auditor
mEFKBERANEBET
HEESEAD

iR T o B RE#x BUAD
PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

MR ESER EEHME

Registered Office and Principal Place of Business
BB BB EB2265 FE B KRE3ME

39/F, China Resources Building

26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
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INFORMATION FOR INVESTORS

DHEFEEE
Announcement of Annual Results
2020F3A20H
20 March 2020

EERBRKRBREEFRGZEZIRE

Last Day of Dealings in Shares with Entitlement
to Final Dividend

20205 5H25H

25 May 2020

EEHERPBFEELTE

Closure of Register Period
BEAREERRAFAGUNE LREZRRS M
20205 H18H £ 202045H22H
(EEMRBREEAN)

To determine the identity of members

who are entitled to attend and vote at the

annual general meeting:

18 May 2020 to 22 May 2020

(both days inclusive)

BERREEREZ I ANARE ZER
2020%5H28H

To ascertain the members’ entitlement to
the proposed final dividend:

28 May 2020

REIREMAAE

Payment of Final Dividend
202096 A12H sk Al 1%

On or about 12 June 2020

KRB ETE

Share Registrar
BEEREBRAF
BEAE2EKNERI183

& 05418

Tricor Standard Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

BKERER

Depositary

BNY Mellon Shareowner Services
P.O. Box 30170

College Station

Tx 77842-3170

BEAR®

Stock Codes

HEAMAE RS 00291
218 1291 HK

P& iE 4t 0291.HK
ADRA 5% - CRHKY
CUSIP: 16940R109
Hong Kong Stock Exchange: 00291
Bloomberg: 291 HK
Reuters: 0291.HK

ADR symbol: CRHKY
CUSIP: 16940R109

REEBRE
Investor Relations
B H : ir@cre.com.hk
Email : ir@cre.com.hk
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